
 

 

 

651 Commerce Drive,  

Roseville, CA 95678 

phone (916) 781-3636 

fax (916) 783-7693 

web www.ncpa.com 

Agenda 
Date:  April 21, 2016 

Subject: NCPA Commission Meeting 

Location: NCPA’s Roseville Office, 651 Commerce Drive, California 

Time:  9:30 am 

 
 
 
The Commission may take action on any of the items listed on this Agenda regardless of 
whether the matter appears on the Consent Calendar or is described as an Action Item, a Report 
or an Informational Item.  This agenda is supplemented by Staff Reports which are available to 
the public upon request.  Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54957.5, the following 
is the location at which the public can view Agendas and other public writings: NCPA Offices, 
651 Commerce Drive, Roseville, California, or www.ncpa.com.  
 
Time estimates are provided as part of the Commission’s effort to manage its time at 
Commission meetings.  Listed times are estimated only and are subject to change at any time, 
including while the meeting is in progress.  The Commission reserves the right to use more or 
less time on any item, to change the order of items, and/or to continue items to another meeting.  
Particular items may be heard before or after the time estimated on the agenda.  This may occur 
in order to best manage the time at a meeting or to adapt to the participation of the public. To 
ensure participation in a particular item, we suggest arriving at the beginning of the meeting and 
remaining until the item is called.  
 
Persons requiring accommodations in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act in 
order to attend or participate in this meeting are requested to contact the NCPA Secretary at 
916.781.3636 in advance of the meeting to arrange for such accommodations. 

 

1. Call Meeting to Order and Introductions (9:30 – 9:35 am) 
 

2. Approve minutes of the March 31, 2016, Regular Commission Meeting  (9:35 – 9:40 am) 
 
 

PUBLIC FORUM 

 
Any member of the public who desires to address the Commission on any item considered by 
the Commission at this meeting before or during the Commission’s consideration of that item 
shall so advise the Chair and shall thereupon be given an opportunity to do so.  Any member of 
the public who desires to address the Commission on any item within the jurisdiction of the 
Commission and not listed on the Agenda may do so at this time.  
 
  

http://www.ncpa.com/


 

    

 
NCPA Commission Meeting Agenda 

April 21, 2016 

 

 
 
OPEN SESSION 
 
 
REPORTS AND COMMITTEE UPDATES (9:40 – 10:15 am) 
 
3. General Manager’s Business Progress Report and Update 
 
4. Executive Committee  
 
5. Facilities Committee  

 
6. Finance Committee  

 
7. Legal Committee  

 
8. Legislative & Regulatory Affairs Committee 

 
9. Members’ Announcements & Meeting Reporting 
 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR (10:15 – 10:25 am) 
 
All items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be approved without 
discussion by a single roll call vote.  Any Commissioner or member of the public may remove 
any item from the Consent Calendar.  If an item is removed, it will be discussed separately 
following approval of the remainder of the Consent Calendar.  Prior to the roll call vote to 
approve the Consent Calendar, the Commissioners will be polled to determine if any Member 
wishes to abstain from one or more items on the Consent Calendar. 
 
10. NCPA’s Financials for the Month Ended March 31, 2016 – approval by all members. 

 
11. Treasurer’s Report for the Month Ended March 31, 2016 – accept by all members. 

 
12. Resolution 16-27, Approve a Multi-Task General Services Agreement with Groome 

Industrial Service Group, Inc. – approve resolution by all member authorizing the 
General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi-Task General Services Agreement 
with Groome Industrial Service Group, Inc. for inspection and maintenance services, with 
any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA General Counsel, 
which shall not exceed $850,000 over five years for use at all facilities owned and/or 
operated by NCPA, its members, by the Southern California Public Power Authority 
(“SCPPA”), or by SCPPA members. 
Fiscal Impact:  total cost of the agreement is not-to-exceed $850,000 over five years to be 
used out of NCPA approved budgets as services are rendered. Purchase orders 
referencing the terms and conditions of the Agreement will be issued following NCPA 
procurement policies and procedures 
 

13. Resolution 16-28, Approve a First Amendment to Multi-Task Consulting Services 
Agreement with Baskin Engineering, Inc. – approve resolution by all member authorizing 
the General Manager or his designee to enter into a First Amendment to the existing five year 
Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with Baskin Engineering, Inc. for protection relay 



 

    

 
NCPA Commission Meeting Agenda 

April 21, 2016 

 

upgrades and electrical engineering support, increasing the not to exceed amount from 
$225,000 to $750,000 and revising various provisions to expand the scope of work to include 
all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its members, Southern California Public Power 
Authority (SCPPA), or by SCPPA members. 
Fiscal Impact: upon execution, the total cost of the agreement is not-to-exceed $750,000 
over five years to be used out of NCPA approved budgets as services are rendered.  
Purchase orders referencing the terms and conditions of the Agreement will be issued 
following NCPA procurement policies and procedures. 

 

14. Resolution 16-29, Approve a Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement with Nor-Cal 
Controls ES, Inc. – approve resolution by all members authorizing the General Manager or 
his designee to enter into a Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement with Nor-Cal 
Controls ES, Inc. which shall not exceed $350,000 over five years for engineering and plant 
control systems technical support services for use at all facilities owned and/or operated by 
NCPA, its members, by the Southern California Public Power Authority (“SCPPA”), or by 
SCPPA members, with any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the 
NCPA General Counsel. 
Fiscal Impact:  total cost of the agreement is not-to-exceed $350,000 over five years to be 
used out of NCPA approved budgets as services are rendered. Purchase orders referencing 
the terms and conditions of the Agreement will be issued following NCPA procurement 
policies and procedures. 

 

15. Resolution 16-30, Approve a Multi-Task General Services Agreement with Syblon Ried 
– approve resolution by all members authorizing the General Manager or his designee to 
enter into a Multi-Task General Services Agreement with Syblon Reid for an amount not-to-
exceed $5,000,000 over a five-year period for routine maintenance on structures and 
systems including earthwork maintenance; asphalt patch paving maintenance; minor road 
maintenance; utility easement maintenance; concrete patching maintenance; and tunnel 
maintenance, with any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA 
General Counsel. 
Fiscal Impact:  total cost of the agreement will not exceed $5,000,000 over the five year 
term to be used out of NCPA approved budgets as services are rendered.  Purchase orders 
referencing the terms and conditions of the Agreement will be issued following NPCA 
procurement policies and procedures. 

 

16. Resolution 16-31, Approve a Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement with 
Schweitzer Engineering Laboratories, Inc. – approve resolution by all members  
authorizing the General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi-Task Professional 
Services Agreement with Schweitzer Engineering Laboratories, Inc. for protective relay and 
automation design services which shall not exceed $1,000,000 over five years for use at all 
facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its members, by the Southern California Public 
Power Authority (“SCPPA”), or by SCPPA members, with any non-substantial changes 
recommended and approved by the NCPA General Counsel. 
Fiscal Impact:  total cost of the agreement is not-to-exceed $1,000,000 over five years to be 
used out of NCPA approved budgets as services are rendered. Purchase orders referencing 
the terms and conditions of the Agreement will be issued following NCPA procurement 
policies and procedures. 

 

17. Resolution 16-32, Approval of Advisory Services Under the Lodi Single Member 
Services Agreement – adopt resolution by all members approving Attachment A that will be 
attached to and made part of the Single Member Services Agreement for Special 
Transactions by and between Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) and the City of Lodi 



 

    

 
NCPA Commission Meeting Agenda 

April 21, 2016 

 

(“Lodi”), under which NCPA will provide Advisory Services on behalf of Lodi acting as its 
agent regarding management of the RE Astoria 2 PPA and Buyers Joint Project Agreement.  
NCPA staff also recommends that the Commission authorize the General Manager of NCPA 
to execute the Attachment A, on behalf of NCPA, including any non-substantive modifications 
approved by NCPA’s General Counsel. 
Fiscal Impact:  NCPA shall invoice Lodi for all costs associated with work performed on 
behalf of Lodi as described herein on a time and materials basis through the All Resources 
Bill. 
 

18. Resolution 16-35, Approve Revisions to NCPA’s Personnel Policy and Procedure 
Manuel – adopt resolution by all members approving the revisions to NCPA’s Policy and 
Procedure Manual language to bring it into alignment with existing state and federal labor 
laws.  

Fiscal Impact: there is no fiscal impact associated with this change. 

 
 

Consent Items pulled for discussion:        
 

 
DISCUSSION / ACTION ITEMS (10:25 – 11:00 am) 
 

 
19. Resolution 16-34, Approve the Lodi Energy Center May Outage and Associated Cost 

Increase and Authorizing the General Manager of His Designee to Execute 
Agreements and Purchase Orders to Carry Out the Work – adopt resolution by all 
members approving the Lodi Energy Center May outage and associated cost increase 
from $1,032,390 to not to exceed $1,460,565, due to additional work needed to service the 
generator bearing and inlet guide vanes on the gas turbine; and authorizing the NCPA 
General Manager or his designee to execute agreements and issue purchase orders 
necessary to carry out this work. 
Fiscal Impact: total cost of the May outage project is $1,460,565 to be funded as follows: 
Operating Reserves (as approved from February belly band/outage work       $   444,000 
Routine O&M Budget                                                                                   $1,016,565 
Total May Outage Cost                                                                                   $1,460,565   
 

20. Resolution 16-26, Proposed Annual Budget for Fiscal Year 2017 – approve resolution 
by all member adopting the FY 2017 Annual Budget.   
Fiscal Impact: total proposed annual budget cost for FY 2017 is approximately $328.5 
million, which represents an increase of 3.5 million or 1.1% over the FY 2016 budget. See 
the Executive Summary section of the budget document for the analysis of the overall 
budget. Allocation of the FY 2017 NCPA Budget between members and LEC participants 
are based on participation levels in NCPA programs and projects and the approved cost 
allocations discussed above.  Final funding allocation for each member is attached to this 
staff report and shown on page 184 of the budget document. 
 

21. Resolution 16-33, NCPA 2016-2021 Strategic Plan – adopt resolution by all members 
approving the NCPA 2016-2021 Strategic Plan.   
Fiscal Impact:  there is no fiscal impact from the Strategic Plan, however certain goals 
and initiatives associated with attaining the Strategic Plan may have an impact.  The fiscal 
impacts for the goals that are not included in the FY 2016/17 NCPA budget will be 
explained and approval will be obtained before they are undertaken. 
 



 

    

 
NCPA Commission Meeting Agenda 

April 21, 2016 

 

 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS  (11:00 – 11:10 am) 

 
22. Hydrology Report – update and presentation. 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION (11:10 – 11:30 am) 

 
23. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION Initiation pursuant 

to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) Government Code Section 54956.9:  One (1) case. 
 

24. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – Existing litigation pursuant to Government Code 
Section 54956.9(d)(1):  Name of case:  Northern California Power Agency, City of Redding, 
City of Roseville, and City of Santa Clara v. the United States, Court of Federal Claims no. 
14-817C. 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT  
 























 

 

 

651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, CA 95678 

phone (916) 781-3636 
fax (916) 783-7693 
web www.ncpa.com 

 

Minutes 

To:  NCPA Facilities Committee 

From:  Trisha Hubbard 

Subject:  March 30, 2016, Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

1. Call meeting to order & Roll Call - The meeting was called to order by Committee Chair Alan 
Hanger at 9:06am.  A sign-in sheet was passed around.  Attending via teleconference and/or 
on-line presentation were Chris Hutchinson (Palo Alto), Kathleen Hughes, Steve Hance, and 
Peter Virasak (Santa Clara), Basil Wong (Port of Oakland), Mike Brozo (Plumas-Sierra), and 
Mark Sorensen (Biggs) as a non-voting member.  Those attending in person are listed on the 
attached Attendee Sign-in Sheet.  Committee Representatives from BART, Gridley, Healdsburg, 
TID, and Ukiah were absent.  A quorum of the Committee was established at 9:20am. 

 
 PUBLIC FORUM 
No public comment. 
 

2. Approve minutes from the March 2nd and March 16th Facilities Committee meetings.  A 
motion was made by Shannon McCann and seconded by Melissa Cadek recommending 
approval of the March 2nd and March 16th Facilities Committee meeting minutes.  A vote was 
taken by roll call:  
March 2nd Meeting Minutes: YES = Alameda, Lodi, Palo Alto, Plumas-Sierra, Port of Oakland, 
Roseville and Santa Clara.  ABSTAIN = Lompoc.   
March 16th Meeting Minutes: YES = Alameda, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Plumas-Sierra, Port of 
Oakland, Roseville, and Santa Clara. The motion passed 
 

3. All Generation Services Facilities, Members, SCPPA & SCPPA Members – Baskin 
Engineering, Inc. First Amendment. - Staff provided information regarding the 
recommendation to approve the first amendment to the existing five year Multi-Task Consulting 
Services Agreement with Baskin Engineering, Inc. for consulting services for protection relay 
upgrades and electrical engineering support increasing the not-to-exceed amount from 
$225,000 to $750,000 and revising various provisions to expand the scope of work to include all 
facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA Members.  The 
term of this agreement will not change, which is set to expire in 2019 
 
Motion: A motion was made by Melissa Cadek and seconded by Ron Stassi recommending 
Commission approval of a first amendment to the existing five year Multi-Task Consulting 
Services Agreement with Baskin Engineering Inc. for protection relay upgrades and electrical 
engineering support, increasing the not-to-exceed amount from $225,000 to $750,000 and 
revising various provisions to expand the scope of work to include all facilities owned and/or 
operated by NCPA, its members, SCPPA or by SCPPA members.  A vote was taken by roll call: 
YES = Alameda, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Plumas-Sierra, Roseville and Santa Clara.  ABSTAIN 
= Port of Oakland. The motion passed. 
 



 

March 30, 2016 Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 2 

4. All Generation Services Facilities, Members, SCPPA & SCPPA Members – Groome 
Industrial Service Group, Inc. – Staff provided information regarding the recommendation to 
approve a five year Multi-Task General Services Agreement with Groome Industrial Service 
Group, Inc. for an amount not to exceed $850,000 for inspection and maintenance services for 
use at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA 
Members.   
 
Motion: A motion was made by Shannon McCann and seconded by Steve Hance 
recommending Commission approval of a multi-task general services agreement with Groome 
Industrial Service Group, Inc. for inspection and maintenance services for a not-to-exceed 
amount of $850,000 over five years for use at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its 
members, SCPPA or by SCPPA members.  A vote was taken by roll call: YES = Alameda, Lodi, 
Lompoc, Palo Alto, Plumas-Sierra, Roseville and Santa Clara.  ABSTAIN = Port of Oakland. 
The motion passed. 
 

5. All Generation Services Facilities, Members, SCPPA & SCPPA Members – Nor-Cal 
Controls ES, Inc. – Staff provided information regarding the recommendation to approve a five 
year Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement with Nor-Cal Controls ES, Inc. for an amount 
not to exceed $350,000 for engineering and technical support services on various plant control 
systems for use at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its Members, SCPPA, and 
SCPPA Members. 
 
Motion: A motion was made by Melissa Cadek and seconded by Shannon McCann 
recommending Commission approval of the Multi-task Professional Services Agreement with 
Nor-Cal Controls ES, Inc. which shall not exceed $350,000 for engineering and technical 
support services for use at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its members, SCPPA, 
and SCPPA members.  A vote was taken by roll call: YES = Alameda, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, 
Plumas-Sierra, Roseville, and Santa Clara.  ABSTAIN = Port of Oakland.  The motion passed. 
 

6. All Generation Services Facilities, Members, SCPPA & SCPPA Members – Syblon Reid, 
Inc. – Staff provided information regarding the recommendation to approve a five-year Multi-
Task General Services Agreement with Syblon Reid, Inc. for an amount not to exceed 
$5,000,000 for routine maintenance on structures and systems including earthwork grading and 
drainage, asphalt placement and patch paving, minor road/drainage maintenance, utility 
easement maintenance, dam and embankment maintenance, concrete patching and 
maintenance, and tunnel maintenance for use at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, 
its Members, SCPPA and SCPPA members.   
 
Motion: a motion was made by Ron Stassi and seconded by Shannon McCann recommending 
approval of this multi-task general services agreement with Syblon Reid which shall not exceed 
$5,000,000 over five years for routine maintenance on structures and systems for use at all 
facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, its members, SCPPA and SCPPA members.  A vote 
was taken by roll call: YES = Alameda, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Plumas-Sierra, Roseville, and 
Santa Clara.  ABSTAIN = Port of Oakland.  The motion passed.   
 

7. All Generation Services Facilities, Members, SCPPA & SCPPA Members – Schweitzer 
Engineering Laboratories, Inc. - Staff provided information regarding the recommendation for 
Commission approval of a five year Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement with 
Schweitzer Engineering Laboratories, Inc. for an amount not to exceed $1,000,000 for 
protective relay and automation design, installation, testing and commissioning services for use 
at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, is Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA Members.    

  



 

March 30, 2016 Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 3 

Motion:  A motion was made by Basil Wong and seconded by Steve Hance recommending 
Commission approval of a multi-task professional services agreement with Schweitzer 
Engineering for an amount which shall not exceed $1,000,000 over five years for protective 
relay and automation design services for use at all facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, 
its members, SCPPA, and SCPPA members.  A vote was taken by roll call: YES = Alameda, 
Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Plumas-Sierra, Port of Oakland, Roseville, and Santa Clara.  The 
motion passed.  
 

8. Shasta Lake Power Management – The City of Shasta Lake has expressed interest in 
becoming a member of NCPA.  Their plans are to join the Legislative and Regulatory Program 
and requested an estimate for the cost of also participating in Power Management and 
Administrative Services.  Staff developed an estimate of the cost to provide Power Management 
and Administrative Services based on the Nexant Model and presented those results.  Staff has 
provided this information to Shasta Lake for their consideration and decision making purposes. 
 

9. Planning and Operations Update – The Hydro Project flushing flows are going forward as 
planned.  As of today, 54 acre-feet have been released with 6 acre-feet to go which staff 
believes could quite possibly be accomplished with natural flows.   
 
Service Offers Update:  
City of Shasta Lake - As mentioned earlier, a cost estimate has been submitted to the City of 
Shasta Lake.   
PCWA Services Agreement - PCWA Services Agreement will be discussed in detail in agenda 
item 11. 
City of Roseville - There has been no word yet on the results of the proposal submitted  
Marin Clean Energy - There has been no word yet on the results of the proposal submitted 
Placer County CCA - Recently the Agency was contacted by Placer County officials expressing 
an interest in possibly forming a Community Choice Aggregation (CCA).  NCPA is not equipped 
to help them form this CCA, however, we could possibly provide Power Management Services 
sometime in the future.  A meeting has been set up with Placer County staff to discuss their 
options.  This is completely independent from the Placer County Water Agency deal. 

 
10. Hydro Operating Procedures – This item was pulled from the Agenda.  No discussion. 

 
11. PCWA Services Agreement – Staff is currently negotiating an agreement with Placer County 

Water Agency (PCWA) under which NCPA may supply services.  PCWA would like to seek 
approval of this agreement with their governing board.  Staff presented the draft agreement and 
discussed its key concepts and detailed the services to be provided to PCWA.  The term of this 
Agreement would be three years with an automatic two year extension unless the Agreement is 
terminated by either Party.  Termination will require a one year notice.  Compensation amounts 
were presented and discussed.  NCPA staff will continue to negotiate a final draft agreement 
with PCWA.  When a final draft is developed, the agreement will be brought back to the 
Facilities Committee for review and to seek a recommendation of Commission approval.  Staff 
would like to have the agreement ready for Commission approval in May.   

 
12. Lodi Single Member Services Agreement - Staff provided information regarding the 

recommendation for Commission approval of the Lodi Single Member Services Agreement 
(SMSA) Advisory Services Attachment A, under which NCPA may act on their behalf as its 
Agent regarding management of the RE Astoria 2 PPA and Buyers Joint Project Agreement.  
Staff discussed in detail the regular activities to be performed acting as Lodi’s agent.  All costs 
associated with the work to be performed on Lodi’s behalf will be invoiced on a time and 
materials basis.  
 

  



 

March 30, 2016 Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 4 

 
Motion: A motion was made by Shannon McCann and seconded by Ron Stassi recommending 
Commission approval of the Lodi SMSA Advisory Services Attachment A allowing NCPA to act 
on behalf of the City of Lodi regarding management of the RE Astoria 2 PPA and Buyers Joint 
Project Agreement.  A vote was taken by roll call: YES = Alameda, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, 
Plumas-Sierra, Port of Oakland, Roseville, and Santa Clara. The motion passed. 

 
13. Transmission Access Charge Policy Discussion – Staff provided background and 

information regarding SB350 – Article 5.5 Transformation of ISO.  The CAISO has distributed a 
Regional Integration Timeline.  The focus during today’s meeting is on the CAISO Transmission 
Access Charge (TAC) stakeholder initiative.  Policy direction is needed to shape and respond to 
2016 Q4 filings (via NCPA or other entities).  Staff recognized the difficulty in reaching an 
Agency wide position consensus.  Staff pointed out that the main driver of this issue is that 
Pacificorp is evaluating full participation in an expanded CAISO, necessitating that the CAISO 
develop a method for allocating TAC and Transmission Planning across a broader regional 
footprint. 
 
CAISO’s draft proposal separates existing facilities and new facilities.  Existing facilities will be a 
sub-region and will have a sub-regional rate.  Only facilities eligible for regional cost allocation 
will be “new regional facilities”.   
 
Staff’s concerns with the CAISO proposal include: 
• CAISO will have limited need for “new facilities” 
• Some part of “existing facilities” will clearly benefit others in an expanded regional footprint 
• California has significant exposure to regionalized “new facility” cost risk above and beyond 

known projects. 
• New sub-regions will likely face similar outcomes and will try to spread cost regionally. 
• The number of “new projects” within the WECC interconnect 
• Does not go far enough to provide cost certainty for transactions across 38 BAAs 
• Potential for innumerable special deals with each sub-region that ultimately decides to 

become a PTO. 
• Fails to account for extensive transmission planning efforts that have taken place, BAA 

choices in deciding to join a particular Order 1000 Planning Region 
 
NCPA is participating in calls amongst the municipal entities.  These entities are not all aligned 
in their positions.  There are differences of opinion on license plate vs. postage stamp rate 
approach.  Positions have been developed without the benefit of detailed analytics to support 
positions.   
 
NCPA’s current proposal: 
• Existing Facilities be charged based on license plate with no allocation between sub-

regions 
• New Facilities be charged based on license plate, except for Public Policy Projects, with no 

allocation between sub-regions.  Sub-regions should be defined as current Order 1000 
regions.   

Staff discussed and explained the rationale for NCPA’s proposal. 
 

BAMx current proposal: 
• Existing Facilities be charged based on postage stamp with transition 
• New Facilities be benefit based with some spreading of costs to new sub-regions 
• Public Policy Facilities, new and existing, to be paid by beneficiary. 

  



 

March 30, 2016 Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 5 

 
Staff also presented and discussed CMUA’s current proposal: 
• Generally license plate with some spreading of existing costs to new sub-regions. 
• In regards to New Facilities they are willing to consider several concepts as part of an 

augmented stake holder process 
• Public Policy Facilities, supports the concepts embodied in BAMx proposal in that new and 

existing should be paid by beneficiary. 
 
CMUA is working on analytics to support more informed decision making.  The Facilities Committee 
was asked what specific studies are needed or desired; if there is enough information available to 
begin staking out an Agency position, if so, what should that position be; and what their preferences 
are in regards to NCPA vs BAMx vs CMUA approaches. 
 
Roseville – need to discuss in-house prior to commenting on their position. 
Lodi – need to begin discussions and coordinating with their transmission consulting firm  
Lompoc- not yet involved enough to comment. 
Truckee – agrees with NCPA’s current proposal 
Santa Clara – need to discuss in-house with staff that has been more involved with this issue. 
Port of Oakland – defers to their management staff to comment 
Plumas-Sierra – views the license plate rates more favorably, however, need to become more 
knowledgeable on this issue. 
Alameda – requested a glossary of terms. 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
14. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION -  Initiation of litigation 

pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Government Code Section 54956.9: two cases 
 
REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 
Upon return to open session, Assistant General Counsel Ruthann Ziegler reported there was no 
reportable action on Closed Session Item 14. 
 

15. Schedule next meeting date – the next regular Facilities Committee meeting is scheduled for 
May 4th.   
 

UADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:50 pm. 



























































































































































































































































































































































PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 

THE MANUAL       400    

400. PURPOSE ........................................................................................... 400-1 

 400.1 Applicability ............................................................................ 400-1 

 400.1.1 Administration ........................................................................ 400-1 

 400.2  Agency Rights and Responsibilities ....................................... 400-1 

401.  GENERAL DEFINITIONS ..................................................................  401-1 

402. CLASSIFICATIONS ............................................................................ 402-1 

 402.1 Appointment ........................................................................... 402-4 

 402.2 Probationary Period ............................................................... 402-5 

 402.3 Employment of Relatives ....................................................... 402-5 

 402.4 Pre-Placement and Annual Physical Examinations ............... 402-6 

 402.5 Personnel Files ...................................................................... 402-7 

 402.6 Reference Checks ................................................................. 402-7 

403. COMPENSATION ............................................................................... 403-1 

 403.1 Compensation Plan ............................................................... 403-1 

 403.2 Salary Ranges ....................................................................... 403-1 

 403.3 Salary Increase Following Completion of Probation .............. 403-1 

 403.4 Annual Structure Adjustment ................................................. 403-1 

 403.5 Performance Pay ................................................................... 403-1 

 403.6 Wages.................................................................................... 403-1 

 403.7 Temporary Upgrade ............................................................... 403-2 

 403.8 Transportation ........................................................................ 403-2 

 403.9 Employee Salary Authorization .............................................. 403-3 

 403.10 Overtime Compensation ........................................................ 403-3 

 403.11 Additional Leave .................................................................... 403-4 

 403.12 Reimbursement for Relocation Expenses .............................. 403-4 

 403.13 Performance Evaluation ........................................................ 403-4 

404. WORK HOURS ................................................................................... 404-1 

 404.1 Employee Work Hours ........................................................... 404-1 

 404.2 Alternative Work Week (4-10 and 9-80 Work Schedules) ...... 404-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Page 

 404.3 Flex Time ............................................................................... 404-1 

 404.4 Attendance Standards ........................................................... 404-2 

 404.5 Resignation ............................................................................ 404-2 

 404.6 Absence Without Notice ........................................................ 404-2 

 404.7 Exit Interview ......................................................................... 404-2 

405. BENEFITS .......................................................................................... 405-1 

 405.1 Medical Plans ........................................................................ 405-1 

 405.2 Dental Insurance .................................................................... 405-1 

 405.3 Short (STD) and Long-Term Disability Insurance (LTD) ........ 405-1 

 405.4 State Disability Insurance (SDI) ............................................. 405-2 

 405.5 Retirement Plan ..................................................................... 405-2 

 405.6 Deferred Compensation Plan ................................................. 405-2 

 405.7 Retirement Health Insurance ................................................. 405-3 

 405.8 Basic Life Insurance .............................................................. 405-4 

 405.9 Vision Care ............................................................................ 405-4 

 405.10 Educational Leave and Tuition Reimbursement .................... 405-4 

 405.11 Flexible Spending Accounts (FSAs) ...................................... 405-4 

 405.12 Long-Term Care Insurance .................................................... 405-5 

 405.13 Employee Assistance Plan .................................................... 405-5 

406. LEAVES OF ABSENCE ..................................................................... 406-1 

 406.1 Holidays ................................................................................. 406-1 

 406.2 Floating Holidays ................................................................... 406-1 

 406.3 Vacation Leave ...................................................................... 406-1 

 406.4 Sick Leave ............................................................................. 406-2 

 406.4.1  Sick Leave for Casual and Part-time Employees ................... 406-3 

 406.5 Medical Leave ........................................................................ 406-4 

 406.6 Family and Medical Leave Under the Family and Medical  
             Leave Act (FMLA) and California Family Rights Act (CFRA) . 406-5 

 406.6.1 Military Caregiver Leave (FMLA) ......................................... 406-11 

  



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

 406.62 Qualifying Exigency Leave Relating to a Family Member’s  
              Military Service .................................................................... 406-12 

 406.63 Leave During Family Member’s Military Leave .................... 406-14 

 406.7 Bereavement Leave ............................................................. 406-15 

 406.8 Jury Duty and Subpoena ..................................................... 406-16 

 406.9 Military Leave ....................................................................... 406-16 

 406.10 Time Off to Vote ................................................................... 406-17 

 406.11 Authorized Leave of Absence .............................................. 406-17 

 406.12 Pregnancy Disability Leave .................................................. 406-17 

 406.13 Parents’ Leave to Participate in School Activities ................ 406-18 

 406.14 Administrative Leave ........................................................... 406-18 

 406.15 Organ or Bone Marrow Donation Leave .............................. 406-18 

 406.16 Leave for Duties or Training as A Volunteer Firefighter,  
             Reserve Peace Officer, or Emergency Rescue Personnel ... 406-19 

 406.17 Victim of Domestic Violence Leave ...................................... 406-19 

 406.18 Victim of Crime Leave .......................................................... 406-19 

407. EMPLOYEE CONDUCT ..................................................................... 407-1 

 407.1 Code of Ethics ....................................................................... 407-1 

 407.2 Confidentiality of Information ................................................. 407-1 

 407.3 Conflict of Interest and Outside Employment ......................... 407-1 

 407.4 Gifts ....................................................................................... 407-2 

 407.5 Statement of Economic Interest ............................................. 407-2 

 407.6 Dress Code ............................................................................ 407-2 

 407.7 Drug-Free Workplace Policy .................................................. 407-3 

 407.8 Political Activities Policy ......................................................... 407-3 

 407.9 Grievances ............................................................................. 407-3 

 407.10 Employee Solicitation, Organization and Distribution ............ 407-4 

408. SAFETY .............................................................................................. 408-1 

 408.1 Workers’ Compensation ........................................................ 408-1  



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

 408.2 Light Duty Work ..................................................................... 408-2 

 408.3 Smoking Policy ...................................................................... 408-2 

 408.4 Workplace Violence ............................................................... 408-3 

 408.5 Communicable Disease Control ............................................ 408-3 

409. NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT .................................. 409-1 

 409.1 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy ................................... 409-1 

 409.2 Definitions .............................................................................. 409-2 

 409.3 Sexual Harassment ............................................................... 409-3 

 409.4 Accommodation for Employees with Disabilities .................... 409-5 

410. Intentionally Left Blank ........................................................................ 410-1 

411. EMPLOYMENT RETENTION: SEVERANCE BENEFITS FOR 
INVOLUNTARY SEPARATION .......................................................... 411-1 

412. Intentionally Left Blank ........................................................................ 412-1 

413. Intentionally Left Blank ........................................................................ 413-1 

414. Intentionally Left Blank ........................................................................ 414-1 

415. DISCIPLINE POLICY .......................................................................... 415-1 

 415.11 Disciplinary Actions ................................................................ 415-1 

 

P402.1   TEMPORARY/CASUAL STAFF HIRING PROCEDURE   P402.1-1 

P403.10  OVERTIME COMPENSATION (COMP. TIME OFF)       
               PROCEDURE………………………………………………P403.10-1 

P403.11   CALL OUT PROCEDURE FOR EXEMPT STAFF…               P403.11-1 

P403.12 REIMBURSEMENT FOR RELOCATION EXPENSES P403.12-1 

P404.3 FLEX-TIME/WORKING FROM HOME……………………….. …P404.3-1 

P404.5  RESIGNATION-RETIREMENT PROCEDURE……………… …P404.5-1 

P405.10   TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PROCEDURE.  P405.10-1 

P406.3 REQUEST FOR PAYMENT OF ACCRUED VACATION….…..P406.3-1 

P406.4 AVAILABILITY TO WORK   .P406.4-1 

P406.12   PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE PROCEDURE    P406.12-1 

  



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

 

P407.7     DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE    
                PROCEDURE ............................................................... P407.7-1 

P407.9     NON-UNION STAFF GRIEVANCE FORM .............................. P407.9-1 

P407.10   SERVICE RECOGNITION PROCEDURE ............................. P407.10-1 

P407.11   SUGGESTION AND AWARD PROCEDURE ........................ P407.11-1 

 

P408.1     WORK INCURRED INJURY/ILLNESS MEDICAL  
                APPOINTMENT ............................................................ P408.1-1 

P408.4     WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION PROCEDURE....... P408.4-1 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

THE MANUAL 

This manual is designed to provide employees with top level policies and guidance for making 
decisions that are necessary to carry out the day-to-day business of the Agency.  These 
Personnel Policies should not be interpreted as forming an express or implied contract or 
promise that the policies discussed will be applied in every case.  

It is intended to achieve uniform policy interpretation throughout the Agency while allowing, 
wherever possible, managers and employees reasonable freedom to carry out their duties and 
responsibilities.  The Manual is a supplement to good managerial judgment and allows for 
individual discretion by managers and supervisors in the good faith exercise of their 
responsibilities.  It is anticipated that policy will generally be followed, although it is recognized 
that a policy is subject to exception if approval is granted from the General Manager or his 
delegate.   

Management retains the unilateral right to alter, amend, or modify these policies at any time 
within its sole discretion.  With respect to a policy change affecting wages, hours, or other terms 
and conditions of employment falling within Union’s scope of representation, Management shall 
provide Union with notice of such a change and the opportunity to meet and confer regarding 
it.   

Manual Organization  

The manual is organized so that individual sections can be replaced as changes are approved and 
published.  Policies are included in the body of the document.  Detailed procedures where 
appropriate are included in the Personnel Procedures section.  

 
  

400 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 400. PURPOSE 

The purpose of this manual is to provide guidance and direction for the management of Agency 
personnel in a manner that will be mutually beneficial for the Agency and the employees. 

400.1 Applicability  

This manual addresses Agency personnel issues, including but not limited to, human resources 
costs and related expenses incurred by Agency, employees’ hours of work, salaries and wages, 
overtime payments, leave privileges, retirement, travel, transportation, and related human 
resources matters for all employees.  

The Commission and/or the General Manager are empowered to make exceptions to the 
provisions of the policies expressed in this manual in individual instances when such exceptions 
are in the best interest of Agency operations.  The General Manager is responsible for detailed 
procedures where applicable.  These policies contained in this manual are subject to change at 
any time with notice to the unions in accordance with the law.  

The policies contained in this manual apply to all employees of the Agency.  If there is a conflict 
in the guidance provided by these Policies and Procedures and the language provided in the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) of any recognized bargaining unit, under Government 
Code Section 3500, such MOU terms shall be controlling.  

400.1.1 Administration  

Purpose:  To establish Agency policies and delegate to the General Manager authority for their 
administration and implementation.  

Administration of Policies  

The General Manager shall be responsible for the administration of the policies expressed in this 
manual.  The Human Resources Manager is delegated the authority to administer these policies 
and develop procedures.  

These policies, and any revision thereof, will be distributed to all NCPA officers and employees 
in either electronic or hard copy form.  

 

400.2 Agency Rights and Responsibilities  

The Agency, Commission, and such persons as the Commission may authorize, have the 
exclusive right and responsibility in accordance with applicable laws and regulations to take 
certain actions including, but not limited, to the following:  

 Determining the Agency purpose, budget and organization.  

 Defining the duties assigned to Agency positions and classifications.  

 Directing employees in the performance of their duties.  

400-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 Hiring, promoting, transferring, classifying and assigning employees.  

 Disciplining or dismissing employees.  

 Determining and effectuating methods of implementing the foregoing.  

  

400-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

401. GENERAL DEFINITIONS 

Definitions of general terms used throughout the manual:  

Agency 
 
Northern California Power Agency (NCPA), a joint powers agency formed under the laws of 
the State of California. 

Appointing Authority  

The Commission, General Manager or Assistant General Manager lawfully authorized to make 
appointments or to remove persons from positions in NCPA service, or persons designated by 
such appointing authority to perform those duties that legally may be delegated.   

“At Will” Employees  

“At Will” employees serve at the pleasure of the Appointing Authority and may be terminated 
without cause at any time.  “At Will” employees include, but are not limited to, employees 
serving at the pleasure of the Commission or General Manager, Probationary employees, 
Provisional, Limited-term, Part-time, and Casual employees or any employee whose contract for 
employment makes him or her an at-will employee.  Such employees have no right of appeal 
except as provided by law, and are not covered under Policy 411 Employee Retention: 
Severance Benefits for Involuntary Separation.    

“At-Will” employees who are full-time and not classified as casual, part-time shall acquire 
service and rights with respect to leave of absence, sick leave, holidays, vacation, benefit 
programs, etc.  

Assistant General Manager  

An executive manager, reporting directly to the General Manager, assigned responsibility for a 
major department of the Agency.  

Casual Employee  

A casual employee receives only salary.  No fringe benefits are paid a casual employee however; 
casual employees shall be afforded Sick Leave in accordance with the California “Healthy 
Families, Healthy Workplace Act”.  In represented classes a casual employee is usually hired for 
six months or less to fill the immediate needs of the Agency. 

Classic Member  

NCPA employees hired prior to January 1, 2013 and who were participating in the California 
Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) prior to January 1, 2013. 

Commission   

The NCPA governing body.  

401-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Continuous Service  

Agency employment in a regular position that has not been interrupted by resignation, 
discharge, layoff or retirement. 

Demotion  
 
A change to the classification of a position or the transfer of an employee that results in an 
employee being assigned to a lower salary range that may result in a reduction in an employee’s 
compensation.  

 
Domestic Partner  

Domestic partners must be registered with the State of California and meet the eligibility 
requirements set forth in California Family Code Section 297.  

Employee  

A person who is occupying a position (as defined below) in the Agency service or who is on an 
authorized leave of absence from such position.  

Employment Date  

The date on which a regular employee began a period of continuous service with the Agency.  

Limited Term Employee  

A temporary employee in a position established for a set term of employment on a full-time or 
part-time basis.  Employees in these positions accrue all benefits of a regular full-time or part-
time employee but are not regular employees and are not eligible for severance benefits. 

 Manager  

A person who heads a recognized division within one of the major departments of the Agency.  

New Member 

Under the Public Employee’s Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA) a new member includes:  

1) a new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after January 
1,2013 and who has no prior membership in any other California public retirement system, 2) a 
new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after January 1, 2013 
and who is not eligible for reciprocity with another California public retirement system or 3) a 
member who established CalPERS membership prior to January 1, 2013 and who is hired by a 
different CalPERS employer after January 1, 2013, after a break in service of greater than six 
months.  

401-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Part-Time Employee  

An employee in a position established in the budget on a year-round basis requiring work on a 
regular schedule of less than 30 hours per week or less than 60 hours in a pay period. A part-
time employee does not generally acquire service and rights with respect to leave of absence, 
holidays, sick, vacation leave, benefit programs or similar rights.  However; part-time employees 
shall be afforded Sick Leave in accordance with the California “Healthy Families, Healthy 
Workplace Act”.  Employees who work 1,000 hours or more per fiscal year may become eligible 
for retirement benefits through CalPERS.  

Position  

A group of current duties and responsibilities assigned a budget authorization by the 
Commission requiring the on-going full-time or part-time services of one individual employee. 

Probationary Period  

The period following the date of appointment in each authorized regular position during which 
the employee serves at the will or the pleasure of the Appointing Authority and may be 
discharged without prior notice, without cause, and without right of appeal.  

Promotion  

The movement of an employee from one classification to another classification having a higher 
maximum rate of pay of at least 5%.  

 
Provisional Employee  

A regular employee transferred or promoted to a new classification and serving a trial period to 
determine suitability for the position.  The trial period shall be predetermined by the appointing 
authority.  If during the trial period the employee is determined by the appointing authority to 
not be suitable to the position the employee shall be returned to the classification from which 
he/she was promoted or transferred if such position is available.  

Regular Employee  

A regular employee is any employee who has satisfactorily completed a probation period and is 
hired for continuous service to exceed six months for which a budget authorization exists.  
Regular employees include full-time employees, shift employees, and employees who work 30 
hours per week or more.  A regular employee shall acquire service and rights with respect to 
leave of absence, holidays, sick leave, vacation, benefit programs or similar rights and privileges.  

Shift Employee  

Employees whose eight, nine, ten or twelve-hour work period regularly scheduled and regularly 
rotated to accomplish twenty-four hour coverage, are designated as shift workers.  

401-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Non-shift employees are those employees whose eight-hour work period is regularly scheduled 
to start between the hours of 0600 to 0900.  

Student Employee 

Individuals employed as a Student worker are those who are hired for internships, part-time, 
limited term or temporary assignments designated for students.  A student employee receives 
only salary.  No fringe benefits are paid to a student employee. 

Transfer  

The movement of an employee from a position in one class to a position in the same or 
sufficiently similar class (pay rate within 5%) as determined by the Human Resources Director.  

Workday 

A continuous 24-hour period, which normally begins at 12:01 am and ends at midnight. 

 
Workplace  

Any location where an employee of the Agency performs a work-related duty.  

 
Workweek    

A continuous 7-day period, which normally begins Sunday at 12:01 am and ends the following 
Saturday at midnight.  For employees working a nine-eighty (9/80) schedule, the workweek is 
defined as beginning and ending after the fourth (4th) hour on the Friday of the two-week 9/80 
schedule.  

401-4 
 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

402. CLASSIFICATIONS  

 
Administration and Use  

The Agency’s classification plan is utilized for decision-making concerning compensation, 
recruitment and selection, lines of progression, employee development, training, career 
advancement and other Human Resources program activities.  Compensation is governed by the 
salary schedule, Memoranda of Understanding, and other Commission-approved documents.  

 
The Agency’s classification plan shall be under the direction of the Human Resources Manager. 

Classification of Positions  

Authorized positions shall be allocated to the appropriate class in accordance with the 
knowledge and skills, mental effort, responsibility and accountability of its assigned duties.  
Positions shall be classified by the Human Resources Manager.  Positions shall be allocated to 
the same class when their duties are sufficiently similar that:  

 The same descriptive title may be used to designate each position in the 
 class; 

 The same or similar level of knowledge and skills, mental effort, 
 responsibility and accountability and other qualifications may be required 
 of incumbents;  

 The same or similar examination and selection methods may be used to 
 select employees;  

 The same schedule of compensation may apply.  

Process  

The classification process includes job analysis and documentation via a written job analysis and 
job description that has been reviewed and approved by the appropriate Supervisor, Manager, 
Assistant General Manager, and Human Resources Manager.  

Classification of New Positions  

When a new position is authorized by the Commission, the Human Resources Manager will 
recommend the proper assignment of such position to an appropriate class in the classification 
plan, or when appropriate, a new class.  

The position will further be subject to investigation by the Human Resources Manager, after it is 
occupied by an employee, to determine if the incumbent is performing the duties of the initially 
assigned classification.  

402-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

When a new position falls within a class series such as Engineer I, II, III, IV and V, the assigned 
classification level shall be based on the full range of duties and responsibilities associated with 
the said position. Most typically this will be the full journey level.  If an employee is hired into 
the position at a level lower than the assigned classification (i.e., the position is “under-filled”), 
the employee may be advanced to the highest level to which the position is allocated as he/she 
gains experience and training and is able to perform the full range of duties.  In the case of 
positions currently allocated to a level below the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with said position or below the full journey level, subsequent to review and approval by Human 
Resources, the position may be relocated to the appropriate level within the same class series 
and the incumbent may be advanced to this level without Commission approval.  

Changes in Classification of Existing Positions  

When any change is made within a department which significantly affects the duties and 
responsibilities of any position, the Manager will report these facts in writing to the Human 
Resources Manager.  The appropriate Assistant General Manager shall approve the request for a 
study before it is reviewed by the General Manager.  The Human Resources Manager may then 
make a study of the duties and responsibilities and the relationship to other classes of the 
affected positions.  

The Human Resources Manager may study the duties of any position in a classification plan and 
make recommendations to the Commission for a change in class or the allocation to a more 
appropriate class.  Classification changes for represented employees are subject to the meet and 
confer process.  

Studies may be initiated in the following manner:  

 A written request by the employee or Manager, explaining the change in 

duties, should be submitted for review and approval to the Manager.  If 

approved, the Manager should forward the request to the Human Resources 

Manager, stating the reason for the request to review the position or 

positions.  

 Referral from the General Manager.  

 When possible authorization for new positions is indicated. 

 Regular periodic maintenance of the classification plan or when the Human    
            Resources Manager identifies a need to study an existing position. 

The Human Resources Manager will review and consider all information submitted including 
the required duty statements.  The request for a classification study will be reviewed by, and 
requires the approval of the General Manager.  Any recommendations for executive action will 
be discussed with the General Manager and appropriate Assistant General Manager.  Any 
proposed change to a classification with a higher or lower salary range shall be presented to the 
Commission for approval.  

402-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

A change of classification of an occupied unrepresented position shall affect the status of the 
incumbent in the following manner:  

When a position moves from one class to another class and it can be clearly shown by the 
Human Resources Manager that the duties have evolved over a period of time without 
manipulation to evade the merit principles and the duties and responsibilities of the new class 
will be substantially the same as the incumbent has been performing in the preceding six 
months, the incumbent shall be granted the same status in the new class that was held in the old 
class.  

When a position is reallocated to a class with a higher salary range, the same salary range or from 
one series to an unrelated series, the incumbent shall gain eligibility and seek appointment 
through the recruitment process which may be limited to NCPA employees only.  Provided the 
incumbent has regular employee status, the examining process may be noncompetitive at the 
discretion of the Human Resources Manager.  

When the position is allocated to a class in a related series with a lower salary range, the 
incumbent may choose to retain the position by accepting a voluntary demotion.  The 
incumbent may also request a transfer to a position in the class from which the position was 
moved if a vacant position exists in the class.  

Class Specifications  

The Human Resources Manager, in consultation with the Assistant General Manager, shall 
prepare a written specification for each job classification.  

The specifications, when approved by the Assistant General Manager, shall constitute the 
official class specifications for the Agency.  The official copy of the specifications for each class 
shall be maintained in the Human Resources Department and shall indicate the date of adoption 
or last revision of amendment.  

Each specification shall include: the class title; a brief description of scope, nature and 
responsibility of the class; a description of the tasks or duties ordinarily performed in the 
positions allocated to the class; a statement of the minimum qualifications considered necessary 
for proficient performance of the work, including education, experience, knowledge, skills, and 
any additional factors considered pertinent.  

Class specifications are not restrictive and shall not be construed as declaring that duties and 
responsibilities are all inclusive, shall not be changed, or that a Manager or designee may not 
temporarily assign other related duties and responsibilities or to otherwise direct and control the 
work of subordinate employees.  

No person shall be appointed to any position in a regular, casual or provisional position unless 
that person meets the minimum qualifications or the permissible equivalency set forth in the 
currently approved class specifications or as determined equivalent by the Human Resources 
Manager for that position.  

402-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Notwithstanding any other provision in this policy, if after reasonable effort, qualified persons 
cannot be recruited, the Human Resources Manager may authorize the filling of the position at a 
lower level or request that the General Manager waive the requirement.  

402.1 Appointment  

Vacancies  

When a permanent vacancy in any regular position is authorized to be filled, the Human 
Resources Manager shall try, whenever reasonable, to fill the vacant position with an existing 
NCPA employee who is the best qualified for the position. If requested by the Manager, the 
Human Resources Manager may open the position to application from the general public.  

Job Announcement  

The Human Resources Manager will publish announcements of vacancies which will state the 
job classification title, salary, nature of work to be performed, minimum standards of education 
and/or experience required, when and where to file applications and other pertinent 
information.  Employment standards stated in the announcement shall be those established for 
the job classifications as approved by the appropriate Assistant General Manager.  

Qualification of Applicants/Examination  

The Human Resources Manager (or designee) shall be responsible for administering any testing 
or examination in connection with hiring for a job vacancy.  Applicants must meet the minimum 
qualifications for the position to be considered for the vacant position. Applicants may be 
examined or tested only once for a posted job opening, unless the Human Resources Manager 
determines that circumstances warrant re-examination.  The Human Resources Manager may 
disqualify any candidate who does not meet the minimum qualifications by the closing date or 
for any other legitimate reason.  An applicant who is not already employed by the Agency has no 
right to grieve or appeal any such action by the Agency.  

Reinstatement After Resignation  

A former employee who held regular status in a class at the time of resignation in good standing 
may be appointed to a vacancy in that class or to a lower class for which the former employee is 
qualified. Reinstatement may take place only within three years of the effective date of the 
resignation.  Reinstatement is subject to the discretion of the Appointing Authority at the time 
the former employee is re-hired.  The reinstated employee may be subject to a new probationary 
period, at the discretion of the Appointing Authority.  Reinstatement allows the rehired 
employee to resume vacation accrual at the rate he/she was earning at the time of separation.  
Under this policy, the publishing of an announcement and/or administration of an examination 
is not required prior to reinstatement.  

Transfer  

An employee holding regular status in a position may transfer to another position in the same 
job class or a different job class, as long as the position is at equal or lower salary grade level.  
Transfer is subject to the discretion of the Appointing Authority.  The publishing of an 

402-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

announcement and/or administration of an examination is not required prior to transfer.  The 
Appointing Authority may also initiate a transfer.  

402.2 Probationary Period  

New Employees  

Every new regular employee, except “At-Will” employees, shall serve a probationary period of 
not less than twelve months unless the General Manager establishes a longer period. The 
probationary period may be extended by the Assistant General Manager for up to twenty-four 
months with the approval of the General Manager.  The General Manager may designate any 
new or vacant (non-union) position as “at will” for future new, promoted, or transferred 
employees.  

The probationary period is required as part of the testing process and shall be utilized for 
observing closely the employee’s work, for securing the most effective adjustment of a new 
employee to his/her position, and for terminating any employee whose performance does not 
meet the required standards of work.  

During the probationary period, an employee serves at the will or pleasure of the Appointing 
Authority and may be terminated at any time without cause or prior notice and without right of 
appeal. A probationary employee does not have the rights described under the Discipline Policy.  

Promoted or Transferred Employees  

Every promoted or transferred Regular employee who is not hired as an “at will” employee 
(*see first paragraph) shall serve as a probationary employee in the new position for a period of 
not less than twelve months unless the General Manager establishes a longer period because the 
duration of the required training is such that it is not possible to adequately evaluate 
performance within a twelve month period. No extension of the probationary period beyond 
twelve months shall be valid without the prior written approval of the General Manager.  

The probationary period is required as part of the testing process and shall be utilized for 
observing closely the employee’s work and for securing the most effective adjustment of the 
promoted or transferred employee to his/her new position. Promoted or transferred employees 
rejected during the probationary period may revert to their previously held classification/line of 
progression, if a vacancy exists.  

 
402.3 Employment of Relatives  

Notwithstanding the Agency’s policy not to discriminate on the basis of marital status, the 
Agency retains the right to: 

 Refuse to place one’s spouse, domestic partner, partner who is cohabitating with the 
employee due to a romantic relationship, or immediate family member under the direct 
supervision of the employee when the placement has the potential for creating an 
adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or morale.  

402-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 Refuse to place both spouses, domestic partners, cohabitating partners, or immediate 
family members in the same facility, work unit, department or division where it has the 
potential for creating an adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or morale, or 
involves potential conflicts of interest.  

 Refuse to employ a spouse, domestic partner, cohabitating partners, or immediate family 
member in the Agency where the other spouse, domestic partner, or immediate family 
has access to Agency material such as human resources, payroll or strategic planning 
matters, and there is no practical way to prevent the appearance of a conflict of interest 
due to access to such confidential information.  The Agency may also transfer or 
terminate the employment of one or both spouses, domestic partners, cohabitating 
partners, or family members in the event that a potential or actual conflict of interest 
develops while both parties are employed at the Agency.  

 All potential conflicts resulting from the types of relationships above shall be referred to 
the Human Resources Manager for review. 

 
402.4 Pre-Placement and Annual Physical Examinations  

New Employees  

The physical requirements of jobs will be determined, and job-related standards will be 
developed and implemented, by the Agency.  New employee candidates for safety-sensitive, high 
level financial or confidential positions must take and successfully pass a pre-placement medical 
examination including drug and alcohol screening on the candidate’s own time, at Agency 
expense.  If a medical examination results in disqualification, a candidate or employee may 
submit independent medical opinions (at his/her own expense) for consideration by the Agency 
before a final determination on disqualification is made. 

Regular Employees  

Employees may be required to take and successfully pass a fitness for duty examination which 
may include an alcohol and drug test at the Agency’s expense and on Agency time, when the 
Agency has reasonable cause to believe that the employee’s health and/or physical or mental 
condition may impair the employee’s ability to do the assigned work, or pose a risk to the health 
or safety of others with whom the employee works, or to the public.  Drug and alcohol testing 
of existing employees will be conducted in a manner consistent with the Agency’s procedures 
set forth at P407.7. 

If an employee has a disability, recognized under applicable law, the employee should so notify 
the Agency.  For employees who have such disabilities, the Agency will engage in an interactive 
process to determine whether there is a reasonable accommodation which would enable the 
disabled employee to perform the essential duties of the job.   

If action is proposed which would adversely affect an employee’s employment or status as a 
result of said fitness for duty examination, the employee has the right to obtain a second 
examination by a physician of his/her choice selected from a panel of two or more physicians 

402-6 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

provided by the Agency at no cost to the employee.  Medical examination records available to 
the Agency shall be considered prior to the Agency proceeding with any adverse action.  

Annual Physicals  

Employees in classes designated by the Human Resources Manager or MOU are subject to 

annual physical examinations including but not limited to hearing, respirator testing and use, 

if appropriate.  

 
 
402.5 Personnel Files  

Personnel files are maintained on each employee of the Agency.  The personnel files are 
considered confidential and access is limited to management personnel, including but not 
limited to, the  employee’s Supervisor, Manager, Assistant General Manager, General Manager, 
and Human Resources staff, unless otherwise authorized by law.   

Medical records are confidential and are maintained separately from an employee’s personnel 
file.  Access to medical records is restricted to the subject employee and Human Resources, 
medical staff, and management with a “need-to-know” basis, unless otherwise authorized by 
law.  

Current employees may request in writing to inspect and/or receive a copy of their personnel 
files at reasonable intervals upon thirty (30) days advance notice to the Agency.  Current 
employees may be required to review their personnel files during non-work hours.  Former 
employees may request in writing to inspect and/or receive a copy of their personnel files upon 
thirty (30) days advance notice to the Agency.  Former employees shall be limited to one (1) 
such request per calendar year.  Both current and former employees shall be charged the 
Agency’s standard rate per page for copying of personnel records.  Both current and former 
employees may verbally request an Agency-provided form with which to make their written 
request to inspect and/or obtain copies of their personnel files. 

The Agency may preclude inspection of certain information in accordance with law, such as 
background and other pre-employment information and materials relating to confidential 
investigations.  

 
402.6 Reference Checks  

Following the Agency’s determination that an applicant meets the minimum employment 
qualifications, as stated in any notice issued for the position for which the applicant applied, and 
prior to making a job offer, reference, background and in certain cases credit checks must be 
conducted either by the hiring Manager or by the Human Resources Department.  Prior to 
conducting these checks, the individual must have signed the Pre-Offer Information Release 
Authorization (part of the NCPA application form).  

  

402-7 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

403. COMPENSATION 

Delineate Commission policies related to compensation for employees and provide the General 
Manager authority to propose and administer NCPA salary plans and policy.   

 
403.1 Compensation Plan  

All Agency employees shall receive compensation as approved by the Commission. Non-union 
employees shall receive the compensation provided in the Administrative and General Wage 
Structure (“Structure”). Classifications are assigned to pay grades listed in the Structure.  

Represented employees shall receive the compensation as provided by the IBEW Local 1245 
and Hydroelectric Employees Wage Schedules. Represented employees’ compensation is subject 
to the meet and confer requirements of the Meyers-Millais-Brown Act.   

 
403.2 Salary Ranges  

Non-union employees’ Compensation Plan Structure and ranges will be reviewed and updated 
as necessary based on marketplace survey data, NCPA’s financial condition and other relevant 
factors.   

 

403.3 Salary Increase Following Completion of Probation  

Upon satisfactory completion of probation, an employee not represented by a union, may be 
eligible for a salary increase, based on performance, position in grade, and timing in relation to 
the annual merit pay increases.   

 
 

403.4 Annual Structure Adjustment  

NCPA’s salary structure for non-union employees may be adjusted annually based on market 
and cost of living data and other relevant factors as provided in the annual budget and approved 
by the Commission.  

 

403.5 Performance Pay  

On an annual basis, each regular or probationary employee shall receive a performance 
evaluation. Each employee not covered by a Memorandum of Understanding may receive a 
salary increase if the probation period has been completed. Individual pay amounts will be 
determined based on the compensation program. 

 
403.6 Wages  

Wages are to be paid at biweekly intervals on Fridays for a two-week payroll period.  The 
Agency has the discretion to provide paychecks earlier (e.g. on Thursdays) when possible. If the 
regular payday falls on a holiday, payment will be made on the preceding workday.  

403-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

An employee shall be paid the wage established for his or her classification. An employee who 
has accumulated sufficient time in a classification having a time progression and who has 
satisfied the training program requirements is eligible to be advanced to the next step in such 
classification until he or she received the maximum rate thereof.  The “wage progression” of an 
employee who is absent on unpaid leave for more than ten (10) consecutive work days will be 
delayed by a period of time equivalent to such leave of absence.  The “wage progression” of an 
employee in a beginning or other training classification who is absent for more than twenty-five 
(25) consecutive days due to illness or injury and is receiving sick leave with pay, will be delayed 
by the period in excess of twenty-five (25) consecutive work days. 

 
403.7 Temporary Upgrade  

Any non-union employee who is temporarily assigned the full range of duties and 
responsibilities of a higher class for periods of fifteen (15) consecutive working days or more 
shall be paid at the minimum salary for the higher class or five percent higher than his or her 
then current salary, whichever is greater.  

All temporary upgrades of non-union employees must be approved by the appropriate Assistant 
General Manager.  Any temporary upgrade that exceeds thirty (30) working days must be 
approved by the General Manager.  A temporary upgrade should not exceed one year in 
duration unless special circumstances warrant.  

 

403.8 Transportation  

The Agency will, at its discretion, provide transportation for Agency personnel conducting 
Agency business.  An employee may, with specific authorization, use his/her personal vehicle and 
will be reimbursed at a rate to be annually established by the Agency based on the IRS mileage 
rate for work-related travel expenses.  Employees who use personal vehicles for business must 
meet the following requirements:  
 
 1.  The employee must have a valid California driver’s license.  

 2.  The employee must have in force and provide proof of personal liability  
 (PL) and property insurance (PD) on the vehicle to be used.  This 
 insurance must be at least the minimum for PL/PD prescribed by law.  

3. The vehicle must be adequately maintained and be in proper safe working  
  order.  

4. The employee must ensure all occupants of the vehicle wear seat belts.  

If an employee uses a vehicle for Agency business, the employee is subject to the Agency 

conducting periodic verification of the employee’s driver’s license, auto insurance and driving 

record.  Employees are required to report any accident which occurs while conducting Agency 

business within four hours of the accident to their Manager or AGM.  Employees are required 

to report any suspension or revocation of their driver’s license to their Manager within five 

calendar days of such suspension or revocation. (See Administrative Policy on business travel 

403-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

and related safety procedures for more information on vehicle use.) 
 
Whether an employee is using an Agency-provided vehicle or his/her personal vehicle while 
on Agency business, all Agency employees are required to obey all traffic laws while 
operating that vehicle, including but not limited to, prohibitions against texting and talking 
on cell phones without a hands-free device.   Violations of traffic laws while either operating 
an Agency-provided vehicle or personal vehicle while on Agency business may form the 
basis for disciplinary action against the employee.  
 
Please refer to Agency policy re “Vehicle Use for Business Purposes a copy of which is 
included as P403.8” 
 

403.9 Employee Salary Authorization  

Each year the General Manager will propose for Commission approval a salary budget that will 
include amounts sufficient to implement base pay, salary increases, adjustment to the structure 
for wage inflation, overtime, temporary help, etc.  The budget will normally be based on 
authorized positions and/or any other special conditions and is approved by the Commission.  

The General Manager is authorized to pay salaries in accordance with these policies to 
employees in an amount not to exceed the amount approved by the Commission.  

The General Manager is authorized to establish such administrative rules as are necessary to 
implement the salary plan subject to the limitations of the approved salary budget, and the 
compensation plan structure.  

In the event a downward adjustment of a position grade assignment indicates a reduction in the 
established salary of an employee, the General Manager may, in his/her discretion if 
circumstances warrant, continue the salary of such an employee in an amount in excess of the 
revised grade limit for a reasonable and specified period of time.  Such interim salary rates shall 
be defined as “Y rates”.  

 

403.10 Overtime Compensation  

“FLSA Non-Exempt” employees are entitled to overtime compensation (1.5 times the 
employee’s regular rate of pay) for hours worked over 40 hours in a workweek as provided by 
the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”).  If a workweek contains non-work hours such 
as sick leave or vacation, those non-work hours do not count toward the calculation of 
overtime.  The Agency designates as “FLSA Exempt” those employees who work in 
professional, executive, administrative, or certain computer-related capacities.  Employees 
designated as “FLSA exempt” are not entitled to overtime compensation under the “FLSA”.  
Except when necessary to address an emergency or special circumstances, employees who are 
entitled to overtime compensation under the law may not work outside of regularly scheduled 
working hours, or more than 40 hours in a workweek, without the prior authorization of their 
supervisor.  Performing unauthorized overtime work may subject an employee to disciplinary 
action.  Employees shall report emergency overtime work as soon as possible after the work is 
performed.  “FLSA Non-Exempt” employees may accrue compensating time off in lieu of 
receiving overtime pay.  Please see the Procedures Section P403.10 for more information and 
the required form.  

403-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

403.11 Additional Leave  

All non-union employees who are in an “FLSA exempt” status shall receive sixty (60) hours 
“Additional Paid Leave” each calendar year.  This leave is pro-rated for new hires and is 
available for use during a new hire’s probationary period. If an employee is on a leave of absence 
at the time this leave is normally granted, it is not granted until he/she returns to work.  
Additional leave is not carried over into the next calendar year. 

In addition to the above sixty (60) hours of leave, non-union, exempt employees in salary grades 
22 and above shall receive an additional twenty (20) hours of leave due to the additional time 
that employees at these levels must work at night and on the weekends.  

Employees may be authorized additional paid leave in eight (8)-hour increments to a maximum 
of forty (40) hours to recognize the employee’s accomplishments, efforts, performance, and 
extra hours worked as determined by the Assistant General Manager and General Manager. 
These exceptions must be requested in writing with justification and once granted by the 
General Manager are available in the calendar year in which they were granted.  

 

403.12 Reimbursement for Relocation Expenses  

New Employees  

The General Manager is authorized to approve reimbursement for travel and relocation 
expenses for a new employee in a management, professional, administrative, or major 
supervisory position, or in another classification, where, because of a shortage of qualified 
persons, it is necessary to recruit outside of the area.  All relocation and related travel expenses 
must be returned in full to the Agency if employee is terminated or leaves the Agency within 
one year from the employee’s starting date.  

Procedures and forms are either provided upon request by the Human Resources Office or they 
may be located in the Procedures section.  

 

Transferred Employees  

The Agency may pay the allowable relocation expenses of employees who are transferred from 
one permanent duty station to another by and at the request of the Agency, at the discretion of 
the General Manager, whose approval must be obtained prior to relocation.  

Procedures and forms are provided upon request by the Human Resources Office.  

 
403.13  Performance Evaluation  

Performance Planning:  

Each employee, working with his/her Manager or supervisor, will prepare a written 
performance plan which includes goals, if applicable.  Performance plans are prepared as 
follows:  

403-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 When a regular employee is initially hired or appointed to a new job 
classification, and  

 

 Annually.  

Performance Evaluation:  

Each Manager will prepare, in writing, a performance evaluation for each of his/her employees.  
Performance evaluations will be prepared in the following instances:  

 When an employee has worked an initial twelve month period in his/her new 
regular job classification (this applies not only to newly hired employees, but 
also to employees who have been promoted or otherwise transferred to a new 
position).  

 Annually, at the end of each year.  

 When an employee is promoted, demoted, transferred or merit advancement is 
recommended.  

The contents of performance evaluations are not subject to the grievance or the appeal process.  

  

P403-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

404. WORK HOURS 

 

404.1 Employee Work Hours  
 
Normal working hours for non-union non-shift employees are eight-hour work periods regularly 
scheduled to start between the hours of 0600 to 0900, Monday through Friday. The work hours 
are set in accordance with the above by each Manager.  Each non-union, non-exempt employee 
is allowed a one-hour unpaid lunch period and two fifteen minute break periods, one each in the 
morning and afternoon.  If not taken, such rest period is waived.  The rest period may be 
interrupted or cancelled if necessary to complete work and shall be compensated time.  The rest 
periods may not be combined or used to shorten the workday – e.g., by taking a break at the 
beginning or end of the workday, however the lunch period may be reduced to thirty minutes, 
(with prior Manager approval) for individual circumstances or for longer term situations when 
approved in writing by the Assistant General Manager.   

 
404.2 Alternative Work Week (4-10 and 9-80 Work Schedules)  

Each Assistant General Manager, as delegated by the General Manager, has the authority, within 

constraints of appropriate staffing, to authorize a regular work schedule for some non-union 

positions consisting of four (4) ten (10) hour days for any of their employees or a nine-eighty (9-

80) schedule consisting of eight (8) nine (9) hour days and one (1) eight (8) hour day in a work 

period.   
 
Any schedule established for an employee under this policy may be canceled or temporarily 
suspended at any time if it is determined by the Assistant General Manager not to be in the best 
interest of the Agency.  Alternative work schedules shall be reported in writing to the Human 
Resources Manager upon the approval of the Assistant General Manager. 

 
404.3 Flex-Time  

Flexible Schedule  

Each Manager, as delegated by the General Manager, has the authority to authorize a flexible 
work schedule that provides for any employee to work forty hours per week and eight hours per 
day, Monday through Friday.  

Under this plan, an employee must work the core hours of 9:00 AM through 3:00 PM daily.  

Any schedule established for an employee under this policy may be canceled or temporarily 
suspended at any time if it is determined by the Assistant General Manager not to be in the best 
interest of the Agency.  

 

404-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

404.4 Attendance Standards  

Regular attendance is required of employees.  Employees are required to report on time and 
observe their assigned work schedules.  If an employee is unable to report to work for any 
reason, or arrives late to work, or must leave early, the employee must notify the work unit 
supervisor or, in his/her absence, the Manager before starting time or be subject to disciplinary 
action. To seek authorization, notification should be made by telephoning the supervisor, and if 
the employee does not reach him/her then by email or text. 

 
404.5 Resignation  

An employee who voluntarily resigns from employment with NCPA in good standing must 
submit his/her resignation to his or her Manager at least two weeks prior to the scheduled 
departure so that an orderly transition can be made.  This includes turning in NCPA property, 
completing required forms, obtaining appropriate clearances, and having an exit interview.  

Once a written resignation is received by Human Resources, it becomes effective, and it is 
irrevocable except the General Manager may, in his/her discretion, permit a resignation to be 
rescinded.  

Employees who retire are requested to provide ninety (90) days written notice.  Please see the 
related Procedure section for more information on retirement. 

 
404.6 Absence Without Notice 

Any employee absent for three (3) consecutive working days without being on authorized leave 
shall be assumed to have resigned his/her employment, unless otherwise determined by the 
Manager.  The Agency shall give notice of such automatic resignation.  Except for at-will and 
probationary employees, regular employees who are separated from Agency service by automatic 
resignation may appeal to the General Manager within five (5) calendar days of the Notice of 
Automatic Resignation.  

Nothing in this section shall limit the Manager’s authority to discipline or dismiss an employee 
due to an unauthorized absence.  

 
404.7  Exit Interview  

Separating employees may be interviewed so that information will be gathered that will assist the 
Agency to ensure a quality environment through improving supervision, coaching, management, 
working conditions and the work environment.  

  

404-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

405. BENEFITS 

The Agency provides a wide variety of health and income protection benefits for Agency 
employees.  General descriptions of the plans follow.  For details, contact the Human Resources 
Office.  

 
Eligibility  

Employees are eligible to enroll in the benefit plans described below (unless otherwise specified 
in this manual) upon appointment as a full-time Regular or Probationary Employee in 
accordance with specific plan requirements.  

Responsibility  

The Human Resources Manager is responsible for the administration of benefit plans.  Each 
benefit is paid by the Agency or by employee payroll deductions.   

 
405.1 Medical Plans  

Health insurance plans are available through the California Public Employees’ Retirement 
System Health Benefit Program (CalPERS).  Employees have a choice of Preferred Providers 
(PPO’s) and Health Maintenance Organizations (HMO’s).  Plan descriptions are available online 
through CalPERS website.  

Health insurance for eligible employees and eligible dependent(s) is paid by the Agency up to the 
monthly limit established by the Agency.  Depending on the type and level of coverage selected 
by the employee, the employee may be required to make a contribution towards payment of 
health insurance via payroll deduction.  A cash-out option is also available for employees with 
other medical plan coverage.   

405.2 Dental Insurance  

Dental insurance for eligible employees and eligible dependents is self-funded and paid by the 
Agency.  Forms and plan details are available in the Human Resources Office.  

 
405.3 Short (STD) and Long-Term Disability Insurance (LTD) 

Short and Long-term disability is provided and premiums are paid by the Agency for  
eligible employees.  This benefit pays 60 percent of insured monthly earnings up to a specified 
maximum amount, reduced by income received from other sources (i.e., State Disability 
Insurance, retirement benefits, retirement disability benefits, Workers’ Compensation, Social 
Security). The Benefit Waiting Period for employees varies.  Please see Human Resources for 
plan details.  Accrued sick leave pay is integrated with all disability benefits to which the 
employee is entitled but will not exceed monthly base pay.  

  

405-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

405.4 State Disability Insurance (SDI)  

State Disability Insurance  

Agency employees (with certain exceptions) are covered by State Disability Insurance (SDI). The 
cost of the insurance is paid by the employee through payroll deductions.  SDI provides  
short-term benefits to eligible workers who suffer a loss of wages when they are unable to work 
due to a non-work-related illness or injury, or a medically disabling condition from pregnancy or 
childbirth.  Accrued sick leave pay is integrated with SDI benefits received by the employee but 
it will not exceed biweekly base pay.  
 

Paid Family Leave Benefits  

Employees who are covered by SDI are eligible for Family Temporary Disability Insurance 
(FTDI) benefits while taking care of a newborn child, or a newly placed adopted or foster child, 
or taking care of a family member with a serious health condition.  These benefits are paid by 
the State Employment Development Department, not the Agency, and must be applied for by 
the employee.  

 
405.5 Retirement Plan  

CalPERS  

The Agency has contracted with CalPERS for retirement benefits for eligible employees. The 
Agency pays contributions into CalPERS for such benefits based on the employee’s pay rate.  
Employees are also required to make contributions toward their retirement benefit.  

Eligibility requirements for employees and plan details can be found in the CalPERS website or 
they are available from Human Resources.  For employees who are planning on retiring from 
the Agency, see the procedure regarding retirement.  

 
405.6 Deferred Compensation Plan  

IRS Section 457  

The Agency contracts with the ICMA Retirement Corporation to provide deferred  
compensation programs to allow “classic” and “new member” employees to save and invest 
through payroll deductions.  Under section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code, “Classic” and 
“New Member” employees may defer taxes on a portion of their income in accordance with IRS 
regulations.  Participation is handled through pre-tax payroll deductions. 

IRS Section 401(a) 

“New Members” under CalPERS may save and invest through pre-tax payroll deductions 
through an ICMA administered IRS Money Purchase Plan.  New members have a one-time 
option at the time of hire to defer a portion of their income into this plan.  The Agency may 
also make a contribution to this plan based on the amount approved in the budget.  

405-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Enrollment and plan details are available through the Payroll department.  

405.7 Retirement Health Insurance  

Retirement medical insurance is provided, with the premium paid by the Agency as described 
below.  To be eligible for Agency paid health insurance (medical) premiums upon retirement:  

1) The employee must have retired from the Agency after working for NCPA for 
at least five years if hired before 2009, have reached either the age of 50 or have 
been retired earlier; and the employee must have retired under CalPERS within 
120 days after separation from employment, with eligibility for the health plan at 
the time of separation.  Under this vesting option, retiring employees will 
receive an employer contribution up to the monthly employer premium limit 
established by the Agency, for the retiree and spouse or domestic partner, or for 
either the surviving spouse or surviving domestic partner.  

2) For those hired after January 1, 2009, or who elect this vesting option: 
employees must have worked for the Agency for at least five years, have at least 
10 years total CalPERS service and be age 50 or above (see Government Code 
22893) to receive the following percent of the employer’s family medical 
insurance contribution-Credited Years of Service Percent of Employer 
Contribution  

Credited Years of Service     % of Employer Contribution 

10...............................................................................................................................................50%  
11...............................................................................................................................................55%  
12...............................................................................................................................................60%  
13...............................................................................................................................................65%  
14...............................................................................................................................................70%  
15……………………………………………………………………………….....75%  
16………………………………………………………………………………….80%  
17................................................................................................................................................85%  
18................................................................................................................................................90%  
19................................................................................................................................................95% 
20 or more...............................................................................................................................100%  

 

An employee under the vesting schedule above with 20 years or more of service with NCPA at 
the time of retirement; regardless of the number of days after separation from employment that 
retirement begins, shall be eligible for up to 100% of the Agency’s established monthly 
contribution (*subject to the Agency’s maximum medical plan contribution.) If a retiree/spouse 
selects an insurance plan that exceeds the maximum monthly contribution, the retiree/spouse 
shall pay the difference.) 

 

405-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

405.8 Basic Life Insurance 

Group term life insurance for represented employees is provided for by the Agency.  (See 
respective MOU for details).  Non-union employees not covered by a MOU are eligible for 
coverage by insurance equal to approximately three times their base salary up to the specified 
maximum amount under the plan.  See plan documents for more details.  

405.9 Vision Care  

Vision care insurance is provided for the employee and dependents by the Agency.  See plan 
documents for more details.  

 
405.10 Educational Leave and Tuition Reimbursement  

Solely at the Agency’s discretion, the Agency may provide an educational leave and tuition 
reimbursement to eligible employees with the Human Resources Manager’s written approval.  
The Agency may choose to reimburse expenses for tuition, required books, and parking fees 
incurred by an employee up to an established maximum as determined by the Agency.  The 
employee must successfully complete the class(es) at an accredited college, university or 
approved specialized training group.  Such educational or training program must be related to 
the job duties of a position at the Agency and must be approved in advance by Human 
Resources upon recommendation of the employee’s Assistant General Manager or Plant 
Manager.  

An employee may request a reimbursement of funds for education or training purposes subject 
to the approval of the Human Resources Manager or designee.  Reimbursement may be granted 
for tuition, required books and parking fees.  Other expenses including but not limited to 
supplies, CLEP exam or equivalent auditing or challenging classes, parking tickets, late fees, etc. 
may not be reimbursed or advanced.  To receive reimbursement, the employee must present 
evidence that each course is satisfactorily completed with a grade of “C” or better within three 
weeks of completion of the course(s).    The Agency’s Procedure shall govern implementation of 
the policy.  

 
405.11  Flexible Spending Accounts (FSAs)  

Employees are eligible to participate in Flexible Spending Accounts (FSA) offered by the 
Agency.  Participation is voluntary, and employees must sign up every year to participate. NCPA 
offers two types of FSAs:  

Health Care FSA:  

In this FSA account, an employee may set aside a specified amount on a pre-tax basis each pay 
period during the calendar year.  An employee may use account contributions for expenses that 
are not covered or are only partially covered by the insurance plans.  See Human Resources or 
plan website for more details.  

405-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Dependent Care FSA:  

A dependent care FSA allows an employee to set aside money on a pre-tax basis to pay for 
eligible expenses associated with the care of a dependent child or adult.  Examples of eligible 
expenses include:  day care/after-school care for children under age 13, nursery school 
expenses, day care for an incapacitated spouse, or dependent parent who lives with the 
employee.  See Human Resources or plan website for more details.  

 
405.12 Long-Term Care Insurance  

Long-term care is the extended care an employee, employee’s spouse or parents, parents-in-law, 
and/or siblings may need when, because of a chronic illness, injury or frailty of old age, help is 
required with basic activities like bathing, dressing, or eating.  CalPERS offers several plan 
choices that range from comprehensive coverage to nursing home/ assisted living facility only 
plans.  Participation in long-term care is voluntary, and the employees or their enrolled family 
members pay for the premiums.  Long-term care plans are portable and can be continued even 
if the employee changes job, or moves out of state.  See Human Resources or CalPERS Long 
Term Care website for more details.  

 
405.13 Employee Assistance Plan  

The Employee Assistance Plan provides assistance and referrals to counseling for employees 
and their dependents dealing with issues relating to marital and family problems, substance 
abuse, depression, emotional difficulties, children’s behavioral issues, stress, grief or domestic 
violence.  Full time employees and their eligible dependents receive coverage on the first of the 
month following the date of hire.  Contact Human Resources for more details.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

405-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

406. LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

The following leaves of absence are provided by the Agency for eligible employees. The 
Human Resources Manager is responsible for the administration of leave benefits. 
Represented employees’ leave benefits are also contained in appropriate MOU’s.   

 
406.1 Holidays  

The following are recognized holidays with pay:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In the event any of the recognized holidays falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be 
considered the holiday. In the event any of the recognized holidays falls on a Saturday, the 
preceding Friday shall be considered a holiday. (*Not including Dispatch and Scheduling 
employees.) 

406.2 Floating Holidays  

In addition to the Agency recognized holidays, each regular, non-union employee will receive 
two floating holidays per calendar year. Floating holidays may be taken any day during the 
calendar year by giving two weeks’ notice, provided the absence creates no significant disruption 
of Agency operations. The Agency may limit the number of employees who take a floating 
holiday on a given day. New hires receive floating holidays upon hire, prorated for the 
remainder of the calendar year. 

Floating holidays are not carried over into the next calendar year.  

 
406.3 Vacation Leave  

Accrual of Vacation  

Annual accrual of vacation is as follows:  

Years of Service  Hours accrued per year  8 Hour Days per year  
0 – 4      80    10  
5 – 8      120    15 
 9+      160    20  

New Year’s Day  Martin Luther King Day (non-union staff only*)  

President’s Day  Memorial Day  

Independence Day  Labor Day  

Veteran’s Day  Thanksgiving Day  

Day after Thanksgiving  Christmas Day  

406-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Holidays During Vacation  

Any holiday occurring during a scheduled vacation shall be considered a holiday and not 
vacation.  

Maximum Accrual: Deferral of Vacation Leave  

Employees may only accrue up to a maximum of two and one-half times the annual accrual level 
for which the employee is eligible.  For example, an employee with less than four years of 
service with the Agency may accrue a maximum of two hundred (200) hours of vacation.  If the 
employee does not take vacation when the maximum accrual is reached, the employee will not 
accrue any additional vacation. Employees are cautioned to monitor their accrued vacation 
hours to ensure they do not reach the maximum allowable limit for which they are eligible.  

Under extraordinary circumstances, and upon written request to the General Manager, the 
General Manager may approve temporary vacation accruals in excess of these limits.  

Vacation Sell Back  

Subject to management approval, all regular employees may sell back up to one hundred twenty 
(120) hours of unused, accrued vacation once in a calendar year provided that they maintain a 
minimum balance of eighty (80) vacation hours and they have taken at least forty (40) hours of 
vacation, compensating time off or additional paid leave (Policy 403.11) in the last twelve 
months. When employees “sell back” vacation hours, they shall be paid for those vacation hours 
in a lump sum.  

Scheduling Vacation  

Vacations must be scheduled in advance and be approved in advance by the Manager. The 
notice to your Manager should be at least equal to the time off requested or as determined by 
your Manager.  

Voluntary Vacation Transfer  

Employees may voluntarily transfer vacation to an employee experiencing a medical emergency, 
including a serious health condition of a family member, who has exhausted all accrued leave 
time in order to cover the employee’s absence from work.  See Human Resources for details.  

 

406.4 Sick Leave  

Regular, limited term and “at will” full-time employees shall be provided with sick leave, earned 
on an hourly basis and computed at the rate of 3.70 hours per pay period, with no limit on the 
amount that may be accumulated.  

Casual and part-time employees shall be afforded Sick Leave in accordance with the California 
“Healthy Families, Healthy Workplace Act”. 

406-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Sick leave is not a “right”.  Sick leave may be used only in cases of actual sickness, disability, or 
for medical, dental or vision treatment, or to attend to the illness of a family member, child, 
parent, spouse, or domestic partner as authorized below.  

Sick leave pay is integrated with SDI, workers’ compensation benefits, and short and long term 
disability benefits to which the employee is entitled, but pay will not exceed monthly base pay.  

Under the CalPERS Retirement Plan, accrued sick leave may also be credited as time worked 
when an employee retires within 120 days of his/her termination date.  Employees are allowed 
to take a cash payment for accumulated sick leave in the event of separation due to permanent 
disability or disability retirement with CalPERS.  

Sick leave use exceeding six (6) days (or 48 hours) in a year for the same illness or injury, or that 
exceeds the employee’s accrued sick leave balance (whichever occurs first) may require the 
employee to be placed on a medical leave of absence under the Agency’s policies regarding 
medical leaves, FMLA/CFRA leaves, or pregnancy disability leave (where applicable).  

Up to one-half (48 hours) of an employee’s sick leave allotment accrued in a calendar year may 
be used by the employee to attend to an illness of: child, parent, spouse or registered domestic 
partner, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling. (Note: The definition of a covered family member 
under FMLA/CFRA/Medical Leave differs.) Sick leave may also be used for an employee who 
is the victim of domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking.  Such time off shall be noted as 
Family Sick Leave on the timesheet…Sick leave will be charged by the hour with no charge 
made for increments of less than one half hour.       

The General Manager or employee’s Manager may request the employee to provide written 
proof of illness from a licensed physician for any period charged as sick leave.  The General 
Manager or employee’s Manager may also request authorization to return to work from a 
licensed physician before an employee may return following any period charged as sick leave.  

Please refer to the Procedure section for more details on sick leave use.  

A new employee may, if necessary, take an advance of up to forty-eight (48) hours of 
unearned sick leave at any time during the first six months of employment.  Any negative 
balance generated by such utilization will be charged against a future accrual of sick leave.  
An employee’s accrued sick leave shall coordinate with any approved medical or pregnancy 
leave of absence.  

 
406.4.1 Sick Leave for Casual and Part-time Employees 

An eligible casual or part-time employee earns one hour of sick pay for every 30 hours worked 

beginning either July 1, 2015 or, if hired after July 1, on the employee’s first day of work. Both 

regular and overtime hours are counted toward the accrual rate of one hour for every 30 hours 

worked.  Employees exempt under the administrative, executive or professional exemption are 

deemed to work 40 hours a week, but if they don’t, accrual will be based on their normal 

workweek.  

406-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Eligible casual and part-time employees cannot start using accrued sick days until the 90th day 

of employment, after which the employee can use paid sick leave as it is accrued. 

Sick leave may be used only in cases of actual personal sickness, disability, or for medical or 

dental treatment.  Accrued paid sick days can carry over to the following year of employment.  

But, the amount of paid sick days an employee can use in each year of employment is limited 

to 24 hours (three days). In addition, the employee’s total accrual amount is capped at 48 

hours (six days).  The carry-over provision allows an employee to have paid sick days available 

at the start of the next calendar year, depending on how much has already been used and 

accrued. 

Accrued sick leave may be used for an existing health condition or preventive care for the 

employee or a “family member”.  A family member is defined as a child, parent, spouse or 

registered domestic partner, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling. (Note: the definition of a covered 

family member for FMLA/CFRA/Medical Leave differs.) It may also be used by an employee who 

is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking. 

Accrued sick leave may be used by providing either an oral or written request to the 

employee’s supervisor.  If the need is foreseeable, the employee must provide advance notice.  

The minimum increment for paid sick leave is one hour. 

Upon termination of employment, accrued sick leave is not paid to the employee.  However, if 

the employee is reinstated within one year, the rehired employee will be allowed to use the 

previously accrued sick days, and will begin accruing additional paid sick days upon rehire as a 

casual or regular employee. 

 

406.5 Medical Leave  

In the event of a nonjob-related injury or illness that exceeds six (6) days (48 hours) during 
which the employee is unable to work, or which exceeds the amount of accrued sick leave 
(whichever occurs first) and a FMLA/CFRA leave is not available to the employee, a medical 
leave of absence without pay may be granted within the Agency’s discretion.  Accumulated sick 
leave must be used concurrently during a medical leave for the employee’s own injury or illness.  
In order to receive approval for an unpaid medical leave of absence which does not qualify 
under FMLA/CFRA, the leave must be medically necessary for the employee or family member 
and the patient must be under the care of a physician.  Leave may also be granted for employee 
organ/bone marrow donation.  A written request must be submitted to the Agency through the 
employee’s Manager and must be accompanied by a medical certification signed by the physician 
verifying the medical necessity, duration of the injury/illness, and inability to return to work.  

Medical leaves of absence (which do not qualify for FMLA/CFRA benefits) may be granted for 
a period up to thirty (30) calendar days at a time, during which period NCPA will maintain the 
employee’s health insurance.  Extensions may be granted on a month-to- month basis within the 
discretion of the Agency.  The employee must make a written request for extension of medical 

406-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

leave accompanied by a medical certification signed by a physician verifying the medical 
necessity for the extension of leave.  

Written authorization to return to work from a licensed physician is required before an 
employee may return to work following a medical leave.  

Employees may be required to use accrued paid leave benefits in conjunction with a medical 
leave to care for a family member.  The employee shall not accrue sick leave or vacation time 
while on medical leave unless the employee is using accrued sick or vacation pay concurrent 
with the medical leave.  

The employee shall not work in any other job while on a medical leave of absence and if this 
occurs, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
termination.  

 
406.6 Family and Medical Leave Under the Family and Medical Leave Act 
 (FMLA) and California Family Rights Act (CFRA)  

The Agency will provide unpaid family and medical care leave for eligible employees in 
accordance with the requirements of the FMLA and CFRA. Rights and obligations which are 
not specifically set forth below are set forth in the law and regulations implementing the FMLA 
and CFRA.  

Eligibility: In order to qualify for Family and Medical Leave, the employee must meet the 
following conditions: (1) The employee must have been employed by the Agency for twelve (12) 
months; (2) The employee must have actually worked at least 1,250 hours during the twelve (12) 
month period immediately before the date when the leave begins. If an employee is employed 
but is on leave, any time spent on leave shall not count towards the 1,250 hours.  

Type of Leave Covered: Family and Medical Leave is a leave taken:  

(1) In order to care for a newborn son or daughter, or for placement of a child for 
adoption or foster care,  

(2)  In order to care for a spouse, domestic partner, child or parent with a serious 
health condition, or  

(3) Because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to 
perform the functions of the employee’s position.  

(4) Any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, 
son, daughter, or parent is a covered military member on “covered active 
duty.”  (See Section 406.61 below.) 

Definitions for purposes of this policy:  

406-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

(1) “12-Month Period” means a rolling twelve (12) month period measured 
backward from the date leave is taken and continuous with each additional leave 
day taken.  

(2) “Child” means a child under the age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or 
older who is incapable of self-care because of mental or physical disability. An 
employee’s child is one for whom the employee has actual day-to-day 
responsibility for care and includes a biological, adopted, foster, stepchild, or 
child of a domestic partner.  

(3) “Parent” means a biological parent of an employee or an individual who stood 
in loco parentis (in place of the parent) to an employee when the employee was 
a child. This term does not include parents-in-law.  

(4) “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized under California 
state law for purposes of marriage.  

(5) “Domestic partner” means domestic partner as defined under California Family 
Code section 297.  

(6) “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury or impairment, or physical or 
mental condition that involves: 

 Inpatient care (i.e., overnight stay) in the hospital, hospice, or residential 
medical care facility, including any period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work 
or perform other regular daily activities due to the serious health condition, 
treatment involved or recovery there from); or 

 Continuing treatment by a health care provider:  A serious health condition 
involving continuing treatment by a health care provider includes any one of 
or more of the following: 

 A period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or perform other 
regular daily activities due to serious health condition of more than 
three (3) consecutive calendar days, and any subsequent treatment 
 or period of incapacity relating to the same condition), that also 
involves:  

 Treatment two or more times by a health care provider, by a 
nurse or physician’s assistant under direct supervision by (e.g., a 
physical therapist) under orders of, or on referral by, a health care 
provider; or  

 Treatment by a health care provider on at least one occasion which 
results in a regiment of continuing treatment under the supervision 
of the health care provider.  

406-6 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care. (Pregnancy 
disability is included as FMLA leave, but not CFRA leave).  Under 
California law, an employee disabled due to pregnancy is entitled to 
pregnancy disability leave up to a maximum of four months.  After the 
pregnancy disability ends, the employee is entitled to additional CFRA 
bonding leave up to a maximum of twelve (12) weeks.  

 Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic 
serious health condition.  A chronic serious health condition is one which: 
(i) required periodic visits for treatment by a health care provider, or by a 
nurse or physician assistant under extended period of time (including 
recurring episodes of a single underlying condition); and (ii) may cause 
episodic rather than continuing period of incapacity (e.g., asthma, diabetes, 
epilepsy, etc.).  Absences for such incapacity qualify for leave even if the 
absence lasts only one day.  

 A period of incapacity which is permanent or long-term due to a condition 
for which treatment may not be effective.  The employee or family member 
must be under the continuing supervision of, but need not be receiving 
active treatment by a health care provider.  

 Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including any period 
of recovery there from) by a health care provider of health care services 
after an accident or other injury, or for a condition that would likely result in 
a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive calendar days in the 
absence of medical intervention or treatment.  

Amount of Leave:  Eligible employees are entitled to a total of twelve (12) weeks of leave 
during a twelve (12) month period.  Twelve (12) weeks means the equivalent of twelve (12) of 
the employee’s normally scheduled work weeks.  For eligible employees who work more or less 
than five (5) days a week or who work alternative work schedules, the number of working days 
that constitute twelve (12) weeks is calculated on a pro rata or proportional basis.  In addition, 
the FMLA provides up to twenty six (26) workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period 
to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness if the eligible employee is 
the service member’s spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin (military caregiver leave).  
(See Section 406.61 below.) 

Duration of Leave:  If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a 
child of the employee, basic leave must be concluded within the first year of the birth or 
placement of the child.  

Spouses or Domestic Partners Both Employed by the Agency:  When spouses and /or 
domestic partners are both employed by the Agency and are both entitled to leave, the 
combined number of weeks of leave to which both may be entitled may be limited to twelve 
(12) weeks during a twelve (12) month period if leave is taken for the birth or placement for 
adoption or foster care of the employee’s child (i.e., bonding leave.)  This limitation does not 
apply to any other type of leave under this policy.  

406-7 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Intermittent Leave or Leave on a Reduced Work Schedule:   If an employee requests leave 
intermittently (a few days or hours at a time) or on a reduced leave schedule to care for an 
immediate family member with a serious health condition, the employee must provide medical 
certification that such leave is medically necessary.  “Medically necessary” means there must be a 
medical need for the leave and that the leave can best be accomplished through an intermittent 
or reduced leave schedule.  The leave may not exceed a total of twelve (12) weeks over a twelve 
(12) month period.  

Substitution of Paid Accrued Leaves: Leave under this policy is unpaid.  However, an 
employee may elect or be required to concurrently use accrued sick leave while on Family and 
Medical Leave as follows:   

If FMLA/CFRA-qualifying leave is taken for the employee’s own serious health condition, the 
employee will be required to use all accrued and available sick leave prior to going on unpaid 
status. 

If FMLA/CFRA-qualifying leave is taken for any other purpose, the employee may elect to use 
all accrued and available sick leave prior to going on unpaid status. 

If FMLA/CFRA-qualifying leave is taken for any purpose, the employee may elect to use 
accrued and available vacation leave prior to going on unpaid status. 

For an employee going on pregnancy disability leave (PDL), an employee will be required to use 
all accrued and available sick leave prior to going on unpaid status.  The employee may elect to 
use accrued and available vacation leave prior to going on unpaid status. 

In any instance in which an employee elects to use accrued and available sick or vacation leave 
prior to going on unpaid status, the employee is required to provide reasonable advance notice 
to the Agency of his/her election to use the paid leave benefit prior to going on unpaid status. 

When on leave of absence, employees are required to apply for disability benefits under any plan 
or programs for which they are qualified. If during any FMLA, CFRA or PDL leave an 
employee is receiving some form of income replacement payment, including but not limited to, 
State Disability Insurance (SDI), Paid Family Leave (PDL), Short Term Disability (STD), Long 
Term Disability (LTD), or Worker’s Compensation, the Agency and employee may mutually 
agree (but the employee shall not be compelled) that employee will use available paid leave 
benefits (i.e., sick, vacation, PTO, or CTO) to supplement the income replacement payment up 
to 100% of the employee’s regular wages. 

If an employee takes a leave of absence for any reason which is FMLA/CFRA qualifying, the 
Agency will designate that non-FMLA/CFRA leave as running currently with the employee’s 
12-week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement.  

Payment of Health Insurance Premiums While on Leave:  While an employee is on Family 
and Medical Leave, the Agency shall maintain the employee’s health insurance coverage on the 
same conditions as if the employee has been continuously employed during the entire leave 
period.  If the employee’s leave is unpaid, the Agency shall maintain the employee’s health 
coverage for non-pregnancy related leaves for a maximum of twelve (12) weeks in a twelve (12) 
month period, unless the employee requests and the Agency’s General Manager agrees, to 

406-8 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

extend coverage beyond that period.  For pregnancy disability leaves, the Agency will maintain 
the employee’s health insurance coverage for up to the full four (4) months of leave as well as 
for any additional “bonding” leave taken under the CFRA up to the twelve (12) weeks 
maximum available for such leave. 

Medical Certification:  Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition, 
or to care for a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner who has a serious health condition, 
must provide written certification from a health care provider of the individual requiring care.  

If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health condition, the 
certification must include a statement that the employee is unable to work at all or unable to 
perform the essential functions of his/her position.  In cases where employees request 
intermittent leave, employees must submit medical certification, which states that such 
intermittent leave is needed due to the employee’s serious health condition. 

Time to Provide a Certification:  When an employee’s leave is foreseeable, the employee must 
provide the medical certification within thirty (30) days before the leave begins.  When this is 
not possible, the employee must provide the requested certification within the time frame 
requested by the Agency, which in no event shall be less than fifteen (15) days from the 
commencement of the leave.  

Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification:  If an employee 
fails to timely provide a medical certification or provides an incomplete medical certification, the 
Agency may delay the taking of FMLA/CFRA leave until the required certification is provided.  

Recertification:  If the Agency has reason to doubt the validity of a medical certification 
provided by an employee regarding his/her own health condition, the Agency may require a 
medical opinion of a second health care provider chosen and paid for by the Agency.  If the 
second opinion is different from the first, the Agency may require the opinion of a third 
provider jointly approved by the Agency and the employee, but paid for by the Agency.  The 
opinion of the third provider will be binding.  An employee may request a copy of the health 
care provider’s opinions when there is recertification. When the need for leave exceeds 12 weeks 
due to intermittent leave, an employee will be required to recertify when requested. 

Procedures for Requesting Leave:  All employees requesting leave under this policy must 
submit proper Family and Medical Leave forms to the Human Resources Manager.  Although 
the Agency recognizes that emergencies arise which may require employees to request 
immediate leave, employees are required to give as much notice as possible of their need for 
leave.  If leave is foreseeable, at least thirty (30) days’ notice is required.  In addition, if any 
employee knows that he/she will need a leave in the future, but does not know the exact date(s) 
(e.g., for the birth of a child or to take care of a newborn), the employee shall inform his/her 
Manager as soon as possible that such leave is needed.  Such notice must be submitted in 
writing.  If the Agency determines the notice of the employee is inadequate or the employee 
knew about the requested leave in advance of the request, the Agency may delay the granting of 
the leave until it can, in its discretion; adequately cover the position with a substitute.  

Accrual of Benefits While on Leave:  Employees will not accrue benefits while in an unpaid 
leave status, including seniority rights, vacation and sick leave accrual.  

406-9 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Reinstatement Upon Return From Leave:  Upon the expiration of leave, or notice of the 
employee’s early return from leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the position of 
employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position with equivalent 
employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment.  Employees have no 
greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and other conditions of employment than if the 
employee had been continuously employed during the Family and Medical Leave period.  

Employee’s Obligation to periodically Report on His/Her Condition:  Employees may be 
required to periodically report on their status and intent to return to work.  This will avoid any 
delays in reinstatement when the employee is ready to return.  

Fitness for Duty Certification:  As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave 
was due to the employee’s own serious health condition, which made the employee unable to 
perform his/her job, the employee must obtain and present a fitness-for-duty certification from 
the health care provider that the employee is able to resume work.  Failure to provide such 
certification may result in denial of reinstatement.  

Failure to Return From Leave:  If an employee uses Family and Medical Leave and fails to 
return to work for the Agency, the Agency may recover its share of health care premiums paid 
on behalf of the employee while the employee was on leave.  The Agency reserves the right to 
seek reimbursement from the employee by any legal means.  

Other Employment:  The employee shall not work in any other job while on a medical leave of 
absence, and if this occurs, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action up to and 
including immediate termination.  

Student Employee: Individuals employed as Student workers are those who are hired for 
internships, part-time, limited term or temporary assignments designated for students.  A 
student employee receives only salary.  No fringe benefits are paid to a student employee. 

 

406.61 Military Caregiver Leave (FMLA)  

An employee may take FMLA leave to care for a family member who is a member of the Armed 
Forces who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy for a serious injury or 
illness incurred in the line of duty while in active duty in the Armed Forces.  

Definitions  

“Covered service member” means a member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the 
National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is 
otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a 
serious injury or illness.  

“Serious injury or illness” means an injury or illness incurred by the service member in line of 
duty on active duty in the Armed Forces that may render the service member medically unfit to 
perform the duties of the service member’s office, grade, rank or rating.  

406-10 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

“Outpatient status” means the status of a service member assigned to (a) a military medical 
treatment facility as an outpatient; or (b) a unit established for the purpose of providing 
command and control of members of the Armed Forces receiving medical care as outpatients.  
“Next of kin” means the nearest blood relative of the service member.  

Eligibility Criteria  

An employee who is a spouse, domestic partner, son, daughter, parent or next of kin of a 
covered service member is eligible for this leave if the employee has worked at least one year of 
Employer service and has worked at least 1,250 hours of actual hours worked during the 12-
month period immediately preceding the commencement of the leave.  (This length of service 
requirement is the same as for FMLA leave).  

The service member’s medical condition must warrant the participation of the employee to 
provide supervision or care during the entire period of leave.  

Length of Leave Permitted  

An eligible employee shall be entitled to up to a maximum of 26 workweeks of leave during a 
12-month period to care for the service member.  This leave shall only be available during a 
single 12-month period. During this single 12-month period, the employee shall be entitled to a 
maximum combined total of 26 workweeks of leave for both this type of leave and FMLA leave.  
However, this shall not limit the availability of FMLA leave during any other 12-month period.  

Leave under this section may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule if 
circumstances warrant.  The rules for requesting intermittent leave or leave on a reduced leave 
schedule are the same as those for FMLA leave.  

Notice  

The notice requirements for this leave are the same as the notice requirements for FMLA leave.  

 
Certification  

The employer shall require that an employee’s request for leave be supported by written 
certification from the Armed Forces regarding the medical condition of the service member.  
The employer shall follow the Department of Labor’s guidelines regarding such certifications.  
When such certification is required by the employer, such requirement shall be submitted to the 
employee in writing.  In addition, the employee will be required to certify the care he/she will 
provide the service member and the estimated duration of the period of care.  

If additional leave is requested upon expiration of the leave granted, or should circumstances of 
the leave change, the employer may, at its discretion, require the employee to obtain 
recertification.  Such requests for subsequent recertification shall be in writing.  The certification 
or recertification requirements for this leave are the same as the requirements for FMLA leave.  

  

406-11 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Reinstatement After Leave Ends  

An employee who has been granted this type of leave shall be returned to the same or an 
equivalent position when the need for the leave or the leave period ends.  The rules regarding 
reinstatement are the same as those for reinstatement after a FMLA leave.  

Use of Accrued Paid Leave  

The “use of accrued paid leave” rules for this leave are the same as those for FMLA leave.  

Continuation of Health Benefits  

This leave qualifies as leave under the FMLA and the rules for continuation of health benefits 
are the same as those for FMLA leave, i.e., the employee shall be entitled, if eligible, 
to continue participation in health plan coverage (medical, dental and optical) as if on 
pay status for a period of up to 12 workweeks in the leave year.  However, an 
employee who exhausts his or her entitlement to health plan coverage while on this 
leave shall not be entitled to any additional 12 workweeks of health plan coverage 
under the FMLA. Other group insurance coverage and retirement benefits shall be 
continued in accordance with the provisions of the applicable group insurance and 
retirement system regulations.  

406.62  “Qualifying Exigency” Leave Relating to a Family Member’s Military 
Service  

An employee may take FMLA leave to attend to any “qualifying exigency” arising out of the fact 
that the spouse, son, daughter or parent of the employee is on active military duty or has been 
notified of an impending call or order to active military duty in the Armed Forces.  

“Qualifying Exigency” 

The following are general categories of qualifying exigencies:  

(a) Short-notice deployment – to address any issue that arises due to a covered 
military member being notified of an impending call to active duty seven or less 
calendar days prior to the date of deployment.  

(b) Military events and related activities - to attend any official ceremony, program, 
or event sponsored by the military and to attend family support and assistance 
programs and informational briefings sponsored or promoted by the military, 
military service organizations, or the American Red Cross that are related to the 
active duty or call to active duty status of a covered military member.  

(c) Childcare and school activities - to arrange childcare or attend certain school 
activities for a child of the covered military member, who is either under age 18, 
or age 18 or older and incapable of self-care.  This leave may be taken to arrange 
for alternative childcare, to provide urgent, immediate, non-routine childcare, to 
enroll the child in a new school or day care facility, or to attend meetings with 

406-12 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

staff at a school or a day care facility (e.g., disciplinary meetings, parent-teacher 
conferences, meetings with school counselors).  

(d) Financial and legal arrangements - to make financial or legal arrangements to 
address the covered military member’s absence while on active duty or call to 
active duty status, such as preparing and executing financial and healthcare 
powers of attorney, transferring bank account signature authority,  obtaining 
military identification cards, or preparing or updating a will or living trust.  The 
leave can also be used for acting as the military member’s representative for 
purposes of obtaining, arranging, or appealing military service benefits while the 
covered military member is on active duty or call to active duty status, and for 
the 90 days after the termination of the covered military member’s active duty 
status.  

(e) Counseling - to attend counseling provided by someone other than a healthcare 
provider for oneself, for the covered military member, or for the child of the 
covered military member who is either under the age of 18 or age 18 or older 
and incapable of self-care, provided that the need for counseling arises from the 
active duty or call to active duty status of a covered military member.  

(f) Rest and recuperation - to spend time with a covered military member who is 
on short-term, temporary rest and recuperation leave during the period of 
deployment. Eligible employees may take up to five days of leave for each 
instance of rest and recuperation.  

(g) Post-Deployment activities - to attend arrival ceremonies, reintegration briefings 
and events, and any other official ceremony or program sponsored by the 
military for a period of 90 days following the termination of the covered military 
member’s active duty and to address issues that arise from the death of a 
covered military member while on active duty status, such as meeting and 
recovering the body of the covered military member and making funeral 
arrangements.  

(h) Additional activities - to address other events which arise out of the covered 
military member’s active duty or call to active duty status provided that the em-
ployer and employee agree that such leave shall qualify as an exigency, and agree 
to both the timing and duration of such leave.  

Eligibility Criteria  

To be eligible for such leave, an employee must satisfy all of the following criteria:  

(a) Be a spouse, son, daughter or parent of a covered service member; and  

(b) Have worked at least one year of employer service and have worked at least 
1,250 hours of actual hours worked during the 12-month period immediately 
preceding the commencement of the leave.  (This length of service requirement 
is the same as for FMLA leave).  

406-13 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Length of Leave Permitted  

Upon receipt of the written request for leave of this type, the employer, in its sole discretion, 
shall determine the length of leave permitted for the individual employee up to a maximum of 
twelve workweeks in a 12-month period.  The employer may require additional information 
from the employee to aid in the determination of the length of leave permitted.  The employer 
shall notify the employee in writing regarding the length of leave permitted.  

Leave may be taken on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis.  

Certification Required  

The employer may require the employee to provide a copy of the covered military member’s 
active duty orders, and may require the employee to provide a certification describing the facts 
regarding the qualifying exigency for which the leave is requested, the beginning and end dates 
of the qualifying exigency, and other relevant information.  Upon receipt of this information, the 
employer will notify the employee whether the request for leave is granted, or whether more 
information is needed before the request is granted.  

Use of Accrued Paid Leave  

The “use of accrued paid leave” rules for this leave are the same as those for FMLA leave.  

Continuation of Health Benefits  

The rules for continuation of health benefits are the same as those for FMLA leave, i.e., the 
employee shall be entitled, if eligible, to continue participation in health plan coverage (medical, 
dental and optical) as if on pay status for a period of up to 12 workweeks in the leave year.  

 
406.63  Leave During Family Member’s Military Leave  

This leave is provided in compliance with California Military & Veterans Code section 395.10. 
This leave allows an employee who is a spouse of a member of the Armed Forces, National 
Guard, or Reserves up to ten (10) days unpaid leave during a qualified leave period when the 
employee’s spouse or domestic partner is home on leave from a period of military conflict.  

Eligibility Criteria  

To be eligible for such leave, an employee must satisfy all of the following criteria:  

(a)  Be a spouse of a “qualified member” (defined below);  

(b) Perform services for the employer for an average of 20 or more hours per 
 week;  

(c) Provide the employer with notice, within two business days of receiving 
 official notice that the qualified member will be on leave from deployment, of 
 the employee’s intention to take the leave; and  

406-14 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

(d) Submit written documentation to the employer certifying that the qualified 
 member will be on “qualified leave” (defined below) from deployment during 
 the entire period of the leave requested by the employee.  

Definitions  

“Qualified member” means a person who is any of the following:  

(a) A member of the Armed Forces of the United States who has been deployed 
during a period of military conflict to an area designated as a combat theater or 
combat zone by the President of the United States;  

(b) A member of the National Guard or Reserves who has been deployed during a 
period of military conflict.  

(c) A member of the Reserves who has been deployed during a period of military 
conflict. 

“Period of military conflict” means either of the following:  

(a) A period of war declared by the United States Congress, or  

(b) A period of deployment for which a member of a reserve component is ordered 
to active duty, as defined in Military & Veterans Code section 395.10.  

“Qualified leave” means the period during which the qualified member is on leave from 
deployment during a period of military conflict.  

Length of Leave Permitted  

An eligible employee shall be entitled to up to a maximum of ten (10) days of unpaid leave 
during a “qualified leave period” (defined above).  

Use of Accrued Paid Leave  

The “use of accrued paid leave” rules for this leave are the same as those for FMLA.  

406.7 Bereavement Leave  

It is the policy of the Agency to provide regular and probationary employees with a leave of 
absence with pay for twenty-four hours in the event of a death in the employee’s family.  Sixteen 
hours additional leave, chargeable to sick leave, may be granted an employee by the General 
Manager when necessary.  For the purpose of this section, family is defined as: spouse, domestic 
partner, parent, parent-in-law, foster parent, child, stepchild, brother, sister, half-brother or half-
sister, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent, grandparent-in-law, 
grandchild, or more distant relative if residing in the household of the employee.  Consistent 
with the operational needs of the Agency, an employee may be granted paid leave, not to exceed 
one day (8 hours), to attend the funeral of a person the employee may be deemed to owe 
respect.  

406-15 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 
406.8 Jury Duty and Subpoena  

Employees required to serve on jury duty will be granted a leave of absence with pay from their 
assigned duties until released by the court.  To be eligible for full base pay the employee must 
remit to the Agency all fees received from such duties, other than mileage or subsistence 
allowed, or if fees are not received from such duties written proof of service is required, within 
five days following the service of jury duty to payroll. 

In those instances where employees are witnesses on behalf of, or at the request of the Agency 
in any court proceeding, or who are subpoenaed in any court proceeding by a third party to 
appear on behalf of or in support of the Agency, they shall be entitled to leave with pay for 
those hours reasonably necessary to serve as a witness, provided the employee remits to the 
Agency all fees received from such duties, other than mileage or subsistence, or proof of service 
within five days from the time the employee appears as a witness.  

In all other court matters, the employee must obtain approval from the Agency before taking 
time off.  “Court” is defined as the judicial branch of government which is responsible for the 
resolution of disputes arising under the laws of the government.  Such time off will be treated as 
leave without pay or vacation if the employee has accrued vacation time available.  

 
406.9 Military Leave  

Military leave shall be granted as provided by applicable federal and state law.  Employees on 
military leave shall accrue sick leave, vacation, and seniority for the first 180 days of military 
duty, in accordance with state law.  After the first 180 days of military duty, employees shall not 
continue to accrue such benefits unless otherwise expressly provided by Agency policy.  

Leave for Military Spouses  

In accordance with California law, an employee who (i) is employed more than 20 hours a week, 
(ii) is the spouse of a member of the Armed Forces of the United States of America on active 
duty or the spouse of a Reservist or member of the National Guard who has been called to 
active duty; (iii) and whose spouse has been deployed during a period of military conflict, is 
eligible for up to ten (10) days of unpaid leave during any period the employee's spouse is on a 
qualified leave from his/her deployment. 

Employees seeking such leave must provide his/her immediate supervisor with written notice of 
his/her intention to take such leave within two (2) business days of receiving notice that his/her 
spouse will be on a qualified leave from deployment. 

Employees may elect to use accrued and unused Vacation Pay in lieu of taking the leave unpaid. 

Civil Air Patrol Leave 

An employee who has been employed by the Agency for at least ninety (90) days, and who is a 
volunteer member of the California wing of the Civil Air Patrol, is permitted up to a total of ten 
(10) days of unpaid leave in a calendar year for purposes of responding to an emergency 

406-16 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

operational mission of the California wing of the Civil Air Patrol.  Leave for purposes of 
responding to an emergency operational mission of the California wing of the Civil Air Patrol 
shall be limited to three (3) days for any single mission unless an extension of time is granted by 
the governmental entity that authorized the emergency operational mission, and the extension of 
the leave is approved by the Company. 

An employee seeking to take leave for this purpose shall provide as much advance notice as 
possible regarding the beginning and ending dates of the emergency operational mission.   

The Agency will require employees taking leave for this purpose to provide certification from 
the proper Civil Air Patrol authority to verify the eligibility of the employee for the leave 
requested or taken.  The Agency may deny the employee eligibility for Civil Air Patrol leave 
unless such certification is provided. 

 
406.10 Time Off to Vote  

Time off with pay to vote in any general or direct primary election will be granted as provided 
by state law.  Employees must give prior notice to their immediate supervisor of their need to 
take such time off to vote, in accordance with state law.  

 
406.11 Authorized Leave of Absence  

A regular employee may be allowed leave of absence without pay for emergency, substantial 
personal; or other reasons that are required by law.  Any leave of absence requested must be 
recommended by the appointing authority and approved by the General Manager or his 
designee and such approval shall be based on the nature of the emergency, the estimated length 
of the leave and the staffing needs of the Agency.  

 

406.12 Pregnancy Disability Leave  
 
The Agency will provide pregnancy disability leave to eligible employees in accordance with 
applicable law.  An employee who is disabled by pregnancy may take a maximum of four (4) 
months off work for pregnancy disability, childbirth, or related medical conditions.  The 
employee also may be eligible for intermittent leave or a reduced work schedule during her 
pregnancy if medically necessary.  Employees must notify their Manager of any medical 
restrictions caused by the pregnancy.  The Agency may require that the employee provide a 
medical certification indicating there is a medical need for the employee to take the time off or 
receive accommodation while continuing to work.  Pregnancy disability leave qualifies for leave 
under the FMLA but not under CFRA.  During pregnancy disability leave, employees are 
entitled to FMLA benefits in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave policy.  

The employee must provide a written request for pregnancy disability leave to her Manager 30 
days prior to the beginning of the leave period, whenever possible.  The request for leave should 
indicate the intended date the leave will begin and estimated date of return to work.  Managers 
should forward these requests to the Human Resources department for approval.  

406-17 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 
406.13 Parents’ Leave to Participate in School Activities  

In accordance with state law, employees who are parents, guardians or grandparents of children 
in kindergarten through grade 12 may take up to forty (40) hours per year, not exceeding eight 
(8) hours in a month to participate in the child’s school activities.  Employees may use unpaid 
(leave) or paid leave such as vacation for this purpose.  Employees must request leave with the 
Manager in advance and may be required to use accrued paid leave.  In addition, employees are 
entitled to use leave to appear at the school of his/her child or child of a domestic partner if 
requested to do so by a school administrator to address matters of pupil discipline. 

 
406.14 Administrative Leave  

An employee whose work conduct is being investigated or who is given written notice of a 
proposed disciplinary action may be suspended with pay or temporarily reassigned without loss 
of pay for the period during which the investigation is pending or between the date notice of 
proposed disciplinary action is given and the date that disciplinary action is imposed.  

 
406.15 Organ or Bone Marrow Donation Leave 

Employees are entitled to up to thirty (30) business days of paid leave during any twelve (12) 
month period for purposes of organ donation and up to five (5) business days of leave during 
any twelve month period for purposes of bone marrow donation.  

The twelve (12) month period during which your leave entitlement is measured shall be 
measured from the first day of your leave for one of the above purposes commences. 

In order to take leave for one of the above purposes, you must provide the Agency with a 
written verification that you are an organ or bone marrow donor and that you are taking leave 
for the purpose of providing a medically necessary organ or bone marrow donation. 

Leave taken for one of the above purposes shall not be considered a break in service for 
purposes of accruing such things as vacation or sick leave and shall be considered continuous 
service of purposes of any salary adjustments to which you may be entitled. 

As a condition for taking leave under this section, you will be required to use up to five (5) days 
of accrued vacation or sick leave for leave taken for the purpose of providing a bone marrow 
donation and up to two weeks of accrued vacation or sick leave for leave taken for the purpose 
of providing an organ donation.   

Leave taken under this section shall not count against your FMLA or CFRA leave entitlement. 

 

406-18 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

406.16 Leave for Duties or Training as a Volunteer Firefighter, Reserve Peace 
 Officer, or Emergency Rescue Personnel 

If an employee is serving as a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue 
personnel, the employee may take unpaid leave to perform emergency duties connected with any 
of those positions. 

In addition, an employee serving in any of the above roles may take up to fourteen (14) days of 
unpaid leave during any calendar year for the purpose of engaging in fire, law enforcement, or 
emergency rescue training. 

An employee taking leave under this section, may utilize sick or vacation leave benefits during 
the duration of the leave in lieu of taking unpaid leave. 

 
406.17 Victim of Domestic Violence Leave 

If an employee is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault or stalking, the employee may 
take time off from work to ensure the health, safety or welfare of the employee or the 
employee’s child. This includes, but is not limited to: 

 time off to seek a temporary restraining order, restraining order, or other injunctive 
relief 

 time off for court proceedings; services from a domestic violence shelter, program or 
rape crisis center; counseling; medical attention; or participation in safety planning 
programs.  

To take domestic violence leave, employee must provide the Agency with advance notice of the 
need for the leave.  If the absence is due to an emergency, the employee must provide the 
Agency with proof of the need for the leave within a reasonable time after the absence. 
Acceptable forms of proof include: 

 a police report 

 a court order 

 documentation from a healthcare provider, victim's advocate, or counselor 

To the extent possible under the law, the Agency will maintain the confidentiality of the 
employee’s request for leave. 

Employees may elect to use paid leave benefits in lieu of taking unpaid leave under this section. 

406.18 Victim of Crime Leave 

Employees who are victims of violent felony, serious felony or a felony involving theft or 
embezzlement are eligible for unpaid leave to attend judicial proceedings related to the 

406-19 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

prosecution of the crime committed.  Employees whose spouse, child, stepchild, brother, 
stepbrother, sister, stepsister, mother, stepmother, father, stepfather, registered domestic 
partner, or registered domestic partner’s child is a victim of a violent felony, serious felony or a 
felony involving theft or embezzlement are also eligible for unpaid leave to attend judicial 
proceedings related to the prosecution of the crime committed. 

Employees who are victims of violent felony, serious felony or a felony involving theft or 
embezzlement are eligible for unpaid leave to attend judicial proceedings related to the 
prosecution of the crime committed.  Employees whose spouse, child, stepchild, brother, 
stepbrother, sister, stepsister, mother, stepmother, father, stepfather, registered domestic 
partner, or registered domestic partner’s child is a victim of a violent felony, serious felony or a 
felony involving theft or embezzlement are also eligible for unpaid leave to attend judicial 
proceedings related to the prosecution of the crime committed. Prior to their absence, 
employees should give their supervisors the notice of each scheduled proceeding that is 
provided to the victim by the agency responsible for providing notice prior to the absence.  
When prior notice is not feasible or an unscheduled absence occurs, employees must provide 
documentation within a reasonable time after the absence.  Documentation evidencing the 
judicial proceeding may come from any of the following entities: 

 The court of government agency setting the hearing. 

 The district attorney or prosecuting attorney’s office. 

 The victim/witness office that is advocating on behalf of the victim. 

An employee who is absent from work for a judicial proceeding may elect to use their accrued 
and unused vacation time or unpaid personal leave. 

The Agency will, to the extent required by law, maintain the confidentiality of an employee 
requesting leave under this provision. 

  

406-20 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

407. EMPLOYEE CONDUCT 

407.1 Code of Ethics  

Officers, employees, and agents of NCPA will conduct themselves in a manner consistent with 
sound business and ethical practices.  The public interest is paramount in all official actions; 
even the appearance of impropriety should be avoided to ensure and maintain public 
confidence.  Decision-making must be in all respects fair, independent, and impartial.   

 
407.2 Confidentiality of Information  

It is the policy of the Agency to closely protect information that may be of competitive interest 
to organizations or individuals.  Employees are urged to protect confidential information that 
they have access to (for more information see the Information Services procedures).  Some of 
the information must be held confidential due to competitive concerns while other areas have 
legal requirements.  

Examples of confidential Agency information includes:  

 Personal information concerning Agency employees such as discipline or medical   data  

 Agency or member financial information  

 Plans regarding potential or actual mergers, acquisitions or expansions  

 Technical information about specific plants, equipment or methods of operation  

 Communications regarding staffing plans or legal actions  

To ensure the confidentiality and proper use of Agency information, employees agree to comply 
with all Agency IT policies, including but not limited to, the Appropriate Computer Use Policy, 
Cyber Security Policy, Social Media Policy, Password Policy, NCPA Intranet Governance Policy, 
and other role-dependent policies such as the Mobile Device Policy or Remote Access 
Authorization Policy.  These policies are available on the NCPA Wire. 

 
407.3 Conflict of Interest and Outside Employment  

NCPA employees shall not engage in any outside work that will create the appearance and/or 
existence of a conflict of interest or constitute incompatible activities with their Agency position 
or impede the performance of their duties as an Agency employee. No employee shall use for 
private gain or advantage the Agency’s time, facilities, equipment, money, materials or the 
prestige and influence of their position.  

No employee shall accept or receive any consideration or compensation for an act that they 
would be required or expected to perform as a part of their duties as an Agency employee.  

407-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Employees shall notify and request approval from their appointing authority in writing in 
.advance of beginning outside employment which may present a potential conflict with the 
duties of their position or their ability to perform those duties. Failure to obtain advance written 
approval may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

 
407.4 Gifts  

Employees or family members shall not accept gifts of cash payments, gift certificates, or credit 
arrangements of any kind or amount from individuals or companies doing or seeking to do 
business with NCPA.  

An employee or family member may not accept non-cash gifts, including entertainment, travel, 
or other gratuities or services from individuals or companies doing or seeking to do business 
with NCPA, unless the transaction meets all the following requirements: 

 It is in keeping with good business ethics  

 It is customary and proper under the circumstances and gives no appearance of 
impropriety  

 It services a valid Agency business purpose  

 It does not impose any sense of obligation on the recipient to the donor  

 It does not result in any kind of special or favored treatment for the donor  

 It cannot be viewed as extravagant, excessive, or too frequent considering all the 
circumstances, and the total value is no more than the current Fair Political Practices 
Commission gift limit (see www.fppc.ca.gov). 

 

407.5 Statement of Economic Interest  

Any employee, Commission member or other official who manages Agency investments as 
described in Government Code Section 87200 et seq., shall file annual Statements of Economic 
Interest in accordance with State law.  

 
407.6 Dress Code  

It is the Policy of the Agency that its employees use good judgment and dress in a manner that 
is appropriate to their job function, location, and hours of work.  All employees are expected to 
maintain their clothing to generally acceptable standards of neatness, safety, cleanliness, and 
professionalism, and Managers are responsible for ensuring appropriate attire is worn by their 
employees.  For example, appropriate clothing for plant operations would not normally include 
a suit and tie nor shorts.  Likewise, for staff that may be in contact with the public or 
Commission members, shorts or flip flops would not normally be appropriate.  

407-2 

http://www.fppc.ca.gov/


PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

407.7 Drug-Free Workplace Policy  

 
The Federal Drug-Free Work Place Act of 1988 requires employees to be notified that the 
manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a controlled substance on Agency 
property or time is prohibited.  Any violation of this policy will result in disciplinary action, up 
to and including termination.  Agency employees engaged in Agency work funded by a federal 
grant must report to his or her Manager any conviction of any federal or state criminal drug 
statute for a violation occurring in the Agency work place or on Agency time no later than five 
(5) calendar days after such conviction.  The Manager shall report the conviction to the Human 
Resources Manager.  If any employee engaged in work funded by a federal grant is so convicted, 
the Agency is required by federal law to report the conviction to the granting Agency.  Please 
see the related Procedure on Drug and Alcohol Abuse.  

 
407.8 Political Activities Policy  

Agency officers and employees are prohibited from participating in political campaigning while 
on Agency time, including the distribution of campaign literature either during work hours or on 
the Agency premises.  

This prohibition includes the use of and/or displaying of campaign materials on Agency 
property, including walls, bulletin boards, doors and Agency-owned vehicles.  Likewise, any 
Agency officer or employee is prohibited from participating in any political activities while in 
Agency uniform, either on or off the job.  

This prohibition does not include private vehicles used in the course and scope of employment, 
the wearing of campaign buttons on personal clothing during working hours if the employee is 
not wearing an Agency uniform, or displaying campaign material on bulletin boards designated 
for use by an employee organization.  

 
407.9 Grievances  

The Agency and its employees have a mutual interest and obligation to attempt to settle work-
related grievances as fairly and promptly as possible.  

A grievance is defined as a dispute or complaint regarding the application or interpretation of a 
written Agency rule, policy or procedure relating to an employee’s wages, hours or conditions of 
employment, but not related to disciplinary action against an employee.  

This grievance procedure is intended to provide an informal avenue for redress of grievances (as 
defined above) of complaints relating to the policies expressed in this manual, and to give the 
Agency an opportunity to investigate the complaint and correct any problems before they 
become more serious.  However, this grievance procedure may not be used for any of the 
following: to change wages, hours or working conditions; or to challenge the content of 
employee evaluations or discipline.  

407-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Only full-time regular, non-union employees who have completed probation have access to this 
grievance procedure.  At will and provisional employees do not have access to this procedure.  
Part- time, limited term, seasonal and temporary employees may utilize this procedure up to the 
Human Resources Manager level only.  For those employees, the Human Resources Manager’s 
decision regarding the grievance shall be final and binding.   

Every effort should be made to resolve a grievance at the point the grievance arose, through 
informal discussion between the grievant and his/her Manager.  

If the employee is not satisfied with resolution of the matter after speaking with his/her 
Manager, the employee may present a formal written grievance form to the Human Resources 
Manager with a copy to their Manager.  The written grievance must be presented within fifteen 
(15) calendar days of the facts giving rise to the appeal.  However, this time limit may be waived 
if agreed to by the Agency.  The Human Resources Manager may, in his or her discretion, 
submit the grievance for response as the first step to a directly involved Manager or other 
department representative.  

Grievance appeals must be in writing, signed by the affected employee(s) and allege that the 
Agency has violated a specific provision of the policies expressed in this manual.  Grievances 
must contain the specific facts upon which they are based.  Grievances that fail to include these 
elements may be rejected on that basis.  

The Human Resources Manager or designee will review the grievance and shall serve notice of a 
written response within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the grievance.  

If the grievant is dissatisfied with the Agency’s first response, the grievant may submit a written 
appeal to the General Manager.  The appeal must be received by the General Manager within 
fifteen (15) calendar days of the Human Resources Manager’s response.  

The General Manager, or designee, will review the appeal and shall serve notice of a written 
response within fifteen (15) calendar days of receipt of the appeal.  The General Manager’s 
decision shall be final.  

No other grievance or appeal procedure may be used for matters within the scope of this 
grievance procedure.  Union employees should refer to their MOU for their grievance 
procedure.  

 
407.10 Employee Solicitation, Organization and Distribution  

Employee solicitation, organization, and distribution are permitted only at those times and in 
those areas that are compatible with the efficient and orderly operation of the Agency.  
Managers and supervisors at each NCPA facility are responsible for administering and enforcing 
this policy. 

NCPA limits direct solicitation, organization, and distribution of literature in work areas.  An 
employee may “directly” solicit other employees in non-work areas (e.g. break rooms, lunch 
areas, etc.).  “Passive” solicitation by the placement of a collection box or envelope for 
approved charities or gift giving in appropriate public areas is permissible, with prior approval of 

407-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

the General Manager or Human Resources Manager.  “Passive” distribution of literature by 
employees announcing times and dates that products, services or collections will occur may be 
posted on the “Employee Bulletin Board” at each location.  Solicitation, organization or 
distribution by employees or non-employees by e-mail are not permitted.  Exceptions to this 
policy may include charity drives such as the United Way and Blood Drives, collections for 
retirement/shower gifts, donations to assist fellow employees, etc. that are pre-approved by the 
General Manager or Human Resources Manager.  Employees with questions about this policy 
should contact Human Resources. 

Definitions: 

1. Solicitation and organization is any activity conducted for the purpose of 
advertising, promoting or selling any product or service or encouraging 
membership in any group, association or organization. 

2. Distribution includes but is not limited to giving out posters, brochures, badges, 
buttons, information pamphlets, etc. to employees.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

407-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

408. SAFETY 

NCPA is dedicated to providing a healthy, comfortable, and productive environment for the 
public and its employees.  The purpose of these policies is to ensure compliance with health and 
safety laws and regulations and to promote health and safety among its employees.   

Responsibility/Action  

Employees are required, as a condition of employment, to exercise due care in the course of 
their work to prevent injuries to themselves, other employees, the public, and damage to Agency 
property.  

Assistant General Managers/Managers are responsible for ensuring that new employees receive 
a Safety Orientation and that each new employee has signed a receipt for the “NCPA Employee 
Safety Program Manual(s)”.  This form is contained in the Employee Health and Safety Program 
Manual.  

The Human Resources Manager is responsible for ensuring that such signed “Verification” is on 
file with the Agency.   

 
408.1 Workers’ Compensation  

Workers’ Compensation Insurance is provided for all employees.  Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance is intended to provide medical treatment to heal illness or injury caused by work, tax-
free payments to replace a portion of lost wages while the employee is temporarily disabled, and 
rehabilitation services necessary to get the employee back to work.  

Because Workers’ Compensation rules and regulations are dictated by legislation and are subject 
to change from time to time, information concerning details of the program is available through 
Human Resources.  

The Agency offers a supplemental Workers’ Compensation payment program for up to the first 
year following an industrial accident or illness.  This supplemental program is coordinated with 
the employees’ other Agency benefits.  Details of this program are also available through 
Human Resources.  

Service  

Any period of time during which an employee is absent without pay due to an injury or illness 
compensable under Workers’ Compensation Insurance will not be considered a break in 
continuous service for purposes of eligibility for salary increases, sick leave and vacation.  

An employee who is absent from work because of a work-connected injury or illness that is 
compensable under Workers’ Compensation shall be eligible for supplemental sick leave, 
disability leave and vacation as follows:  

408-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Accumulated sick leave and vacation credits may be used on a supplemental basis to provide 
payments in an amount equal to the difference between payments under Workers’ 
Compensation and the employee’s base salary rate.  

Employees must return to work when his/her physician or a NCPA appointed physician 
determines that the employee is able to resume normal duties.  If an employee fails to return to 
work in such instance, the employee will be considered absent without leave and subject to 
discharge.  

Fitness for Duty: When an employee seeks to return to work after being on an illness or injury 
leave, the employee must provide medical certification that he/she is physically able to perform 
the duties of his/her position.  The Agency may require the employee to undergo a fitness for 
duty examination before returning to work.  If the employee is not fit to perform his/her duties, 
the Agency may consider placing the employee in another position, seek the employee’s 
retirement or separate the employee in accordance with applicable law.  

Accommodation for Employees with Disabilities:  If an employee believes he or she has a 
disability, the employee may request a reasonable accommodation for that disability.  Such 
requests should be submitted to the employee’s department Manager or Human Resources 
Manager.  The Human Resources Manager, or designee, will engage in an interactive process 
with the employee to determine an appropriate accommodation for the employee in accordance 
with applicable law. 

408.2 Light Duty Work  

At the sole discretion of the Agency, and with proper medical approval, an employee may be 
allowed to return to work on a light duty basis, if such light duty position is available and does 
not pose undue hardship to Agency operations.  A light duty position is a temporary 
accommodation due to an employee’s illness or injury, and the light duty position may be 
terminated at any time within the Agency’s discretion.  For accommodation of disabilities the 
Agency complies with applicable law.  

 
408.3 Smoking Policy  

NCPA is dedicated to providing a healthy, comfortable, and productive environment for the 
public and its employees.  This section contains rules about smoking on Agency-owned or 
Agency-leased property and Agency vehicles.  Its intent is to protect air quality and contribute to 
public health, safety, and wellbeing by striking a reasonable balance between the desires of 
smokers and non-smokers.  It requires thoughtfulness, consideration, and cooperation between 
smokers and non-smokers.  All persons share the responsibility for adhering to, and enforcing, 
these requirements.  The provisions of this section shall be broadly construed to protect the 
rights of the non-smoker.  This section provides as follows:  

Smoking is only allowed in designated smoking areas.  It is applicable both to employees and 
general public.  

408-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Designation of Smoking Areas  

Buildings: Smoking is prohibited in any Agency-owned or Agency-leased building and in 
certain outside areas in accordance with the applicable laws or regulations.  

Vehicles:  Smoking is prohibited in any Agency-owned or Agency-leased vehicle.  

408.4 Workplace Violence  

It is the policy of the Agency not to tolerate violence or the threat of violence to any individual 
or facility within its premises.  

Weapons  

Weapons such as firearms, explosives, and knives or swords with blades longer than four (4) 
inches are not permitted on the premises, within Agency parking lots or within Agency-leased or 
owned vehicles.  

Threats  

Any threat of violence involving any employee or Agency facility must be reported by 
employees who witness the incident to the Manager or Assistant General Manager immediately.  

Acts of Violence  

If a violent workplace incident takes place, whether or not a physical injury results, an “Incident 
Report Form” must be completed and filed by the involved employee’s immediate supervisor 
(or by an employee who witnessed the incident) with a copy to the Human Resources Manager.  
A team will be assigned to investigate the incident and recommend appropriate corrective 
action.  See the Agency’s procedure regarding Violence in the Workplace for more details.  

 
408.5 Communicable Disease Control  

The Agency recognizes that employees may be exposed to communicable diseases in the 
workplace or while traveling.  Such diseases are capable of being transmitted to other individuals 
in various ways and include but are not limited to:  influenza, tuberculosis, severe acute 
respiratory syndrome (SARS), etc.  Exposure to and the risks of communicable diseases vary 
widely.  

Travel Alerts and Advisories:  Before traveling, it is recommended that employees check the 
United States Department of Health and Human Services’ Center for Disease Control and 
Prevention (“CDC”) website for travel alerts or advisories regarding the potential for exposure 
to various diseases.  If the CDC issues a travel advisory for an area to which an employee is 
scheduled for business travel, the employee is to discuss with his or her supervisor whether to 
postpone or cancel the trip and use an alternative method of communication, such as a 
teleconference.  

408-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Workplace Health and Safety Standards:  Employees are expected to comply with all health 
and safety standards, especially when there is an outbreak of a communicable disease in the 
workplace or when they have one.  For example, it is strongly recommended that employee’s 
sick with the flu remain at home to reduce exposing others at work.  Employees are to wash 
their hands regularly and cover their mouths when sneezing or coughing.  

Reporting Communicable Diseases:  Employees diagnosed with a communicable disease are 
expected to follow the instructions of their healthcare providers and inform their supervisor or 
Human Resources about their infection when directed to do so by their physician or public 
health officials.  The Agency will report communicable diseases as required by law to local 
health officials, the workers’ compensation carrier and the like.  Employees and supervisors 
should contact Human Resources if they believe that they or any other employee needs 
information about an illness or concerns arise about the possible contagious nature of an 
employee’s illness.  

Confidentiality: An employee’s medical condition is confidential, and information about an 
employee’s health is to be provided only to those persons with a need to know about it. If an 
employee wishes to release information about his or her own health, he or she should advise the 
Human Resources Manager.  The Agency will maintain procedural safeguards with the objective 
of protecting the privacy of persons living with a communicable disease.  The Agency will not 
disclose the identity of any employee who has a communicable disease, except as authorized by 
law, when necessary for the administration of this policy, or pursuant to CDC guidelines.  In 
general, it is recommended that no specified or detailed information concerning an employee’s 
complaint or diagnosis of a communicable disease be provided to any other employee without 
the express consent of the patient.  

Reports from Health Providers:  The supervisor and Human Resources Manager, and if 
appropriate, a consulting physician will determine if a statement should be obtained from the 
employee’s attending physician that the employee’s continued presence at work will pose no 
significant risk of harm to the employee, co-workers, or customers.  

Fitness for Duty: The Agency has the right to require that the employee be released by his or 
her physician before returning to work.  The Agency also has the right to require an employee to 
undergo a medical examination to determine his or her fitness for duty.  

Accommodations: The Agency will accommodate employees with communicable diseases 
consistent with the business needs of the Agency and applicable law.  Factors to be considered 
include but are not limited to the risk to the employee and others, and possible methods of 
accommodation.  

Leaves:  Employees with communicable diseases may have rights for leave under the Family 
and Medical Leave Act or the California Family Rights Act or the Agency’s medical leave policy.  

Workers’ Compensation:  If a communicable illness is work related, the employee must report 
it immediately in accordance with Agency policy.   

  

408-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 409. NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT 

 

409.1 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy  

It is the policy of NCPA to provide equal employment opportunity to all employees and 
applicants for employment, and to prohibit discrimination based on race, color, sex, gender, 
gender identity and gender expression, genetic information, sexual orientation, religion, national 
origin, ancestry, age, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital status, veteran’s 
status, and any other characteristic protected by law in recruitment, hiring, promotions, 
transfers, training, compensation, benefits, layoffs, recalls from layoffs,  termination, and any 
and all other terms and conditions of employment.  

The purpose of this policy is:  

1. To reaffirm the Agency’s commitment to prohibit and prevent unlawful 
discrimination (including harassment) in all workplaces of the Agency;  

2. To define discrimination and harassment prohibited under this policy;  

3. To set forth a procedure for resolving complaints of prohibited discrimination 
and harassment.  

The Agency is committed to providing a work environment that is free from unlawful 
harassment and discrimination, including sexual harassment and harassment based on race, 
color, sex, gender, gender identity and gender expression, genetic information, sexual 
orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, physical or mental disability, medical 
condition, marital status, veteran’s status, or any other characteristic prohibited by state or 
federal law.  

The Agency strongly disapproves of, and will not tolerate, harassment or discrimination against 
Agency employees or applicants by elected or appointed officials, Managers, supervisors or 
coworkers.  The Agency also strongly disapproves of unlawful harassment of Agency employees 
by persons with whom the Agency has a business, service or professional relationship.  

Discrimination, including but not limited to harassment, is considered misconduct and will not 
be tolerated. Employees who violate this policy and engage in acts of discrimination or 
harassment of any type, for any duration, shall be subject to severe disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination.  

Retaliation against individuals who complain of any type of prohibited discrimination or 
harassment or who participate in an investigation into sexual harassment or discrimination will 
not be tolerated. Employees who engage in such acts of retaliation shall be subject to serious 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

 

409-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

409.2 Definitions  

Prohibited discrimination and harassment for purposes of this policy, includes but is not limited 
to:  

1. Speech: Such as epithets, derogatory comments or slurs, and lewd propositions 
on the basis of race, color, sex, gender, gender identity and gender expression, 
genetic information, sexual orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, 
physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital status, and any other 
category protected by law.  This includes, without limitation, inappropriate sex-
oriented comments regarding an individual’s appearance, including dress or 
physical features, inappropriate comments of a sexual nature, or race or 
ethnicity-oriented stories and jokes.  

2. Physical Acts: Such as assault, impeding or blocking movement, offensive 
touching, or physical interference with normal work or movement when 
directed at an individual on the basis of race, color, sex, gender, gender identity 
and gender expression, genetic information, sexual orientation, religion, national 
origin, ancestry, age, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital 
status, and any other category protected by law.  This includes pinching, 
grabbing, patting, propositioning, leering, or making explicit or implied threats 
or promises in return for submission to physical acts.  

3. Visual Insult: Such as derogatory pictures, posters, cartoons, or drawings related 
to race, color, sex, gender, gender identity and gender expression, genetic 
information, sexual orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, physical 
or mental disability, medical condition, marital status, and any other category 
protected by law .  This includes, without limitation, sending inappropriate 
emails of a sexual nature to employees, or viewing pornography either in 
magazines or on the internet in view of other employees, displaying pictures or 
objects depicting nude, partially nude, or suggestively posed men or women; 
circulating derogatory or obscene notes, letters, emails or other literature.  

4. Retaliation:  Adverse employment actions carried out in retaliation for good 
faith submission of discrimination or harassment charges, or good faith 
participation in an investigation made pursuant to this policy.  

Adverse employment actions carried out on account of race, color, sex, gender, gender identity 
and gender expression, genetic information, sexual orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, 
age, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital status, veteran’s status, and any 
other category protected by law.  

Harassment on the basis of race, color, sex, gender, gender identity and gender expression, 
genetic information, sexual orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, physical or mental 
disability, medical condition, marital status, veteran’s status, and any other category protected by 
law is prohibited. Verbal or physical conduct relating to these categories constitutes harassment 
when it:  

409-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

1. Has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive 
working environment;  

2. Has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual’s work 
performance; or  

3. Otherwise adversely affects an individual’s employment opportunities.  

409.3 Sexual Harassment  

Sexual harassment is a form of unlawful sex discrimination and will not be tolerated by the 
Agency.  Federal and State guidelines provide that unwelcome sexual advances, requests for 
sexual favors and other verbal, visual or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitute unlawful 
harassment when:  

 
1. Submission to such conduct is made either explicit or implicitly a term or 

condition of an individual’s employment.  

2. The submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as 
the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or  

3. Sexual advances, requests for sexual favors or other verbal or physical 
conduct of a sexual nature that has the purpose or effect of unreasonably 
interfering with an employee’s work performance or of creating an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.  

Sexual harassment refers to conduct that is not welcome, that is offensive, that fails to respect 
the rights and dignity of others, that lowers morale and that, therefore, interferes with work 
effectiveness.  

Reporting Unlawful Harassment or Discrimination  

Whenever possible, the employee should inform the harasser that his or her behavior is 

unwelcome, offensive, in poor taste, or highly inappropriate and ask that the behavior stop.  
Any employee who believes he or she has been unlawfully harassed or discriminated against 
should promptly report it orally or in writing to the employee’s supervisor, the Human 
Resources Manager or the General Manager.  An employee is not required to complain first to a 
supervisor if that person is the individual who is harassing and/or engaging in discriminatory 
actions against the employee.  Instead, the employee may report the harassment/discrimination 
to any member of management. 

Any supervisor or manager who receives a complaint of unlawful harassment/discrimination, or 
who observes or otherwise learns about unlawfully harassing conduct is required to notify the 
Human Resources Manager.  Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action against the 
supervisor or Manager.  

409-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Remedial Action  

Upon receiving complaints of discrimination or harassment, the Agency will undertake an 
investigation of the complaints appropriate for the circumstances.  Any investigation and 
investigation report prepared relating to the complaint shall be kept confidential except as 
required by law.  If harassment or discrimination is found to have occurred in violation of this 
policy, the Agency shall take action to ensure or confirm that the harassment or discrimination 
at issue is stopped. The Agency may take whatever measures are appropriate to ensure its 
workplaces remain free from unlawful discrimination or harassment.  Within a reasonable period 
of time after the investigation into the complaint has been completed, the Human Resources 
Manager will inform the complainant in writing as to whether the complaint of violation of 
Agency policy has been sustained or not sustained.  

Employees found to have engaged in discrimination or harassment covered by this policy may 
be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.  First-time 
violations of this policy, depending on the severity of the conduct, may lead to immediate 
termination.  

Employees found to have been dishonest or uncooperative during an investigation into 
allegations of unlawful harassment may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment.  

No Retaliation – Employees should feel free to report valid claims of unlawful harassment 
without fear of retaliation of any kind.  The Agency’s Nondiscrimination and Harassment 
Policy, and of these complaint procedures, shall be provided to all employees of the Agency, and 
to all new employees at the time of hiring.  

DFEH and EEOC  

In addition to notifying the Agency about unlawful harassment or retaliation, an affected 
employee may also direct his or her complaint to the California Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (“DFEH”), which has the authority to conduct investigations of the 
facts.  The deadline for filing complaints with the DFEH is one (1) year from the date of the 
alleged unlawful conduct.  An employee also has the right to direct his or her complaint to the 
federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).  

Obligations of Employees:  Employees  are responsible for knowing the Agency’s policy on 
nondiscrimination and harassment; refraining from discriminatory behavior, including 
harassment; reporting incidents of discrimination in a timely fashion; cooperating in any 
investigation concerning allegations of discrimination; and maintaining confidentiality 
concerning any investigation that is conducted.  

All employees are also encouraged to communicate with one another to assist co-employees to 
avoid harassing, discriminatory, or otherwise offensive behavior.  

Sexual Harassment Training  

In accordance with state law, every two years, all supervisory employees are required to attend at 
least two hours of classroom or other effective interactive training on the prevention of sexual 

409-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

harassment, discrimination and retaliation.  Any new supervisory employee must attend such 
training within six months of hire or promotion to a supervisory position.  

409.4 Accommodation for Employees with Disabilities  

If an employee believes he or she has a disability that is preventing the employee from 
performing one or more of the essential functions of his or her job, the employee may request a 
reasonable accommodation for that disability.  Such requests should be submitted to the 
employee’s department manager or Human Resources Manager.  The Human Resources 
Manager may engage in an interactive process with the employee to determine an appropriate 
accommodation for the employee if an employee believes he or she has a disability.  

Access to Agency Programs, Services and Activities  

NCPA is fully committed to complying with the provisions outlined in the Americans with 
Disabilities Act regarding barrier-free access to all Agency programs, services and activities.  

It is the policy of the Agency to ensure that all Agency programs, services, and activities are 
readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities unless to do so would be an 
undue hardship or cause a fundamental alteration in Agency operations.  

Access Complaint Procedure  

A complaint regarding problems with access to Agency programs, services, or activities may be 
filed in writing with the Human Resources Manager.  Complaints should contain the name and 
address of the person denied access, and describe the specific conduct of which the employee is 
complaining.  

A complaint must be filed within thirty (30) days after the complainant becomes aware, or 
should have become aware of the alleged violation. 

Upon receiving complaints of problems with access to Agency programs, services or activities, 
the Agency will  undertake an investigation of the complaints appropriate for the circumstances.  
Any investigation and investigation report prepared relating to the complaint shall be kept 
confidential except as required by law.  If the investigation finds that the Agency access does not 
comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act requirements, appropriate corrective action will 
be taken by the Agency.  

  

409-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

410. Intentionally Left Blank 

  

410-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

411. EMPLOYEE RETENTION: SEVERANCE BENEFITS FOR 
 INVOLUNTARY SEPARATION 

The purpose of the employee retention severance benefits is:  

 To stabilize NCPA’s work force under conditions of uncertainty in the electric industry.  

 To retain employees needed in carrying out NCPA’s future mission and business plan as 
outlined by its Commission members.  

 To assure that employees who are involuntarily terminated in situations beyond the 
reasonable control of NCPA are treated equitably in accordance with good business 
practices.   

Eligibility  

Regular Agency employees, who are not otherwise rendered ineligible by the terms of this 
paragraph, are eligible to participate in this severance plan, contingent upon the employee 
relinquishing in writing to the right to pursue litigation against NCPA related to termination 
(hereinafter, Eligible Employees).  Probationary employees, provisional, part-time, limited term, 
casual or at will employees, and any employee terminated for cause are not eligible for severance 
benefits under this plan. Exceptions to this policy will be at the discretion of the General 
Manager.  

If involuntary severance is required, it may be in NCPA’s best interest to provide the potentially 
affected employees the opportunity to volunteer for severance.  If NCPA, in its sole 
determination, decides to offer voluntary severance to a group of employees, the voluntary 
severance benefits will be the same as the involuntary severance benefits defined herein.   

Policy  

NCPA operates efficiently and effectively, and follows good business practices.  Depending 
upon business conditions, it may become necessary to terminate employees who would prefer to 
remain employed by the Agency.  

NCPA’s policy is to provide transition assistance through severance benefits to Eligible 
Employees who are involuntarily terminated without cause, or who are affected by a change in 
control.  Constructive termination includes a material reduction in pay, benefits, duties or 
responsibilities, or an unreasonable mandatory relocation.  

Benefits  

Benefits upon involuntary separation for Eligible Employees are as follows:  

 A lump sum payment equal to two (2) weeks base salary for each continuous year of 
service to a maximum payment of twenty six (26) weeks (6 months) base salary.  
Minimum payment, regardless of length of service, is 4 weeks base salary.  Partial years 
of service will be prorated.  

411-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 Continuation of Health and Welfare benefits (medical, dental and vision insurance): 
Current benefits levels will be provided at the Agency’s expense to employees who are 
terminated involuntarily (and eligible dependents) for six (6) months under COBRA.  
Thereafter, the employee may continue medical coverage at his/her own expense under 
COBRA following termination, until employment with benefits is obtained with another 
employer, or COBRA ends, whichever occurs first.  

Payment will be made for accrued vacation at the time of termination.  

A lump sum payment for half the employee’s accrued sick leave will be made.  If an employee 
who is eligible for severance benefits, elects retirement under CalPERS, his or her sick leave and 
medical benefits will be handled as retirement benefits under CalPERS rules.  

Change in Control  

In the event of a change of control of NCPA, involuntary severance benefits will apply.  A 
change in control is defined as any reorganization, joint venture, privatization plan, sale merger, 
affiliation, or contract that results in final decision-making authority with respect to workforce 
size, composition, wages, hours of work, or working conditions being vested in any entity, 
person or persons other than NCPA.  

  

411-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

412. Intentionally Left Blank 

  

412-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

413. Intentionally Left Blank 

  

413-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

414. Intentionally Left Blank 

  

414-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

415. DISCIPLINE POLICY 

 

General Rules of Conduct  

All Agency employees shall render the best possible service to, and conduct themselves so as to 
reflect credit on, the Agency.  The highest standards of professional conduct are essential and 
expected of all employees. 

415.11 Disciplinary Actions  

The Agency may invoke one or more of the following types of disciplinary actions.  The 
disciplinary actions are listed in increasing order of severity:  

 (a) Oral Reprimand  

 (b) Written Reprimand  

 (c) Suspension without Pay for up to thirty (30) days  

 (d) Reduction in Pay (temporary or permanent decrease in salary)  

 (e) Demotion (Change in classification) or  

 (f) Termination  

The Agency may both impose a combination of a suspension without pay, a reduction in pay, 
and a demotion in a single disciplinary action.   

Grounds for Discipline  

Disciplinary measures may be imposed for any good and sufficient cause.  Agency  
employees who are employed “at-will”, or who are temporary or probationary, may be subject to 
discipline at the Agency’s discretion.  However, such employees are not subject to the 
requirement of good cause, and are not entitled to either pre-discipline procedures or post-
disciplinary appeals under this policy.  

Good cause for discipline exists, not only when there has been an improper act or omission by 
an employee in the employee’s official capacity, but also includes, but is not limited to, any 
conduct by an employee either on or off-duty that brings discredit to the Agency, affects the 
employee’s ability to perform his or her duties, causes other employees not be able to perform 
their duties, or involves any improper use of the employee’s position for personal advantage or 
the advantage of others.  

The level of disciplinary action imposed by the Agency is within the Agency’s discretion and is 
dependent upon the seriousness of the offense and the relevant employment history of the 
employee.  While use of “progressive” discipline (i.e., increasing the severity of punishment in 
successive instances of discipline) is good personnel practice and shall be considered by the 
Agency in each case, it is not mandated by this policy.  

415-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

It is recognized that it is not possible to list all matters or behaviors which may give rise to 
discipline.  Employees are expected to utilize reasonable judgment and common sense in 
avoiding conduct which may give rise to discipline.  Good cause for disciplinary action against 
an employee includes, but is not limited to, the following:  

 Misstatements or omissions of fact in completion of the employment application or 
to secure appointment to a position with the Agency.  

 Knowingly furnishing false information, or intentionally omitting material facts, in 
the course of the employee’s duties and responsibilities.  

 Inefficiency, incompetence, carelessness or negligence in the performance of duties.  

 Violation of safety rules.  

 Violation of any of the provisions of the Agency’s personnel rules and regulations, 
department rules and regulations, Agency policies, Agency procedures, or Agency rules 
or regulations.   

 Inattention to duty.  

 Tardiness; or abuse of sick leave or other leaves.  

 Being under the influence of an intoxicating beverage, illicit narcotic, or prescription 
drug the use of which impairs an employee’s ability to perform his or her job without 
creating a danger to himself or herself, to other employees, or to members of the public 
while on duty or on Agency property, or when called in for emergency duty; possession 
of alcohol on duty or on Agency property without authorization; or possession of 
unlawful drugs on duty or on Agency property. 

 Insubordination or disobedience to proper authority, or refusal or failure to perform 
assigned work, to comply with a lawful order, or to accept a reasonable and proper 
assignment from an authorized supervisor.  
 

 Unauthorized soliciting on Agency property; or the conduct of any unauthorized 
commercial or political activity on duty or on Agency property. 
 

 Unauthorized absence without leave; or failure to report after leave of absence has 
expired or after a requested leave of absence has been disapproved, revoked or 
cancelled, or any other unauthorized absence from work or failure to report to work.  
 

 Conviction of a felony or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or any  violation 
of a federal, state or local law which negatively impacts the employee’s ability to 
effectively perform his or her job or which brings discredit to the Agency.  

 Offensive or impolite treatment of the public or other employees.  

415-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 Falsifying any Agency document or record. 

 Misuse of Agency property; improper or unauthorized use of Agency equipment or 
supplies; or damage to or negligence in the care and handling of Agency property.  

 Fighting, assault and/or battery.  

 Theft or sabotage of Agency property.  

 Inattention or sleeping on the job, except as specifically authorized for twenty four (24) 
hour duty personnel. 

 Accepting bribes or kickbacks; accepting gratuities or gifts prohibited by the Political 
Reform Act. 

 Unauthorized disclosure of confidential Agency information or of Agency trade secrets; 
or the failure to guard such information.  

 Intimidation or interference with the rights of any employee.  

 Outside work or employment, or any other outside activity or conduct, which conflicts 
with Agency responsibilities, causes discredit to the Agency, negatively impacts the 
effective performance of Agency functions or is not compatible with good public 
service or interests of the Agency service.  

 Failure to maintain the necessary license or certification specified for the position.  

 Abusive or intemperate language toward or in the presence of others in the workplace.  

 Any other good cause as determined by the Agency.  

Authority to Discipline  

Any authorized supervisory employee, including an employee temporarily upgraded to a 
supervisory position, is responsible for ensuring that the employees under his/her supervision 
are following performance standards including policies and procedures.  Supervisors may 
institute disciplinary action for cause in accordance with this policy.  Non-supervisory employees 
who are temporarily upgraded to a supervisory position must immediately take action to stop 
inappropriate behavior, and must recommend disciplinary action to the appropriate Manager 
who will investigate the incident and implement the discipline.  

Whenever this discipline policy refers to a “supervisory employee”, the term includes an 
employee temporarily upgraded to a supervisory position.  

Procedure for Disciplinary Action  

A. At-will Employees:  Not withstanding anything in this policy to the contrary, at-
will employees, temporary employees or probationary employees may be disciplined 

415-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

by the Agency, up to and including termination from employment, without 
complying with the procedural provisions of this Policy, without being subject to 
the requirement for good cause for discipline, and without providing any appeal 
pursuant to this policy.  

 
B. Conflicting Provisions of Memorandum of Understanding:  In the event of a 

conflicting or inconsistent disciplinary procedure or provision in a Memorandum of 
Understanding (“MOU”) between the Agency and a union recognized as the 
exclusive representative for a particular bargaining unit, the disciplinary provisions 
or procedure of the MOU shall govern.  In the absence of an inconsistent discipline 
procedure in a MOU, employees covered by this policy shall be governing by the 
following provisions.  

 
C. Minor and Major Discipline: For purposes of this policy, a “Major” discipline 

shall mean a suspension without pay of six (6) or more days, any reduction in pay 
(whether temporary or permanent), a demotion or termination.  A “Minor” 
discipline shall mean an oral reprimand, a written reprimand, or a suspension 
without pay of five (5) or fewer days.  

D. Minor Discipline shall be imposed as follows:  
 

1. Oral Reprimand:  Any authorized supervisory employee may in 
consultation with the Human Resources Manager, orally reprimand an 
employee under his or her supervision for violation of this policy.  The 
supervisor shall create a written record of the date of the reprimand and the 
factual basis for it, and shall provide a copy of the record of oral reprimand 
to the Human Resources Manager.  

2. Written Reprimand:  Any authorized supervisory employee may, in 
consultation with the Human Resources Manager, reprimand in writing an 
employee under his or her supervision for violation of this policy.  The 
supervisor shall create a formal memorandum indicating the date and nature 
of the violation and shall provide copies of the memorandum to both the 
employee and the Human Resources Manager.  The memorandum shall 
advise the employee or his or her right to submit a response memorandum 
within five (5) business days of the receipt of the reprimand.  Any response 
memorandum received within that time period shall be placed in the 
employee’s personnel file along with the reprimand memorandum.  

3. Suspension Without Pay for Five (5) or Fewer Days:  Any supervisory 
employee desiring to recommend discipline consisting of suspension 
without pay for five (5) or fewer days shall, in consultation with the Human 
Resources Manager, provide a written memorandum to the appropriate 
Assistant General Manager proposing such discipline.  The memorandum 
shall describe the proposed discipline, the basis for the recommendation of 
discipline (including citation to the sections of this policy alleged to have 
been violated and the factual basis for the alleged violations), and shall 
attach any documents upon which the recommended discipline is based.  

415-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

The Assistant General Manager may conduct such further investigation as 
he or she deems appropriate and may thereafter issue a Notice of Discipline 
as provided in this policy.  The Assistant General Manager may not increase 
the proposed discipline to encompass either six (6) or more days suspension 
without pay, reduction in pay, demotion or termination without issuing a 
Notice of Intent to Discipline and providing the affected employee the 
opportunity for a pre-disciplinary hearing.  

In the event that the suspension without pay is proposed by an Assistant General Manager he or 
she shall follow the same process as other supervisory employees, but the recommendation shall 
be forwarded to an uninvolved Assistant General Manager as designated by the General 
Manager who shall thereafter act upon the recommendation in the manner indicated above.  

E. Major Discipline - Notice of Intent to Discipline and Pre-disciplinary (“Skelly”) 
 Hearings  

1. Notice of Intent to Discipline Required:  A supervisory employee proposing 
a major discipline shall, in consultation and coordination with the Human 
Resources Manager, issue a written Notice of Intent to Discipline, also known 
as a “Skelly letter.”  

2. Required Content of a Notice of Intent to Discipline:  The Notice of Intent 
to Discipline shall describe the intended or proposed discipline, describe the 
basis for the discipline (including citation to the sections of this policy alleged to 
have been violated and the factual basis for the alleged violations), and shall 
attach any documents upon which the discipline is based. The Notice of Intent 
to Discipline shall notify the employee of his or her right to an informal, pre-
disciplinary and non-evidentiary hearing, known as a “Skelly hearing.”  The 
Notice of Intent to Discipline shall indicate the last date by which a request for 
a Skelly hearing must be made, which date shall not be less than ten (10) 
business days (defined as Monday through Friday) after the issuance of the 
Notice of Intent to Discipline.  It shall advise the employee that he or she may 
be represented at the Skelly hearing by a union representative or other person, 
including counsel, and may choose to respond either in writing or orally to the 
charges but that no witnesses may be called at the Skelly hearing.  

3. Skelly Hearing:  If a Skelly hearing is timely requested by the employee, the 
Agency will set a date for the Skelly hearing.  In the event that an employee fails 
to request a Skelly hearing, the employee shall be deemed to have waived the 
right to a Skelly hearing and the Skelly hearing officer may issue a Notice of 
Discipline as provided in this policy based upon the Notice of Intent to 
Discipline.  

 In the case of a proposed discipline other than termination, the Skelly hearing 
officer shall be the appropriate Assistant General Manager.  If the appropriate 
Assistant General Manager is the supervisor who originally issued the Notice of 
Intent to Discipline, then the General Manager shall appoint another, 
uninvolved Assistant General Manager to act as the Skelly hearing officer.  In 

415-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

the case of a proposed discipline that consists of termination, the Skelly hearing 
officer shall be the General Manager.  

 The Skelly hearing shall be conducted as an informal hearing, at which no 
witnesses are called. The employee or his or her representative may present oral 
or written argument to explain why the proposed discipline is not appropriate 
for any reason, including pointing out any mistakes of fact in the Notice of 
Intent to Discipline, and may indicate why the proposed discipline is 
disproportionate to the alleged misconduct.  

4. Authority of the Skelly Hearing Officer:  Following the conduct of the Skelly 
hearing, or upon the failure of the employee to timely request a Skelly hearing, 
the Skelly hearing officer shall make the final decision regarding the appropriate 
discipline, if any, to be imposed upon the employee, subject only to the right to 
a post-disciplinary appeal, if such appeal is provided for in this policy.  The 
Skelly hearing officer may elect to impose no discipline, to impose the 
recommended discipline, or to impose a discipline which is less severe than that 
proposed in the Notice of Intent to Discipline.  A Skelly hearing officer may not 
impose a discipline which is more severe than that proposed in the Notice of 
Intent to Discipline.  

 A recommended suspension may not be increased in length, nor may 
the Skelly hearing officer impose either a reduction in pay, demotion or 
termination.  

 

 A recommended temporary reduction in pay may not be increased in 
length or made permanent, nor may the Skelly hearing officer impose 
either a demotion or termination.  The Skelly hearing officer may, 
however, modify the recommended discipline to either a shorter 
reduction in pay, a written reprimand or an oral reprimand. 

  

 A recommended permanent reduction in pay may not be modified by 
the Skelly hearing officer to include either a demotion or a termination.  
The Skelly hearing officer may, however, modify the recommended 
discipline to a temporary reduction in pay, a written reprimand or an 
oral reprimand.  

 

 A recommended demotion may not be modified by the Skelly hearing 
office to a termination.  The Skelly hearing officer may, however, 
modify the recommended discipline to a reduction in pay (either 
permanent or temporary), a written reprimand or an oral reprimand.  

 

 A recommended termination may be modified by the Skelly hearing 
officer to any other form of discipline.  

 

 

415-6 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 
F. Notice of Discipline 

A written Notice of Discipline shall be issued in the event of any discipline (whether Major or 
Minor) other than an oral or written reprimand, either by the supervisory employee imposing a 
suspension of five (5) or fewer days or by the Skelly hearing officer in the event of a Major 
Discipline.  No Notice of Discipline shall be issued without a prior Notice of Intent to 
Discipline, and the opportunity to attend a Skelly hearing, except in the case of a Minor 
Discipline.  

The Notice of Discipline shall indicate the discipline imposed, the effective date of the 
discipline, the basis for the discipline (including citations to the sections of this policy that have 
been violated and the factual basis for the violation); shall review the Skelly hearing discussions 
and outcome (if such a hearing was conducted); and shall either attach any documents on which 
the discipline is based or advise the employee upon which documents the discipline is based and 
that the documents are available for review and copying at the Agency’s expense.  The Notice of 
Discipline shall advise the employee of his or her rights to such an appeal and the deadline for 
requesting such an appeal.  The discipline shall become effective upon the date specified in the 
Notice of Discipline regardless of whether or not the employee files an appeal from the Notice 
of Discipline.  

G. Appeal  

1.  Employees covered by this policy have the right to appeal from any discipline 
consisting of a suspension without pay of any length, demotion, reduction in pay, or no 
later than ten (10) business days from the date of the Notice of Discipline.  In the event 
that no appeal is timely received, the right to appeal is waived.  

 2. The appeal shall be heard by a neutral hearing officer.  In the event of a 
discipline other than termination, the hearing officer shall be an uninvolved Assistant 
General Manager designated by the General Manager, or in the sole discretion of the 
General Manager, may be a third person retained by the Agency.  In the event of a 
discipline consisting of termination the hearing officer shall be a third person retained 
by the Agency.  Any third person hearing officer retained by the Agency shall be 
experienced in the handling of the resolution of labor and employment disputes in 
public agencies and shall be chosen from a neutral panel in such a fashion as to 
eliminate any perception of bias on the part of the hearing officer.  The Agency shall pay 
the fee, if any, of a third person hearing officer.  

 3. The appeal shall be conducted as an evidentiary hearing to determine if there 
was good cause for the imposition of discipline and, if so, whether the level of discipline 
was appropriate.  The Agency shall bear the burden of proof by a preponderance of the 
evidence at such hearing.  The hearing shall be conducted without regard for the formal 
rules of evidence, and the hearing officer may rely upon such evidence as is commonly 
relied upon by reasonable persons in the conduct of their business.  

The hearing officer shall have the authority to convene the hearing, issue subpoenas to 
compel the attendance of witnesses or the production of evidence, receive evidence 

415-7 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

through testimony and documents and to make findings of fact and conclusions of law 
regarding the discipline.  Both parties may be represented by counsel at the hearing.  
 
The Agency shall make a record of the proceedings through the use of a court reporter 
or a tape recording at the Agency’s cost.  Provided, however, that if the Agency has de-
termined to tape record the proceedings and the employee wishes to have a court 
reporter, the employee will be responsible for paying the reporter’s fees.  The cost of 
preparing a transcript of the proceedings to be used by the General Manager or the 
NCPA Executive Committee, as the case may be, shall be borne by the Agency.  

4. In the event of an appeal from a discipline other than termination, the hearing 
officer shall provide a written advisory opinion to the General Manager, containing his 
or her findings of fact and conclusions of law, and recommending that the discipline be 
upheld, modified, or reversed.  The hearing officer shall transmit the recommendation 
along with a copy of the transcript of the proceedings, all papers filed by either party, 
and a copy of any exhibits.  The General Manager shall consider the advisory opinion 
and other materials and make the final decision regarding the discipline.  The General 
Manager need not hear further from the parties unless he or she determines to hear 
further evidence or argument in his or her sole discretion. The General Manager may 
affirm the hearing officer’s decision, reverse the hearing officer’s decision, or modify it.  
The decision of the General Manager is final, and is not subject to appeal. Such 
decisions are subject to review only through a writ of administrative mandate filed 
pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5.  

5. In the event of an appeal from a discipline that terminates the employee’s 
employment with the Agency, the hearing officer shall provide a written advisory 
opinion to the Executive Committee of the NCPA Commission, containing his or her 
findings of fact and conclusions of law, recommending that the discipline either be 
upheld, modified, or reversed.  The hearing officer shall transmit the recommendation 
along with a copy of the transcript of the proceedings, all papers filed by either party, 
and a copy of any exhibits.  The Executive Committee of the NCPA Commission shall 
consider the advisory opinion and other materials and make the final decision regarding 
the discipline, but need not hear further from the parties unless it determines to hear 
further evidence or argument in its sole discretion. The Executive Committee of the 
NCPA Commission may affirm the hearing officer’s decision, reverse the hearing 
officer’s decision or modify it. The decision of the Executive Committee of the NCPA 
Commission is final, and is subject to review only through a writ of administrative 
mandate filed pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5.  

 6. The decision of the General Manager or the Executive Committee of the NCPA 
Commission, as the case may be, shall provide notice to the employee that the time for 
judicial review is governed by the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure  
section 1094.6.  

 

 

 

415-8 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P402.1 TEMPORARY/CASUAL STAFF HIRING PROCEDURE 

 

When a need to hire temporary staff has been identified the following procedure shall apply.   

 First, the job duties/job description for the opening will be identified.  

 Second, verify that there is funding in the budget for the additional position.   

 Third, the hiring manager will then work through Human Resources to fill the job.  

 Fourth, the hiring manager is responsible for ensuring temporary or casual staff work 
less than 960 hours in a fiscal year.  Any exception requires express written approval of 
the AGM, General Manager and Human Resources. 

  

P402.1-1 
 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P403.10 OVERTIME COMPENSATION (COMP. TIME OFF) PROCEDURE 

Public agency employees who are non-exempt under the FLSA are eligible to accrue 
compensatory time off (CTO) at a rate of not less than one and one-half hours for each hour of 
overtime work with the approval of their managers.  There is no premium pay other than 
overtime at one and one-half time for all hours worked over forty in a work week.  In lieu of 
overtime pay, non-union employees may accrue time off in accordance with this procedure.  
Represented employees should refer to their respective Memorandum of Understanding. 

To accrue CTO there are several conditions that must be met to be in compliance with the 
wage regulations and they are outlined below.  

 An agreement must be signed between the Manager and non-union employee before 
the performance of the work to determine if it will be paid as overtime or accrued as 
CTO.  A form for this purpose is on the next page. Please record all CTO earned 
and used on this form, and attach it to the employee’s bi-weekly timesheet.  

 Hourly, non-union employees may be authorized to have a balance of up to forty (40) 
hours of CTO during the calendar year.  

 Upon termination or at the end of each calendar year, an employee with unused, accrued 
CTO shall be paid for this time at the then current rate of pay.  
 

 Employees who earn CTO and have requested to use CTO shall be permitted to use 
such time if the use does not disrupt operations within the Agency.  

If you have questions about this procedure, please contact your Manager or the Human 
Resources Director as appropriate.  

  

P403.10-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

SECTION 1 
 
I, _____________________________, request to accrue ____________________hours as CTO. 
   (Print Name)            (Enter total* hours – see below) 

 
I worked approved overtime on the following date(s): 
(Enter dates overtime was worked) 
 
Date Worked: ______________________________ 
 
________ Reg. Hours @ 1.5x = _____________ and/or____________ Hours @ 2x=________ 
 
Date Worked: ______________________________ 
 
________ Reg. Hours @ 1.5x = _____________ and/or____________ Hours @ 2x=________ 
 
Total Converted Hours @ 1.5 times = __________ @ 2 times = _________ = ____________ 
 

Please record your hours on this sheet only, not on a time sheet. 
   

Request to Take Compensatory Time Off 
 

SECTION 2 
 
I, _____________________________, request to take ____________________hours as CTO. 
   (Print Name)            (Enter # hours to be taken) 

 
Shown on (date) _____________ on the attached timesheet dated ______________. I have 
entered these hours under code C (comp time taken) on this timesheet. 
 

 
(PLEASE SIGN BELOW INDICATING APPROVAL FOR EITHER SECTION 1 OR 2) 

 

I understand that accrued time must be taken as compensatory time off by the end of the calendar 

year or any remaining hours will be paid to me on the last payroll period of the year. 
 

I also understand that I must provide advance notice when requesting to take compensatory time 

off, and that time off will be granted if it does not unduly disrupt the operations of the Agency. 
 

Employee’s Signature________________________________ Date______________________ 

 

Manager’s Signature_________________________________ Date _____________________ 
 
 
Please attach this sheet to your timesheet for either Section 1 or 2 CTO authorizations. 
 
  

 

  

 
NCPA Request to Accrue/Take Compensatory Time Off Form  

P403.10-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

P403.11 CALL OUT PROCEDURE FOR EXEMPT STAFF 

Exempt staff who are on-call and who are frequently called out after hours throughout 

the year may be eligible for a year-end bonus.  Those eligible for the bonus will be those 

regular full-time exempt employees who are called out in greater frequency than their 

additional paid leave provides for.  In this situation the dates, and duration of the after -

hours call outs to which a response was required should be brought to the manager’s 

attention. .  The manager may provide this information to the Assistant General Manager 

to determine if a bonus is warranted. The Assistant General Manager will review the 

frequency of the call outs with the General Manager, and at his/her discretion the 

General Manager may award a discretionary bonus of $1,000 to $5,000.  
 

At the employee’s request, this bonus may be converted to additional paid leave of up to 

forty (40) hours in a calendar year, with any balance being paid as a bonus in the year the 

General Manager approves the request.  If additional paid leave is granted, it must be 

used in the calendar year in which it is granted.  
 

  

P403.11-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P403.12 REIMBURSEMENT FOR RELOCATION EXPENSES 

GUIDELINES  
 

As outlined in Policy 403.12, the Agency will reimburse employees for travel and relocation 

expenses as detailed in this procedure.   

Advance authorization from the General Manager is required to approve reimbursement for 

travel and relocation expenses.  

The Agency pays contracted moving expenses directly to vendors.  The agency reimburses 

you for other authorized travel and living expenses upon completion of move.  The Agency 

does not advance payment for relocation.  The General Manager may approve partial 

reimbursement prior to completion of move in a case of undue hardship.  
  
 

PROCEDURE  
 
1. Prior to scheduling your move, you must submit a minimum of two estimates from 
moving companies. It is strongly recommended that you contact moving companies that 
have offices both in your city and the new location (Roseville area, Murphys area or Geysers 
area). This will simplify resolving any problems that may occur.  
 
2. You will then be given written authorization to proceed with the move. Do not contract 
with the mover until you receive your written authorization.  Notify the mover to bill NCPA 
directly for the authorized moving expenses.  All claims against the mover for lost or 
damaged goods should be negotiated directly between the mover or insurer and yourself.  
 
3. Upon your arrival at the new location, contact the Human Resources Office for assistance 
in preparing the travel and living expense reimbursement form and return the form to 
Human Resources.  
 
  
 

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES AND RATES  
 

A. House-Hunting Trip  

  

Subject to the General Manager’s approval, an employee and spouse will be reimbursed for 

one house-hunting trip if relocation is more than 350 miles for a period no greater than three 

days.  Covered expenses include transportation to and from the new location, car rental, 

lodging and meals.  The per diem rate for lodging and meals will be the same as for living 

expenses while moving.  

P403.12-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

B.  Transportation Expenses  
 

Actual transportation expenses will be paid for the employee and his/her immediate family 

from current residence to the job location.  This will be done by the most direct route using 

the employee’s choice of:  
 

1) Y Class (Jet Coach) transportation  

2) First class rail fare and roomette during overnight travel  

3) Automobile  
 

If the employee chooses to drive to the new location, he/she will be reimbursed for mileage 

via the most direct route at the current NCPA business mileage reimbursement rate.  
 

C.  Moving Expenses  
 

The Agency will pay:  
1. The cost for packing, moving and, if desired, unpacking household and personal 

effects up to a maximum of 15,000 pounds, and including up to 30 days’ storage en 
route.  

2. Transit protection insurance for the actual value up to a maximum premium of $500. 
(Additional coverage, if desired, will be billed to the employee and will not be 
reimbursed by the Agency.)  

3. Normal servicing of household appliances, such as preparation for shipment of 
stereos, refrigerator units, or other appliances.  

4. Under special circumstances, with advance written approval from the General 
Manager, the agency may pay the cost of shipping and insuring one passenger 
vehicle.  

 

All claims against the mover for lost or damaged goods should be negotiated directly 

between the employee and the insurer.  
 

D.   Living Expenses While Moving  
 
While enroute to the new location, an employee will receive $45 per day, his or her spouse 
$40 per day, and each child $15 per day.  No enroute per diem is allowed for moves under 
150 miles.  If the move is between 150 and 350 miles, one day of travel is allowed.  For 
travel beyond 350 miles, the number of days allowed shall be at the rate of one day per 350 
miles.  An additional day will be allowed if the total mileage is 150 miles or more in excess of 
a multiple of 350 miles.  
 

Employees and their families traveling by air fare are limited to one day’s enroute living 

expenses.  
 
 

P403.12-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

E. Temporary Living Expenses  
 

Employees are expected to obtain housing as soon as possible after relocating to the new 

location. The Agency will reimburse the employee for meals and reasonable motel/hotel 

lodging expenses while waiting to move to a more permanent residence.  The per diem rate 

is $45 per day for the employee only.  There is no per diem for the family during this period. 

The per diem terminates when the employee moves into an apartment, house, or at the end 

of 30 consecutive days, whichever comes first.  
 

F. Nonreimbursable Expenses  
 

The Agency will not pay or reimburse employees for expenses over the limits indicated or 

for coverage not described.  Specifically, no reimbursement will be made for the expenses 

noted below:  
 
1. Moving boats, trailers, playhouses, spas, motorcycles, livestock, tractors or farm 
implements other than those used for normal yard and garden work.  
 
2. House, rug or drapery cleaning, or other extraordinary services.  
 
3. Extra handling costs on unusually heavy or bulky items such as pool tables, plants, 
lumber, brick and other articles not ordinarily considered household goods or personal 
property.  
 
4. Moving more than one automobile.  
 
5. Disassembling children’s playhouses, swing sets, or storage buildings.  
 
6. Draining and refilling water beds and fish tanks.  
 
7. Removing and installing radio or television antennas.  
 
8. Extra costs of Saturday, Sunday or holiday service by the mover.  
 
9. Venting clothes dryers or hooking up ice makers.  
 
10. Payments to friends who have assisted the employee in moving.  
 
11. Automobile repairs.  
 
12. Costs incurred during the relocation, not directly related to personal transportation or 
forwarding of household belongings, i.e. uninsured losses during transit and entertainment 
expenses.  
 
13. Costs associated with utility deposits, inspections and/or connections.  

P403.12-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 
14. Disassembling and reassembling home entertainment or computer equipment.  
 

Note: Movement of some non-reimbursable items shown above will be allowed if the article 

can be moved in the van and the maximum weight allowance of 15,000 pounds is not 

exceeded, providing such is approved by the General Manager.  
 

G.  Personal Arrangements  

The employee should personally arrange for the transportation of pets and articles of high 

intrinsic or sentimental value including jewelry, negotiables, collector items, etc.  This will 

include arrangements for proper packing and declaration of the actual value of items shipped 

to insure adequate protection.  Special or extra moving costs for such items will be borne by 

the employee.  

 

  

P403.12-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P404.3 FLEX-TIME/WORKING FROM HOME 

Working from home is defined as working for a half or full shift from home.  As a general rule, 
working from home on a regular basis does not support the business needs of NCPA and its 
members.  However, on a case-by-case basis if it supports the Agency’s business needs, the 
General Manager may grant defined periods of time during which a non-union employee may 
telecommute to complete a project.  Detailed written requests for telecommuting exceptions 
must be reviewed and approved in advance by the Manager and Assistant General Manager 
before being forwarded to the General Manager for consideration.  

Non-union staff has the flexibility, with their Manager’s approval, to occasionally work from 
home for periods of less than half their shift/workday.  Allowing short periods of time to work 
from home will be considered when it is impractical for the employee to work at an NCPA 
location because of other work-related commitments.  

Management retains the right to require employees to report to work.  Management also has the 
discretion to not authorize staff to work from home based on the department’s needs.  

  

P404.3-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P404.5 RESIGNATION-RETIREMENT PROCEDURE  

Notification  

Once an employee has decided upon a planned date of retirement, he/she needs to notify 
Human Resources as soon as possible.  Human Resources staff is available to provide assistance 
with any questions regarding retirement.  Please note that if you are retiring from NCPA under 
CalPERS, ninety (90) days’ written notice to your manager is requested to process the 
paperwork and transition in a timely manner.  

Medical Insurance Coverage  

NCPA will continue to provide medical insurance coverage for employees who qualify for and 
retire from NCPA within one hundred twenty (120) days of the date of termination.  The retiree 
and his/her spouse are eligible for medical insurance coverage. Unless otherwise specified, the 
retiree and spouse will be covered by the same plan that they are covered by prior to retirement. 
If the retiree plans to move out of the area after retirement, he/she needs to check his/her 
current medical plan to make sure that the plan provides coverage in the new area of residence.  
There may be a need to change plans.  

When the retired employee or spouse reaches the age of sixty five (65), he/she becomes eligible 
for Medicare and should enroll in parts A and B.  At the time the employee becomes eligible for 
Medicare, NCPA will provide a medical insurance plan which supplements the coverage 
provided by Medicare.  The retired employee is responsible for paying the cost of Medicare, Part 
B. Once a retiree or spouse receives his/her Medicare card, a copy needs to be sent to Human 
Resources.  

Sick Leave  

An employee’s accrued sick leave may be credited as time worked under the CalPERS 
retirement plan if the employee retires from NCPA within one hundred twenty (120) days of the 
date of termination.  

Final Payroll Check  

The retiree will receive his/her final payroll check on the last day the employee reports to work, 
and that day is considered the last day worked for CalPERS purposes.  The final payroll check 
will include hours worked, payment for any vacation balance, and management leave or floating 
holidays taken during the pay period.  Employees, who may wish to take vacation prior to their 
last day of work, must provide notice as outlined in the Vacation Policy and receive approval 
from their manager.   

Dental and Vision Insurance  

NCPA does not continue to provide dental and vision insurance coverage upon retirement. The 
retiree has the option to continue dental and vision coverage for himself/ herself and his/her 
dependents under COBRA, for up to eighteen months following the date of retirement.  The 
retiree is responsible for paying the cost of the premiums for dental and/or vision coverage at 

P404.5-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

the rate charged to NCPA + 2%.  Additional information will be provided regarding 
continuation of dental and/or vision coverage after receiving notice of retirement.  

Deferred Compensation  

Upon notification of a pending retirement, the employee will be provided with a participant 
packet that provides information regarding his/her options related to deferred compensation. 
The employee has 60 days following his/her retirement date to make a decision regarding 
deferred compensation.  

CalPERS  

CalPERS offers two-hour retirement workshops and full-day financial planning seminars to help 
employees plan for a better retirement.  Contact the nearest CalPERS Regional Office or go to 
the CalPERS website for details.  

An employee must complete an Application for Retirement under CalPERS.  This form is 
available from the CalPERS website.  To ensure timely processing of retirement and medical 
benefits, the application should be submitted to CalPERS up to 90 days before the intended 
retirement date.  An employee’s retirement date can be no earlier than the first of the month in 
which the application is received at CalPERS.  

Long-Term Care/Optional Benefits 

If an employee is enrolled in the CalPERS Long-Term Care Program and has premiums 
deducted from paychecks, the employee must call the Customer Service Office at (800) 982-
1775 to find out what steps need to be taken to continue the premium payments after 
retirement. Other optional benefits that an employee has signed up for that include payroll 
deductions should be changed through the Human Resources or Payroll office. 

Questions  

Questions regarding medical, dental, vision, long-term care or flexible spending accounts, or any 
general questions should be directed to Human Resources at (916) 781-4251.  

Questions regarding the final payroll check or deferred compensation should be directed to the 
payroll staff at (916) 781-4233.  

  

P404.5-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P405.10 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PROCEDURE 

 

Solely at the Agency’s discretion, the Agency may provide an educational leave and tuition 
reimbursement plan. The Agency may choose to reimburse expenses for tuition, books, and 
parking fees incurred by a regular full-time employee.  The employee must successfully complete 
the classes at an accredited college, university or approved specialized training group.  Such 
program must be related to the job duties of a position at the Agency, and must be approved in 
advance by the Human Resources Manager upon recommendation of the employee’s Assistant 
General Manager.  A degree program must be approved prior to taking any course.  Please 
complete the Degree Program Application and obtain approval before enrollment (if 
applicable).  

Upon completion of probation or after twelve (12) months of employment for an “at will” 
employee, a regular full-time employee may request advance approval of a course.  Thereafter, 
reimbursement will be processed upon completion of the pre-approved course(s), subject to the 
approval of the Human Resources Manager or designee.  Reimbursement may be granted for 
tuition, books, and parking fees.  The following are specifically excluded from reimbursement:  
supplies, CLEP exams or related entrance exams; auditing or challenging a course; mileage or 
related optional personal expenses as determined by the Agency. 

If reimbursement is requested and granted, the employee must present evidence within three 
weeks that each course is satisfactorily completed with a grade of “C” or better, a bill for the 
course and related fees that was paid, and the pre-approved NCPA Tuition Reimbursement 
form.  

  

P405.10-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

TO BE COMPLETED BY EMPLOYEE PRIOR TO ENROLLMENT: 
 
Employee Name __________________________________________ Date _______________________ 

Job Title ______________________________________ Dept. _________________________________ 

The General Manager or his/her designee is delegated the final authority for all personnel 
decisions except where the Commission has expressly retained such authority to itself. 
 

Degree Information – Courses to be taken: □ Online □ On Campus 

Name of Educational Institution __________________________________________________________ 

Address of Institution __________________________________________________________________ 

Check Type of Degree: □ Associate’s □ Bachelor’s         □ Master’s Area of Concentration  

Estimated Start Date _______________________ Estimated End Date __________________________ 

(Please attach degree outline from college program provided by college advisor.) 

 
Please state your career goal ___________________________________________________________ 

Estimate the annual reimbursement you are seeking $____________ for ___________ units/year. 

1) Fill out Section A completely. 
2) Have your supervisor and AGM sign the form and forward it to Human Resources. 
3) Make sure and attach documentation for cost of tuition, books, parking fees and curriculum. 
4) Submit completed form prior to class/seminar/training enrollment. 

 
The above information is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. I agree to all conditions of 
NCPA Tuition Reimbursement Program including direct repayment of all monies advanced by the 
Agency or I authorize paycheck deduction(s) if the course(s) is not completed satisfactorily in 
accordance with the Agency’s procedures. 
 
___________________________________________   ______________________ 
Supervisor/Manager’s Recommendation     Date 
 
 
___________________________________________   ______________________ 
AGM Recommendation       Date 
 
 
___________________________________________   ______________________ 
Human Resources Manager Approval     Date 
 

NCPA APPLICATION FOR A DEGREE PROGRAM 

APPLICATION FOR TUITION AID REIMBURSEMENT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

P405.10-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Name _________________________________________ Date ________________________ 

Job Title _______________________________________ Dept. _______________________ 

Supervisor _____________________________________ Phone # _____________________ 

I wish to register to attend the course(s) indicated below for the semester 
beginning on __________________________ and ending on __________________________. 
 
How is the course(s) related to your current position? 
___________________________________________________________________________  

Reason for Enrollment _________________________________________________________ 

Degree/Certification/Continuing Education 

Course # Course Title 
# 

Credit/Hrs. 
Tuition 

Amount 

Accredited 
School 

Name 

     

     

     

Requests for reimbursement must be reviewed by an employees’ supervisor, AGM, and approved by the Human 
Resources Manager before attendance at a class or program begins.  Requests for reimbursement must be 
accompanied by receipts for actual expenses and will be paid only up to pre- approved limits.  Time spent attending 
voluntary programs will not be counted as working time and will not be compensated.  Effective 7/1/04 and beyond, 
reimbursement is limited to $5,000 per employee per fiscal year. 

I understand that I must complete this form and return it to Human Resources for approval BEFORE beginning the 
classes.  If the course is approved, I must submit my FINAL GRADES (C or better) AND PROOF OF TUITION, 
BOOKS, AND FEES to Human Resources within three weeks after completing the course. I hereby request NCPA to 
approve the course(s) listed above and reimburse me for the costs specified above upon completion.  I certify that the 
information in this request is complete, true, and correct.  I acknowledge that my attendance at the course(s) is entirely 
voluntary and not required.   

I have read and understand this form, and agree to its terms and conditions. 

 
_____________________________________________  ______________________ 
Employee Signature        Date 

 
As the employee’s supervisor, I recommend    □ Approval     □ Denial of Request 

_____________________________________________  ______________________ 
Supervisor’s Signature        Date 

 

_____________________________________________  ______________________ 
Assistant General Manager Signature      Date 
 

Human Resources  □ Approves      □ Denies the employee’s request for a total of up to $___________________.  
 

_____________________________________________  ______________________ 
Human Resources Manager Signature      Date 

 
 

 
 

Tuition Reimbursement Form  

Section A 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P405.10-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 
     651 Commerce Drive 
     Roseville, CA 95678 
 
     (916) 781-3636 
     (916) 783-7693 Fax 

 
                     www.ncpa.com 

Memo 

Date: ______________________  

To:    ________________________________________________________________ 
 (Supervisor/Manager) 

From: _______________________________________________________________ 
 Employee (print name) 
 
 

Subject: Request for Payment of Accrued Vacation 

In accordance with Agency policy, I request that __hours of previously accrued vacation be paid to 
me. 

I understand that not more than 120 hours of unused, accrued vacation can be paid once in a calendar 
year as a lump sum.  I also understand that to be eligible for the vacation accrual sell back I must: 

 Have a minimum accrued vacation balance of 80 hours remaining after the sell back. 

 Have taken at least 40 hours of vacation, CTO or additional paid leave (policy 403.11) in the last 
twelve months. 

I understand the aforementioned accrued vacation sell back will occur as soon as practical, but not later 
than the next following payroll. (check one) 

 Combined with my regular payroll check. 

 
* On a second payroll check at Flat Tax (currently 25% FIT and 6.6% SIT). 

 
Roll on a pre-tax basis into my ICMA Deferred Compensation account. 

* WARNING - Under withholding of income tax may result in penalties and interest.  
Consult with your tax preparer before making your election above. 

 

  

________________________________________  _______________________ 
Employee Signature       Date 
 

________________________________________  _______________________ 
Supervisor Signature       Date 

________________________________________  _______________________ 
Manager Signature       Date 
 
Cc: Payroll (Original), Human Resources 
 
Payroll Purposes Only: 
 
Effective: ________   Vacation Balance: _________    Vacation taken in last 12 months: ________ 
 

P406.3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P406.4 AVAILABILITY TO WORK 

Each employee is responsible for use of sick leave only in a manner authorized by Sick Leave 
Policy 406.4 and for being available to work.   Unauthorized sick leave use can result in low 
productivity, increased Agency costs, morale problems, additional stress for co-workers and 
management.   Unauthorized use of sick leave occurs when an employee uses sick leave for 
purposes other than those described in Sick Leave Policy 406.4 or misrepresents the actual 
reason for charging an absence to accrued sick leave. Unauthorized use may also occur when an 
employee establishes a pattern of sick leave usage over a period of time such as the day before 
or after a holiday or vacation, on Mondays and Fridays, after paydays, any one specific day or 
half-day.  A continued pattern of excessive use that results in the employee becoming unreliable 
or unavailable for work also creates a hardship for the Agency and other employees.  

Managers shall ensure employees use their sick leave for purposes authorized in Sick Leave 
Policy 406.4.  This shall be accomplished by regularly monitoring and managing sick leave used 
in accordance with the procedure below.  This procedure does not apply to at will, temporary, 
casual, limited term or probationary employees.  

Sick leave use shall be monitored as follows:  

 Each employee will be reviewed for the frequency and types of sick leave use.  
(Instances shall not include: Any serious health condition covered as FMLA/ 
CFRA/Pregnancy Leave, State disability or time taken off due to a Worker’s 
Compensation incident.)  

 The employee’s annual unused sick leave balance.  

 The impact of the employee’s absences on the workplace (e.g. disruptions in work 
schedule, work delays, incomplete work, overtime costs, etc.)  

Responding to unauthorized or excessive use of sick leave*:  

 When a Manager feels there has been an unauthorized use, or when an employee used 
64 or more hours of accrued sick leave but less than 96 hours in a calendar year for two 
consecutive years without advance authorization to cover a protected leave such as 
FMLA, CFRA, PDL, disability leave, or some other protected leave as described in the 
Leaves section of this manual (statutorily protected leaves), the employee will be given 
an oral warning and counseled about the use of sick leave.  The employee may also be 
referred to the Employee Assistance Program, if appropriate.  This warning shall be 
documented by the Manager.  

 If there is a second instance of unauthorized use of sick leave, or the use of accrued sick 
leave continues to be 64 hours or more but less than 96 hours in a calendar year for 
three consecutive years for purposes other than statutorily protected leaves for three out 
of four years, the employee will be given a written reprimand.  The employee may also 
be required to provide a doctor’s statement to verify the legitimate use of future sick 
leave.  

P406.4-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 If there is a third instance of unauthorized use, or the use of accrued sick leave 
continues to be 64 hours or more but less than 96 hours in a calendar year for purposes 
other than statutorily protected leaves for a fourth consecutive year or four out of five 
years, the employee may be either suspended without pay or subject to discharge 
depending on the circumstances.  

*Any employee who exceeds 96 hours of sick leave use in a calendar year or who uses up his or 
her entire sick leave balance for purposes other than statutorily protected leaves may be subject 
to more serious discipline, and the Manager may skip a step in this procedure.  Discipline for 
unauthorized use is not subject to the calendar year schedule that applies to excessive use of sick 
leave.  

Managers will reflect how the employee’s  unauthorized use of sick leave has affected the 
employee’s ability to complete job assignments and the impact on the work unit on the 
employee’s performance appraisal.  

  

P406.4-2 
 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

P406.12 PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE PROCEDURE 
 

As outlined in Policy 406.12, the Agency will provide pregnancy disability leave per State law, 
separate from family care and medical leave.  

Pregnancy leave is defined as the time a female employee is temporarily disabled due to a 
pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical condition.  

Female employees may take up to four (4) months of leave for pregnancy disability.  Your 
supervisor may require a doctor’s verification before leave is authorized.  

If the maximum allowable four (4) months off is used, female employees may also be eligible to 
take additional time off under family care and medical leave (see Policy 406.6) for birth of 
(bonding with) her child.   

Employee’s Responsibility  

The employee must provide a written request for Pregnancy Disability Leave to her supervisor 
30 days prior to the beginning of the leave period whenever possible.  The request for 
Pregnancy Disability Leave should indicate the intended date the Pregnancy Disability Leave will 
begin and the estimated date of return to work, following Pregnancy Disability Leave and 
Family Care and Medical Leave if applicable.   

Supervisor’s Responsibility  

The supervisor will review the written request and either:  

 Seek approval from the Assistant General Manager for the request for Pregnancy 
Disability Leave  

 Request additional information prior to seeking approval  

 Discuss with the employee the date(s) of her leave and the impact on the workload.  

These requests are then submitted to the Human Resources Department for final approval.  

  

P406.12-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P407.7 DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE PROCEDURE 

NCPA has a vital interest in maintaining a safe, healthy, and efficient working environment.  It is 
NCPA’s intent to maintain a workplace free of drugs and alcohol and to discourage drug and 
alcohol abuse by its employees.  Employees who are under the influence of a drug or alcohol on 
the job compromise NCPA’s interests, and endanger their own health and safety and the health 
and safety of others.  Substance abuse in the workplace can also cause a number of other  
work-related problems including absenteeism and tardiness, substandard job performance, 
increased workloads for co-workers, behavior that disrupts other employees, and inferior 
quality in service.  Furthermore, the use, sale, purchase, transfer, or possession of an illegal drug 
or alcohol in the workplace also poses unacceptable risks for safe, healthy, and efficient 
operations.  
To further NCPA’s interest in complying with federal and state regulations or laws, and to 
further its interest in avoiding accidents, to promote and maintain safe and efficient working 
conditions for its employees, and to protect its business, property, equipment, and operations, 
NCPA has established this policy concerning the use of alcohol and drugs.  

As a condition of employment with NCPA, all employees are required to abide by this policy.   

Definitions  

The following definitions apply to the terms used throughout this Drug and Alcohol Abuse 
Policy.  

Abuse of Any Legal Drug means the use of any legal drug (a) for any purpose other than the 
purpose for which it was prescribed or manufactured; or (b) in a quantity, frequency, or manner 
that is contrary to the instructions or recommendations of the prescribing physician or 
manufacturer.  

Alcohol means any beverage that contains ethyl alcohol (ethanol), including but not limited to 
beer, wine and distilled spirits.  

Contraband means any article, the possession of which on NCPA premises or while on NCPA 
business, causes an employee to be in violation of an NCPA work rule or law. Contraband 
includes, but is not limited to, illegal drugs, alcoholic beverages, and drug paraphernalia.  It also 
includes firearms, explosives, and lethal weapons.  

Drug testing means the scientific analysis of urine, blood, breath, saliva, hair, tissue, and other 
specimens of the human body for the purpose of detecting a drug or alcohol.  

Illegal drug means any drug or substance which is (a) not legally obtainable; or (b) is legally 
obtainable but has not been legally obtained; or (c) has been legally obtained but is being sold or 
distributed unlawfully.  

Legal drug means any drug, including any prescription drug or over-the-counter drug, that has 
been legally obtained and that is not unlawfully sold or distributed.  

NCPA premises or facilities means all property of NCPA including, but not limited to, the 
offices, facilities and surrounding areas on NCPA owned or leased property, parking lots, and 

P407.7-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

storage areas.  The term includes NCPA member power plant facilities and surrounding areas.  
The term also includes NCPA owned, leased or rented vehicles and equipment wherever 
located.  

Possession means that an employee has the substance on his or her person or otherwise under 
his or her control.  

Reasonable suspicion includes a suspicion based on specific, objective, eyewitness obser-
vations such as of an employee’s manner, disposition, muscular movement, appearance, 
behavior, speech or breath odor; an employee’s actual use or possession of alcohol or an illegal 
drug as defined herein; information provided to management by an employee, by law 
enforcement officials, by security service personnel, or by other persons believed to be reliable; 
or a suspicion that is based on other surrounding circumstances.  

Prohibited Conduct  

A. Scope  

The prohibitions of this section apply to all departments, all employees, all job applicants, and all 
independent contractors performing work for the NCPA.  Furthermore, the prohibitions of this 
section apply whenever the interests of the NCPA may be adversely affected, including any time 
any of these defined individuals is:  

1. On NCPA premises or facilities;  

2. Conducting or performing NCPA business;  

3. Operating or responsible for the operations, custody, or care of NCPA 
equipment or other property;   

4. Responsible for the safety of others in connection with, or while performing, 
NCPA-related business; or  

5. Driving on NCPA premises or business.  

B. Alcohol  

No employee shall use alcohol while on duty without authorization.  In certain circumstances, 
an employee or independent contractor may be required to attend off-site, after hours 
social/business events where alcohol is served.  In these situations, when the employee is 
authorized to attend, the consumption of a limited amount of alcohol is permitted.  

The use of alcohol or a controlled substance within four (4) hours before an employee is due to 
report to work on NCPA premises is prohibited.  An employee who is subject to “call-out” for 
unforeseen situations, and who has recently used alcohol should respond to the call using these 
guidelines:  

The employee should notify the Supervisor of the recent use of alcohol and;  

P407.7-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

1. Request that another qualified employee respond; or  

2. If the employee is the only one qualified to respond, allow the Supervisor to 
make the determination whether to permit the employee to respond at a later 
time.  

C. Illegal Drugs  

The following acts are prohibited and engaging in them may subject an employee to disciplinary 
action up to termination:  

1. The unauthorized use, possession, purchase, sale, manufacture, distribution, 
transportation, or dispensation of alcohol while performing Agency work or on 
Agency premises; or  

2. Being under the influence of alcohol while engaged in Agency work or applying 
for a position with the Agency.  

Furthermore, if a job applicant engages in such conduct, such an individual will not be hired. If 
an independent contractor performing work for the NCPA engages in such conduct, it may 
result in the termination of that individual’s contract with the Agency.  

D. Legal Drugs  

The following acts are prohibited and may subject an employee to disciplinary action up to 
termination.  Furthermore, if a job applicant engages in such conduct, such an individual will 
not be employed.  If an independent contractor performing work for the NCPA engages in such 
conduct, it may result in the termination of that individual’s contract with the Agency.  

1. The abuse of any legal drug while performing Agency work; or  

2. The purchase, sale, manufacture, distribution, transportation, dispensation, or 
possession of any legal prescription drug in a manner inconsistent with law 
while performing Agency work or on Agency premises; or  

3. Working while impaired by the use of a legal drug whenever such impairment 
might:  

 Endanger the safety of the employee or some other person;  

 Pose a risk of significant damage to NCPA property or equipment; or  

 Substantially interfere with the employee’s job performance or the efficient 
operation of the NCPA’s business or equipment.  

An employee receiving medical treatment whose treatment requires the use of a legal drug that 
may affect his or her performance must report such use to his or her Supervisor prior to the 
performance of NCPA business.  The supervisor who is so informed shall contact the NCPA 
Human Resources Manager for guidance if needed.  

P407.7-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

The undisclosed use of any legal drug by any employee that may affect the employee’s 
performance while performing NCPA business or while on NCPA premises is prohibited. 
However, an employee may continue to work even though using a legal drug if his or her 
supervisor has determined, after consulting with the employee and the Human Resources 
Manager, that such use does not pose a threat to safety and that the using employee’s job 
performance is not significantly affected so as to affect safety on the job.  

DISCIPLINE  

A. Discharge for Violation of this Policy shall proceed as follows:  

The first violation of this policy may result in termination whenever the prohibited conduct:  

1. Caused serious injury to the employee or any other person, or endangered the 
safety of the employee or any other person;  

2. Resulted in significant damage to NCPA property or equipment, or posed a risk 
of significant damage;  

3. Involved the sale, attempt to sell, or manufacture of illegal drugs or other con-
trolled substances on NCPA premises or while on NCPA business;  

4. Involved the possession, distribution, transfer, or dispensation of illegal drugs or 
other controlled substances on NCPA premises or while on NCPA business;  

5. Involved the failure of an employee to report, within five calendar days, a 
criminal conviction of any federal or state criminal drug statute for a violation 
occurring in the workplace or during any NCPA related activity or event.  

6. Involved a positive drug/alcohol test when the employee was engaged in 
Agency business. 

B. Discretion Not to Discharge  

NCPA management may choose not to discharge an employee for a first violation of this policy 
if the employee satisfactorily participates in and completes an approved drug or alcohol abuse 
assistance or rehabilitation program when recommended by NCPA management or the 
employee contacts the Employee Assistance Program (“EAP”) within two working days after 
being referred there by management and follows the recommendations made by the EAP for 
successful rehabilitation.  The decision to discharge an employee for a violation under this policy 
involves consideration by the immediate supervisor or Manager, AGM and Human Resources 
Manager.  

Any employee who is found to be in possession of or under the influence of alcohol, legal or 
illegal drugs or in possession of contraband in violation of this policy will be subject to major 
discipline up to and including discharge, and may not be subject to progressive discipline under 
NCPA Personnel Discipline Policy.  However, the employee retains the right to appeal the 
discipline in accordance with NCPA policy.  

P407.7-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Written Warning:  An employee who is not discharged for a first violation of this policy will 
receive a written warning last chance agreement and unpaid suspension. Effect of Second 
Violation:  A second violation of this Policy at any time will result in discharge.  

C. Last Chance Agreement  

Any employee who is found, through drug or alcohol testing, to have in his or her body a 
detectable amount of an illegal drug or alcohol will be subject to major discipline up to and 
including immediate discharge except that, notwithstanding the policy set forth above, 
depending on the circumstances of the case and the employee involved, the employee may be 
offered a one-time “Last Chance Agreement” to enter and successfully complete a rehabilitation 
program that has been approved by NCPA.  If the employee agrees to the “Last Chance 
Agreement,” the employee must fully comply with the prescribed treatment program/after care 
and successfully complete it or he/she will face major discipline, including discharge without 
right of appeal.  During rehabilitation, the employee will be subject to unannounced drug or 
alcohol testing.  Upon return to work from rehabilitation, the employee will be subject to 
unannounced drug or alcohol testing for a period of up to sixty (60) months.  Any test that is 
confirmed as positive during or following rehabilitation will result in discharge without right of 
appeal.  

D. Effect of Criminal Conviction  

An employee who is convicted under a criminal drug statute or for driving under the influence 
of alcohol or drugs for a violation occurring in the workplace, during work hours, or during any 
NCPA-related activity or event will be deemed to have violated this Policy.  

E.    Effect of Discharge on Eligibility for Rehire  

Employees who are discharged for violation of this Policy will not be eligible for rehire by 
NCPA.  

EDUCATION  

A. Management Awareness: Supervisors and other management or lead personnel are to 
be:  

1. Attentive to the performance and conduct of those who work with them and 
should not permit an employee to work in an impaired condition or to 
otherwise engage in conduct that violates this policy.  

2. Provided training in detecting the signs and behavior of employees who may be 
using drugs or alcohol in violation of this policy;  

3. Provided training in the steps involved in intervening in situations that may re-
sult in violations of this policy;  

4. Trained in recognizing the above activities as a direct job responsibility.  

When management has reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee or employees are 

P407.7-5 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

working in violation of this policy, prompt action will be taken.  

B.  Employee Awareness: Employees are to be informed of:  
 

1. The health and safety dangers associated with drug and alcohol use in the work-
place;  

2. The behavior of those who may be using drugs or alcohol in violation of this 
policy;  

3. How to help a fellow employee or family member if they show signs of drug or 
alcohol abuse;  

4. Their responsibilities under the provisions of this policy.  

C. Criminal Convictions  

Employees must notify their supervisor of any conviction under a criminal drug statute or for 
driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs for a violation occurring in the workplace, during 
work hours, or during any NCPA-related activity or event within five (5) days after any such 
conviction.  Failure to provide such notification within five (5) calendar days is a violation of 
this policy.  When required to federal law, the NCPA will notify any federal Agency with which 
it has a contract of any employee who has been convicted under a criminal drug statute for a 
violation occurring in the workplace.  

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING OF JOB APPLICANTS  

As part of the NCPA’s pre-employment screening process, certain applicants for employment, 
including applicants for part-time and seasonal positions and applicants who are former 
employees, are subject to drug and alcohol testing consistent with their job requirements and the 
Agency’s business necessity before hire at the NCPA’s expense.  

Any offer of employment is conditioned on a negative test result.  

An applicant will be notified of the NCPA drug and alcohol testing policy in the employment 
application process.  An applicant will also be informed that the consequence of refusal to 
undergo the drug and alcohol testing is termination of the pre-employment process and 
ineligibility for employment.  

If an applicant refuses to take a drug or alcohol test, or if evidence of the use of illegal drugs or 
alcohol by an applicant is discovered, either through testing or other means, the pre-
employment process will be terminated.  

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING OF EMPLOYEES  

NCPA will notify employees of this policy by:  

P407.7-6 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

1. Providing to each employee a copy of the policy, and obtaining a written 
acknowledgement from each employee that the policy has been received and 
read.  

 
2. Announcing the policy in various written communications and making presenta-

tions at employee meetings.  

NCPA management may perform drug or alcohol testing at NCPA’s expense for the following 
reasons:  

1. Reasonable Suspicion Testing:  Any employee who manifests “reasonable 
suspicion” behavior as defined in this Policy will be subject to drug and alcohol 
testing.  The employee will be asked about any observed behavior and offered 
an opportunity to give a reasonable explanation. If the employee is unable to 
explain the behavior, he or she will be requested to take a drug or alcohol test 
in accordance with the procedures outlined below.  

 
2. Post Incident Testing:  Any employee who may be responsible for an incident 

that results in severe injury or loss of life, property damage or environmental 
damage in the amount of $3,000.00 or more as determined by NCPA 
management will be subject to drug and alcohol testing. This may also include 
any employee involved in an incident as noted above where responsibility has 
not been determined.  Post incident tests are to be completed within 2-8 hours 
of the incident.  Any employee who is to undergo a post incident test who has 
not yet been tested is forbidden from using drugs or alcohol within 8 hours of 
the incident except for those drugs provided by a medical attendant after the 
incident.  

3. Employees Who Have Tested Positive:  Any employee who has completed a 
NCPA approved drug/alcohol rehabilitation program and returned to work may 
be subjected to drug and alcohol testing on a random basis for up to 60 months 
from the date of return (See Section IV. C. above).  

4. Annual Testing:  Any employee holding safety sensitive positions that fall 
under Department of Transportation regulations or who is subject to drug or 
alcohol testing pursuant to federal or state rules, regulations or laws may be 
subjected to drug and alcohol testing.  This testing will be scheduled through 
NCPA management.  

An employee’s consent to submit to drug or alcohol testing is required as a condition of 
employment.  The employee’s refusal to consent may result in major disciplinary action, 
including discharge, for a first refusal or any subsequent refusal.  

Represented employees have the right to representation during discussions with management 
prior to a drug or alcohol test based on “reasonable suspicion.”  If a shop steward is not present, 
an available department employee may be selected by the employee to represent the interests of 
said employee.  Such representation shall not, in any way, delay or interfere with the 
implementation of this policy and its related procedures.  

P407.7-7 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

An employee’s time spent on testing and travel time shall be paid under regular pay status, 
including overtime, if applicable.  

An employee tested in a “reasonable suspicion” situation may be transported by a member of 
management or his/her designee to the drug/alcohol-testing clinic.  Thereafter, arrangements 
may be made for the employee to be transported home and to pick up his or her vehicle at a 
later time.  The employee may be suspended with pay pending receipt of written test results and 
for whatever inquiries may be required.  

DRUG TESTING PROCEDURES  

In addition to the drug testing procedures set forth above for applicants at Section VI, and for 
employees at Section VII, the applicant and employee will have the opportunity to alert the 
clinic or laboratory personnel performing the drug and alcohol test to any prescription or non-
prescriptions drugs that he or she has taken that may affect the outcome of the test.  

In addition to the written notifications and acknowledgements set forth above for applicants at 
Section VI, and for employees at Section VII, an employee subject to testing under this policy 
will be asked to sign a form acknowledging the procedures governing testing, and consenting to 
(1) the collection of a sample for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol or drugs, 
and (2) the release to NCPA of medical information regarding the test results.  Refusal to sign 
the agreement and consent form, or to submit to the alcohol/drug test, will result in the 
revocation of an applicant’s job offer, or will subject an employee to discipline up to and 
including termination.  

APPEAL OF A DRUG OR ALCOHOL TEST RESULT  

An applicant or employee whose drug or alcohol test is reported positive will be offered the 
opportunity of a meeting to offer an explanation.  The purpose of the meeting will be to 
determine if there is any reason that a positive finding could have resulted from some cause 
other than drug or alcohol use.  NCPA, through its Human Resources Manager, will determine 
whether an offered explanation merits further inquiry.  

Testing for drugs will follow split sample procedures.  An employee whose test is reported 
positive will be given 72 hours to provide a written request for:  

 The remaining portion of the split sample urine specimen that yielded the positive drug 

result, to be tested again at the same or at another laboratory.  

There is no split testing available for Breath Alcohol Tests.  

During the period of an appeal and any resulting inquiries, the pre-employment selection 
process for an applicant will be placed on hold, and the employment status of an employee may 
be suspended.  An employee who is suspended pending appeal will be permitted to use any 
available accrued paid leave in order to remain in an active pay status.  If the employee has no 
annual leave or chooses not to use it, the suspension will be without pay, but NCPA will 
continue the employee’s health benefits.  If the second sample analysis yields a negative result, 

P407.7-8 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

the employee will be paid his or her regular base pay for the period of unpaid suspension and 
any accrued annual leave that was used will be credited back to the employee.  

REHABILITATION AND EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE  

NCPA maintains an Employee Assistance Program (“EAP”), which provides help to employees 
who seek assistance for drug or alcohol abuse, as well as for other personal or emotional 
problems.  Employees who suspect that they may have alcohol or drug problems, even in the 
early stages, are encouraged to voluntarily seek diagnosis and to follow through with the 
treatment as prescribed by qualified professionals.  Employees should be aware that 
participation in the EAP will not necessarily shield them from disciplinary action for a violation 
of this policy, particularly if discipline is imposed for a violation occurring before the employee 
seeks assistance.  

Any employee who wishes to voluntarily enter and participate in an alcohol or drug 
rehabilitation program will be reasonably accommodated, if the circumstances so warrant, 
provided that the reasonable accommodation does not impose an undue hardship to NCPA.  
However, no accommodations will be provided to employees who continue to abuse alcohol or 
illegal drugs while actively working for NCPA.  

As set forth above, at Section IV. C., at the discretion of management, rehabilitation assistance 
in lieu of disciplinary action or discharge may be offered.  

An employee who is in a rehabilitation program will be placed on unpaid leave of absence, and 
may use any available accrued paid leave.  An employee who is in a rehabilitation program or 
who has completed rehabilitation will be allowed to return to work upon presentation of a 
written release signed by a licensed physician or recognized rehabilitation professional. The 
release must include a statement to the effect that the employee is fit to perform his or her 
duties, and the employee’s presence in the workplace will not constitute a safety hazard to the 
employee, co-workers or others.  

Rehabilitation assistance given by NCPA will be:  

1. Limited to those medical benefits that may be available in the employee’s 

benefits plan. The treatment program should include medical monitoring, 

treatment, counseling, testing and detoxification if needed.  
 

2. Limited to those benefits that may be obtained through an Agency-provided 
rehabilitation program where treatment plan/program and cost have been pre-
approved by NCPA.  

3. Provided after release from the formal treatment program, so that follow-up 
treatment obtained by the employee occurs during times that will not conflict 
with the employee’s work time, except that the employee may use any available 
sick leave or accrued paid leave to be absent from the job with pay.  

P407.7-9 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

NCPA will provide to any employee, upon request and at no cost to the employee, information 
concerning local resources that are available for the treatment of drug and alcohol related 
problems and concerning the use of the Agency’s Employee Assistance Program.  

INSPECTIONS AND SEARCHES  

If there is a reasonable suspicion that this policy is being violated, NCPA may conduct 
unannounced general inspections and searches for drugs or alcohol or related paraphernalia on 
NCPA premises or in NCPA vehicles or equipment wherever located.  Employees are expected 
to cooperate.  

Search of an employee and his or her personal property may be made when there is of this 
reasonable suspicion to conclude that the employee is in violation policy.  Such searches will be 
for drugs or alcohol or related paraphernalia.  

An employee’s consent to a search is required as a condition of employment, and the employee’s 
refusal to consent may result in disciplinary action, including discharge, even for a first refusal.  

Illegal drugs, drugs believed to be illegal, and drug paraphernalia found on NCPA property will 
be turned over to the appropriate law enforcement agency and full cooperation will be given by 
NCPA to any subsequent investigation.  Substances that cannot be identified as an illegal drug 
by a layman’s examination will be turned over to a forensic laboratory for scientific analysis.  

Other forms of contraband, such as firearms, explosives, and lethal weapons, will be subject to 
seizure during an inspection or search.  An employee who is found to possess contraband, as 
defined herein, on NCPA property or while on NCPA business will be subject to major 
discipline up to and including discharge.  

If an employee is the subject of a drug-related investigation by NCPA or by a law enforcement 
agency, the employee may be suspended pending completion of the investigation.  

CONFIDENTIALITY  

Disclosures made by employees to the Human Resources Manager concerning those employees’ 
use of legal drugs will be treated confidentially and will not be revealed to managers or 
supervisors unless there is an important work-related reason to do so in order to determine 
whether it is advisable for the employee to continue working.  Disclosures made by employees 
to the Human Resources Manager concerning the participation by those employees in any drug 
or alcohol rehabilitation program will be treated confidentially.  Where required by law, or 
overriding public health and safety concerns, information subject to this confidentiality clause 
will be disclosed. An employee is entitled to obtain copies of records pertaining to the 
employee’s use of prohibited drugs or alcohol, including any records pertaining to his or her 
drug or alcohol tests.  

  

P407.7-10 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

NON-UNION STAFF GRIEVANCE FORM (PROCEDURE 407.9) 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Name _______________________________________   Department ______________________________ 
 
Position_____________________________________   Work Phone ____________________________ 
 
INSTRUCTIONS:  The Grievance procedure has three steps.  The first is informal resolution, the 
second a formal written grievance and the third a review by the General Manager.  Each step is 
required before the next step may be initiated.  This form may be used by an employee to initiate a 
formal grievance at Step 2 after Step 1 has been completed.  
 
The policy is found in the Personnel Policy and Procedures Manual.  
 

STEP 1 INFORMAL RESOLUTION 
Step 1 of the grievance process is an informal resolution.  You and your supervisor are encouraged to 
resolve your grievance at this step.  Please advise your supervisor that your informal discussion constitutes 
Step 1 of the Grievance procedure.  
 

STEP 2 FORMAL GRIEVANCE 
From the date of the grievable event, you have 15 calendar days to file a formal, written grievance.  The 
written grievance is considered filed when it is submitted to your immediate supervisor and the Human 
Resources Director.  
 

You must provide the following information:  

1) The date of the grievable event: ____________________________ 

2) A specific statement of the written law, rule policy and/or procedure violated. What action or 
conduct constituted the violation and what happened? 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

Total Number of Page Attached: _____________________________ 

 

1. The resolution or remedy you want. 

______________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________ 

 

2. Employee signature and date filed with supervisor/manager. 

_______________________________________________      Date: _______________ 

 

_________________________________________        _________________________________ 
Supervisor’s/Manager Signature        Date received from employee  

 
STEP 3 FORMAL GRIEVANCE 

If you do not resolve your grievance at Step 2, you may advance the grievance to Step 3 by 

notifying the General Manager in writing.  The notification of appeal must be in writing and must be 

received within 15 calendar days of receipt of management’s response at Step 2.  

P407.9-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P407.10 SERVICE RECOGNITION PROCEDURE 

This procedure provides for the recognition of employees for their length of service with the 
Agency.   

Timing and Nature of Awards  
 

 Awards are granted starting at five (5) years and for each five-year increment thereafter;  

 Presentation of service awards is semi-annually; and  

 An appropriate presentation ceremony will be held.  

 Presentation Ceremonies  

Each NCPA location may determine the manner in which service awards are presented 

provided that:  
 

 Presentation ceremonies held during work hours are reasonable in duration and 
consistent with the Agency’s mission and business needs; and  

 Expenses incurred for the presentation of service awards are just, reasonable, and 
necessary for providing an appropriate event.  

 Each location may combine service award presentations with other recognition 
ceremonies if desired.  

Calculating Service  
 

“Service” is defined as the length of time the employee served as a continuous regular full-time 

employee with NCPA.   

 

Service Recognition Award Items  
 

Service recognition gift items are provided through the Human Resources Department.  

Employees eligible for service awards receive a gift card in an amount that is based on their 

years of service.  Awards are delivered to the employee’s work location.  
  

P407.10-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P407.11 SUGGESTION AND AWARD PROCEDURE 

Definition of a Suggestion  

Suggestions can apply to safety, service, efficiency and reliability improvements.  A special 
category identifies waste minimization, pollution prevention, and emissions reduction ideas.  

  
Making a Suggestion  

A. Once an employee identifies an area for improvement, the employee shall complete a 
Suggestion form.  (Copy attached to this procedure)  Included on this form are:  

1. A description of the problem or opportunity that exists.  

2. The suggestion from the employee on how to resolve the problem or capitalize 
on the opportunity.  Employees should include sketches or drawings as 
reference to show the existing condition and the condition following 
implementation of the suggestion.  

3. The employee should include cost estimates for making the improvement.  This 
should include any quotes or estimates obtained from contractors, suppliers, or 
vendors.  

4. The employee should include what the expected benefits are for implementing 
the suggestion.  This should include all tangible and intangible benefits.  If 
possible, include Return-on-Investment (ROI) information.  

5. The employee should also include any other comments or information that 
helps to substantiate the improvement.  

B. The completed form shall be submitted to the department’s Administrative Assistant or 

other designated coordinator who will initiate the following:  
 

1. Assign the suggestion a listing number and add it to the Suggestion Master 
Tracking Sheet.  (Copy attached to this procedure).  

2. The Master Tracking Sheet includes:  
 

a) The listing number of the suggestion.  

b) The date the suggestion form and documentation is received.  
c) The name of the employee that submitted the suggestion. 
d) A summary of the suggestion.  
e) The date that the review of the suggestion is assigned.  
f) The person (or persons) that the review of the suggestion is assigned  

   to.  
g) The final conclusion (adopted or not).  
h) The date the suggestion is closed.  

i) If the suggestion is approved, the date the check request was   

P407.11-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

  submitted for the $50 reward.  
j) The date the check was presented, if applicable.  

Review Process  

An individual or a panel of individuals might be assigned to review the suggestion.  This review 
“panel” could be made up of managers, supervisors, or professional staff.  Knowledge of or 
experience with equipment or processes connected with the suggestion will be used to 
determine the most qualified evaluator(s). 

The suggestion assignment designee will be made known to the suggester by way of email. The 
suggester will then be periodically updated as to the status of the suggestion if the evaluation 
process is taking an excessive length of time.  The suggestion reviewer(s) will be tasked with:  

1. Reviewing the suggestion for completeness.  If further information is needed, 
the reviewer(s) will contact the employee that submitted the suggestion and 
request that further information.  

2. Ensure that the suggestion meets the intent of the program.  

3. Determine if the suggestion is feasible and that the ROI calculations (if 
applicable) are correct.  If the suggestion is determined not to be feasible, the 
employee that submitted the suggestion will be informed as to the reasons why.  

4. If the suggestion meets the intent of the program and provides benefit, the 
reviewer(s) will inform the facility manager of their findings.  

Suggestion Award  

For any suggestion that is implemented, the suggester will be awarded a check in the amount of 
$50.  Managers will determine the appropriate time to present the check, however, checks will 
be awarded at least twice per year.  

Use of Suggestion Form  

Suggestions are to be emailed directly to the department’s Administrative Assistant or 
coordinator at each facility.   

  

P407.11-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

 

SUGGESTION  

For improving a Condition at NCPA:  CT1, CT2, Geo, Hydro, Roseville, or Stig 

Facilities. (  ) Check here if suggestion reduces waste and/or pollution - forward to 

EH&S.   

 
Describe the problem (or opportunity) that now exists:  
 

 

What do you suggest should be done (if useful, attach sketches, drawings, 
etc.):  

 

 

What, if any, are the estimated costs to do what is suggested (if possible, 
attach any appropriate quotes or estimates obtained from contractors, 
vendors, suppliers, etc.): 
 
 
 
 

  What are the benefits of implementing the suggestion?  
 

 

Any other comments:  (ex. was the pollution prevented a hazardous waste?)  

 

 

Date:       Name:  

_____________________________ _______________________________ 

P407.11-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

  
  

P407.11-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P408.1 WORK INCURRED INJURY/ILLNESS MEDICAL APPOINTMENT 
 
Purpose   

NCPA management makes it a priority to provide a safe work environment.  Despite everyone’s 
efforts to maintain a safe workplace, an employee can be injured or become ill as a result of his 
or her job.  In addition to the Illness and Injury Prevention Plan, this procedure provides 
guidance for the reporting and initial treatment of a work incurred injury or illness which may 
occur as a result of a:   

 Vehicle Accident  

An event that results in harm to those involved.   

 Minor Accident   

Is an accident that results in an injury for which no medical care beyond first aid is 
required.   

 Lost-Time Accident/Illness  

Any work-related injury/illness that results in a loss of at least one (1) fully scheduled 
workday.   

Accident Notification Process    

Accidents and illnesses on the job require immediate notification to the employee’s supervisor 
or a designated management person. Accidents resulting in more than $3,000 in damage or 
personal injury require a post-accident drug/alcohol screening.  Please see the Drug and Alcohol 
Free Workplace Procedure for more details on this screening.     

The accident/illness must be reported as soon as possible to Human Resources by the 
Supervisor/Manager so that a Worker’s Compensation claim can be initiated and filed.    

Employee Visits to Physicians   

A Doctor Referral Form should be completed if an employee is referred to an approved 
physician or medical facility for initial treatment of a work-incurred injury or illness.  The 
Supervisor or Manager shall accompany an employee to the medical facility and be available to 
discuss restrictions or light duty work with the physician.  Even if the need for medical 
treatment occurs after hours or outside the employee’s shift, the employee needs to immediately 
notify the Supervisor or Manager so that he or she can meet the employee at the medical 
treatment center.  The Supervisor is not to be present when the medical examination or 
treatment is taking place.  The Supervisor is present to explain the employee’s job description 
and answer any questions about work restrictions or accommodations that can be made for light 
duty work.   

P408.1-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

The first visit to a physician or hospital following an occupational injury or illness that occurs 
during the employee’s regular work shift shall be compensated by the Agency at straight time 
pay.  This paid time off for medical treatment shall not count as hours worked toward the 
calculation of overtime for hourly employees.  A Worker’s Compensation appointment must be 
noted on the employee’s timesheet and reflect the number of regular hours to be paid for the 
time spent in the first appointment.    

If the first Worker’s Compensation medical appointment occurs outside of, or continues outside 
the employee’s work schedule or occurs on a day off, wages are not provided by NCPA.  Future 
visits to a physician or for follow-up medical treatment that occur during an employee’s work 
shift may be compensated by the employee’s election to use accrued sick leave or other accrued 
paid time off until such time as the claim is paid by the Worker’s Compensation Insurance 
provider.   Future medical appointments should be scheduled so that they occur with the least 
disruption to the work schedule.  These appointments should also be noted on the employee’s 
timesheets for Worker’s Compensation claim tracking/reporting.   

Any questions about this procedure should be directed to the Human Resources staff.  

  

P408.1-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

P408.4 WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PREVENTION PROCEDURE 

As outlined in Policy 408.4, it is the policy of the Agency not to tolerate violence or the threat of 
violence to any person or facility within its jurisdiction. This procedure prescribes the focus 
needed for prevention of violence at work, whether the violence originates inside or outside the 
workplace.  It applies to all workplace locations including offices and field sites and it includes 
regular work hours, overtime hours, and meal times.  

A violent workplace incident is defined as any incident involving physical assault, threatening or 
coercive behavior (whether verbal or physical), or violent criminal act directed toward any 
person or facility within the jurisdiction of the Agency.   

DUTIES and RESPONSIBILITIES   

Employees  

 Follow the guidelines set forth in this policy/procedure and the security requirements 
for your facility  

 Complete appropriate training as required  

 Conduct themselves in a professional manner and treat others with respect, fairness, and 
dignity  

 Immediately report any threat or violent act to their Supervisor or Manager and the 
Human Resources Manager.  

 Supervisors  

 Ensure employees are appropriately trained consistent with workplace violence 
prevention practices   

 Document all reported incidents of workplace violence and implement employee 
disciplinary action  

 Notify appropriate authorities if someone poses a danger to him/herself or others  

 Refer employees to assistance programs after critical incidents  

Contractors  

 Ensure all employees conduct themselves in a professional manner, refraining from 
profanity and derogatory expressions or names  

 Ensure employees are trained in workplace violence prevention  

 Work with NCPA site contact to ensure compliance with workplace violence prevention 
and this policy/procedure  

P408.4-1 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

Safety and Human Resources Staff  

 Provide technical support for interpretation and implementation of workplace violence 
prevention  

 Develop, conduct, coordinate, and/or approve workplace violence prevention training 
programs  

 Review, update and evaluate the effectiveness of the violence in the workplace 
prevention program  

 Refresher training is conducted every three years or when the need for more frequent 
training is recognized.  

SCOPE OF THE WORKPLACE VIOLENCE PROBLEM   

California joins a growing list of states in which assault and the violent acts represent the leading 
cause of death in the workplace.  The demographic profile of victims of fatal workplace assaults 
indicates that the majority are male.  However, even though the overall fatal workplace injury 
rate for women is substantially lower than it is for men, homicides represent the leading cause of 
death for women in the workplace.  Homicide is only part of the workplace violence problem - 
assaults which result in nonfatal injury, or in the threat of harm, are more common than those 
which result in fatal injury.     

Harassment is also considered a form of workplace violence.  Harassment is not just defined as 
sexual harassment.  Harassment includes any behavior that demeans, embarrasses, humiliates, 
annoys, alarms or verbally abuses a person.  Verbal abuse is related to workplace violence.  It 
can include swearing, insults or condescending language.   

WORKPLACE VIOLENCE CHARACTERISTICS   

The characteristics may involve a threat of violence, or a physical act of violence resulting in a 
fatal or nonfatal injury, to an employee, supervisor or manager of the affected workplace by the 
following types of individuals:    

1. A current or former employee, supervisor or manager; or some other person 
who has a dispute with an employee in the affected workplace, e.g. 
current/former spouse or lover, relative, friend or acquaintance.  

2. Most commonly, the primary target is a co-employee, a supervisor or manager 
of the assailant.  In committing this “type” of assault, an individual may be 
seeking revenge for what he or she perceives as unfair treatment by a co-
employee, a supervisor or manager of the assailant.  Increasingly, these events 
involve domestic or romantic disputes in which an employee is threatened in 
their workplace by an individual with whom they have a personal relationship 
outside of work.  

P408.4-2 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

3. At first glance, an assailant’s actions may defy reasonable explanation.  Often, 
though, his or her actions are motivated by perceived difficulties in his or her 
relationship with the victim, or with the affected workplace, and by psychosocial 
factors which are peculiar to the assailant.  

Prevention Strategy   

NCPA has established and implemented procedures to respond to workplace security hazards 
when they are present. Additionally, NCPA provides training to all employees, supervisors and 
managers that establishes a clear antiviolence management policy, which addresses workplace 
violence prevention.     

As part of NCPA’s anti-violence prevention strategy, NCPA assesses the following:   

1. How well our Agency’s anti-violence policy has been communicated to 
employees, supervisors or managers.  

2. How well our management and employees communicate with each other during 
actual emergencies.  

3. Access to and freedom of movement within, the workplace by non-employees, 
including recently discharged employees or persons with whom one of our 
employees is having a dispute.  

4. Frequency and severity of employee reports of threats of physical or verbal 
abuse by managers, supervisors or other employees.  

5. Any prior violent acts, threats of physical violence, verbal abuse, property 
damage or other signs of strain or pressure in the workplace.  

6. Employee disciplinary and discharge procedures.  

7. Pre-employment screening practices.  

8. Employee assistance programs.  

9. The area/neighborhood of work locations.   

Hazard Correction  

Hazards which threaten the security of workers shall be corrected in a timely manner based on 
severity.  Corrective measures for workplace security hazards can include:   

1. Utilizing surveillance measures, such as cameras, to provide information as to 
what is going on in or near the workplace.  

2. Procedures for the reporting of suspicious persons or activities.  

P408.4-3 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

3. Posting of emergency telephone numbers for law enforcement, fire and medical 
services.  

4. Limiting the amount of cash on hand.  

5. Effectively communicating our anti-violence policy to all employees, supervisors 
and managers.  

6. Training to improve management and employees communication with each 
other.  

7. Increasing awareness by employees, supervisors and managers of the warning 
signs of potential workplace violence.  

8. Controlling access to, and freedom of movement within, the workplace by non-
workers, including recently terminated employees or persons with whom one of 
our employees is having a dispute.  

9. Providing counseling to employees, supervisors or managers who exhibit 
behavior that represents strain or pressure which may lead to physical or verbal 
abuse of others.  

10. Ensure that all reports of violent acts, threats of physical violence, verbal abuse, 
property damage or other signs of strain or pressure in the workplace are 
handled effectively by management and that the person making the report is not 
subject to retaliation by the person making the threat.  

11. Ensure that the disciplinary and discharge procedures address the potential for 
workplace violence.  

12. Having effective systems to warn others of a security danger or to summon 
assistance.  

13. Providing procedures for a “buddy” system for certain situations.  

14. Providing worker training in recognizing and handling threatening or hostile 
situations that may lead to violent acts.   

Incident Investigation   

NCPA has established the following procedure for investigating incidents of workplace violence 
(including threats and physical injury):   
 

1. Review all previous incidents in the past five years.  

2. Visit the scene of an incident as soon as possible. 

3. Interview threatened or injured employees and witnesses.  

P408.4-4 



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 

Date Issued: April 24, 2016 
Date Revised:   

4. Examine the workplace for security risk factors associated with the incident, 
including any previous reports of inappropriate behavior by the perpetrator.  

5. Taking corrective action to prevent the incident from recurring.  

6. Recording the findings and corrective actions taken.  Records of the incident 
investigation and recommendations shall be maintained by the Human 
Resources Department for seven years.   

Training and Instruction  

Training for all employees, including managers and supervisors, will be repeated every three 
years or more often if needed.  Training includes:  

1. Review and definition of workplace violence;  

2. Instructions on how to report all incidents;  

3. Methods of recognizing and responding to workplace security hazards;  

4. Training on how to identify potential workplace security hazards (such as no 
lights in parking lot while leaving late at night, unknown person loitering outside 
the building, etc.);   

5. Use of security equipment and procedures;  

6. How to attempt to diffuse hostile or threatening situations;  

7. How to summon assistance in case of an emergency;  

8. Post-incident procedures, including reporting the incident.  

 

P408.4-5 















































4/12/2016

1

April 21, 2016

NCPA Commission
Budget Review

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

STRATEGIC PLAN 2016

1

MISSION
To provide our members cost effective wholesale power, energy-related services, and 

advocacy on behalf of public power consumers through joint action.

VISION
To be the premier provider of energy services to public entities.

STRATEGIES
• Attract, develop and retain professional, high quality staff. 
• Maintain position as credible, solution‐oriented coalition builder and leader in state and 

federal legislative and regulatory policy arenas. 
• Develop and maintain diverse generation resource portfolio in accordance with renewable 

portfolio standard and capacity obligations. 
• Protect, utilize and build on the strengths and unique aspects of JPA structure to benefit 

NCPA’s members.
• Develop/maintain strategies to control costs and minimize risks while maximizing the value 

of assets. 
• Grow new revenue and/or reduce member costs by exploring new members/participants 

and expansion of current services.
• Help articulate and promote the value of NCPA and public power utilities to member 

communities.

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y



4/12/2016

2

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Budget Process & Timeline

2

Commission 
Direction

• Receive Commission Direction in October

Staff 
Preparation

• November/December

Member 
Reviews

7-9 
Meetings

• Facilities Committee (February, March, April (if needed))
• Lodi Energy Center Participants Committee (February, March, April)
• Legislative and Regulatory Committee (February)
• Utility Directors (March  Retreat, April meeting)
• Commission Preview (March)

Commission 
Approval

• April, 2016

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Committee Recommendations

LEGISLATIVE & REGULATORY COMMITTEE
Recommended approval of L & R Proposed FY 2016 Budget at 
February 24, 2016 Committee meeting

FACILITIES COMMITTEE
Recommended approval of Generation Services, Administrative 
and Executive Services and Power Management Proposed FY 2017 
Budget at March 16, 2016 Special Committee meeting

LODI ENERGY CENTER PROJECT PARTICIPANTS COMMITTEE
Recommended approval of Lodi Energy Center (LEC) Proposed FY 
2016 Budget at April 11, 2016 Committee meeting

.



4/12/2016

3

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

NCPA Commission Budget Direction – FY 2017

April 12, 2016 4

• NCPA FY 2017 non-personnel 
budget proposed to come in 
above FY 2016 by 2.3 1.9%; 
below the target; 

• Labor costs up 8%

• Addition of 1.5 FTE headcount 
for new services (1 FTE in 
Settlements and 0.5 FTE in HR) 

Proposed Budget (Net) FY 17

5

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

Approved 2016 Proposed 2017

In
 th

ou
sa

nd
s

Generation Resources Transmission Power Management

Legislative & Regulatory Judicial Action Settlements

Risk Management Integrated Systems Support Pass through Costs

Proposed FY 2017 Budget, net of revenues, reflects an increase of $3.5 million or 
1.1% from FY 2016, primarily from higher transmission costs

$328,525$325,002
April revision:
Update to 
Transmission 
charges and 
Revenues; 
reductions in 
various 
programs; 
$9.0 million 
reduction to net 
budget



4/12/2016

4

Overall budget down $9.0 million
• Shift of IS labor from A & G to Power Management programs ($161k)
• Increase funding at LEC for DCS project ($100k)
• Increase funding at LEC for ammonia protection system and reduce STIG budget 

($91k) (special LEC meeting to consider; Facilities Committee approved)
• CAISO Transmission down $4.3mm – left rates the same; adjusted SVP down 

due to taking more mWh at high voltage rate vs low voltage
• Finalized funding for OPEB obligation based on proposed funding plan
• A & G budget revised based on above changes and corrections found during 

review
• Generation Services Admin reduced by $127k
• Hydroelectric Adit slide project reduced by $500k and crane painting deferred 

until 2018 ($125k)
• Removed Alameda pass through for BAMX  ($49k)
• Increased CAISO revenues for power plants ($3.9mm)
Plus…funding of LEC Projects will come from previous collections - $2.8mm

What Changed from March Draft?

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

6

Total Annual 
Budget - Net
$328.5 Million

Proposed Budget FY 2017

7

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Transmission
24.7%

Management 
Services

4.8%

Generation
70.1%

Passthrough
0.4%

NCPA Budget



4/12/2016

5

8

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

4/6/2016

Approved Proposed
2016 Inc/(Dec) 2017

GENERATION RESOURCES
NCPA Plants 67,692,045$          (1,286,102)$            66,405,943$            (A)
Member Resources - Energy 39,011,876            6,625,818              45,637,694              

Member Resources - Natural Gas 850,359                 825,079                 1,675,438                

Western Resources 19,838,319            152,657                 19,990,976              

Market Power Purchases 42,913,205            (3,610,842)             39,302,363              

Load Aggregation Costs 59,831,915            (3,819,954)             56,011,961              

Net GHG Obligations 3,029,825              (489,915)                2,539,910                

TOTAL GENERATION RESOURCES 233,167,544          (1,603,259)             231,564,285            

TRANSMISSION - Independent System Operator 76,011,752            4,989,591              81,001,343              

MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Legislative & Regulatory 3,840,703              98,583                   3,939,286                
Judicial Action 625,000                 -                        625,000                  
Power Management 9,737,415              217,648                 9,955,063                
Power Management - Direct to Programs (1,228,543)             (99,023)                  (1,327,566)               
Energy Risk Management 204,394                 7,413                     211,807                  
Settlements 667,384                 193,947                 861,331                  
Integrated Systems Support 532,573                 (222,173)                310,400                  

14,378,926            196,395                 14,575,321              

PARTICIPANT PASS THROUGH COSTS (TANC, DUES, ETC) 1,444,264              (60,517)                  1,383,747                
TOTAL NET ANNUAL BUDGET COST 325,002,486          3,522,210              328,524,696            

(A)    Lodi Energy Center's O&M Projects, Capital Projects and Maintenance Reserve will be funded by
        refund of Transmission Upgrade Project collections.

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY
ANNUAL BUDGETS

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

April revision:
Net budget down
$9.0 million 

 $-
 $20,000,000
 $40,000,000
 $60,000,000
 $80,000,000

 $100,000,000
 $120,000,000
 $140,000,000
 $160,000,000
 $180,000,000

NCPA Plants Management
Services

Power/Gas Transmission Pass-Through

FY 2016 Proposed FY 2017
9

Program Cost Comparisons (net of revenue)
• NCPA  net plant costs are down $1.3 million or 1.9% 
• Management Services budget is up $200k or 1.4%
• Power costs are down slightly, $300 thousand or 0.2%
• CAISO  transmission costs are up $5.0 million or 6.6%
• Pass-through costs are down $60k

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y



4/12/2016

6

NCPA Budget By Line Item – FY 2017

10

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Purchased Power
55.8%

Transmission
12.9% Pass-through

0.2%

Fuel
6.9%

Capital
1.3%

Debt Service
11.6%

Salaries & Benefits
5.8%

Operations & 
Maintenance

3.3%
Outside Services

2.0%

Purchased Power

Transmission

Pass-through

Fuel

Capital

Debt Service

Judicial Action

Salaries & Benefits

Operations & Maintenance

Outside Services

Northern California Power Agency
Fiscal Year Annual Budget  and Ten-Year Forecast (gross cost)

11

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y



4/12/2016

7

Labor up 8.0% 
($2.7mm)
Operations up 1.9% 
($0.7mm $0.5mm)
revised from March draft

CAISO TAC charges 
up ($9.3 $5.0mm) 
revised from March draft

Debt Service up 
($260k)
New budget category 
for LEC – CAISO buy 
back energy ($1.7mm)
Sales to CAISO for 
energy & ancillary 
services down ($4.2 
$0.3mm) revised from 
March draft

Lower purchased power 
and load aggregation 
costs ($0.3 mm)
Fuel costs are down 
($5.6 mm)
Reduced Plant projects   
($200k $850k)
revised from March draft

Reduced Property 
insurance & other costs 
(400k)
Reduced pass through 
costs by $49k
revised from March draft

12

Major Drivers of Budget Changes

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Proposed Management Services Budget – FY 2017

13

Legislative & 
Regulatory,  
$3,840,703 

Judicial 
Action,  

$625,000 

Power 
Management,  
$9,737,415 

Energy Risk 
Management,  

$204,394 

Settlements,  
$667,384 

Integrated 
Systems 
Support,  
$532,573 

Management Services

Proposed FY 2017 Budget reflects slight increase of $100k $300k from FY 2016 
budget due to reductions in operating costs offset by labor increases

Transmission
24.7%

Management 
Services

4.8%

Generation
70.1%

Passthrough
0.4%

NCPA Budget

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Total Annual Budget Cost 
$328.5 Million



4/12/2016

8

14

Generation Resources – NCPA Plants
Proposed 2017 Budget reflects a $1.6 million or 0.8% overall decrease from FY 2016 on a gross 
basis.  After applying lower revenues, the budget is down $1.3 million from FY 2016.

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

In
 th

ou
sa

nd
s

Approved 2015 Approved 2016 Proposed 2017

Hydro Project Geo Plant CT 1 CT 2 Lodi Energy Center

$192,185 $190,554$186,285

 -

 10,000,000

 20,000,000

 30,000,000

 40,000,000

 50,000,000

 60,000,000

Hydro
2013

Hydro
2014

Hydro
2015

Hydro
2016

Hydro
2017

Projects
Debt
Fuel
A & G/Other
Labor
Routine O & M

$51,854,466 $51,159,361
``

15

Hydroelectric Project Costs before revenues are up slightly ($0.7 million or 1.4%) 
due to labor, O & M projects and debt service.  Revenues are down $0.2 million.

$54,255,913

$51,185,927
3

$51,145,237

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
Reduced capital 
projects by $650k; 
increased revenues 
by $2.0mm



4/12/2016

9

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

 $40,000,000

Geo 2013 Geo 2014 Geo 2015 Geo 2016 Geo
Proposed

2017

Projects
Drilling for Others
Debt
Fuel
A & G/Other
Labor
Routine O & M

$32,326,914
$34,011,746 $32,477,627 

16

Geothermal Costs up $667k due to:  O & M costs (including labor) is up by $1.0 million; offset 
by decreases in O & M projects of $350k.  Revenues are down $1.6 million due to prices.

$33,145,305

$38,846,973

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
Decreased 
revenue by $1.1 
million

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

CT1 2013 CT1 2014 CT1 2015 CT1 2016 Proposed
2017

Projects
Fuel
A & G/Other
Labor
Routine O & M

$2,040,165
$2,307,975

$2,877,315

17

CT1 Project Costs are down 8%; Increase in Routine O & M and Labor;  Fuel included as 
part of the budget this year; Increases  are offset by decrease in Projects

$2,870,160
$2,648,330

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
No changes



4/12/2016

10

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $9,000,000

 $10,000,000

CT2 2013 CT2 2014 CT2 2015 CT2 2016 CT2
Proposed

2017

Projects
Debt
Fuel
A & G/Other
Labor
Routine O & M

$8,967,966

18

CT 2 overall costs are up by $156k or 1.8%.  Routine O & M, labor and administrative costs 
are up 174k;  Fuel costs are down by $17k; Debt Service is down by $53k; Projects are up by 
$53k.  Plant output is up and so is revenue ($181k).

$8,587,238
$8,934,726 $9,023,698

$8,431,199

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
Removed 
Anhydrous 
Ammonia Project 
$90k; increased 
revenues $114k

 $-

 $10,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $50,000,000

 $60,000,000

 $70,000,000

 $80,000,000

 $90,000,000

 $100,000,000

LEC 2013 LEC 2014 LEC 2015 LEC 2016 LEC
Proposed

2017

Projects
Debt
Fuel
GHG/Energy
A & G/Other
Labor
Routine O & M

$94,318,807$92,821,741
$86,369,585

19

Lodi Energy Center budget is down $2.9 million primarily due to lower variable 
costs, including fuel ($5.8 million). Routine O & M, labor and administrative 
allocations are up $1.3 million and projects are down $150k.  A new budget item 
was added for energy charges to PWRPA - $1.7 million.  

$97,260,649
$90,573,421

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
Increased Anhydrous 
Ammonia Project $90k 
and DCS project 100k;  
increased revenues $2.9 
million; adjusted A & G



4/12/2016

11

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

Approved
FY 2013

Approved
FY 2014

Approved
FY 2015

Approved
FY 2016

Proposed
FY 2017

Admin Svc
Power Mgmt
L & R

$20,396,927
`

20

$21,877,286
20,389,481

Other NCPA Divisions budgets increased by 5.5% or $1.1 
million due to labor ($950k) and capital and other projects

$20,736,668 $20,486,257

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
Changed 
labor 
allocation 
among 
programs

21

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

A & G Cost Comparison per Mwh

$6.40 
$6.08 

$6.77 
$6.41  $6.64 

$3.17  $3.24 
$3.61  $3.34  $3.31 

 $‐

 $1.00

 $2.00

 $3.00

 $4.00

 $5.00

 $6.00

 $7.00

 $8.00

Administrative cost per Mwh (plants only)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017



4/12/2016

12

Salaries and Benefits Comparison to Prior Years

22

Salaries and Benefits are above prior year budget (8%).  Key drivers include negotiated salary 
increases with the unions (2.3%), an increase of 1.2% for CalPERS Pension contribution, 
increased contribution for Retiree Medical Plan and a 15% increase in health care premiums

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

 $40,000,000

2015 Budget 2016 Budget 2017 Proposed Budget

NCPA Salaries CalPERS Pension Retiree Medical
Medical Dental & Other Taxes, Insurance

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:  No changes

23

Benefit Increases from 2016

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

CalPERS
Retirement

Healthcare Retiree
Medical

Vision &
Other

FICA & SUI Worker's
Comp

2016 Budget 2017 Proposed Budget

Additional 
Funding @ 
15 years -
$395k

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y



4/12/2016

13

Historical and Proposed Staffing FTEs - Budget FY 2017

24

165.6 172
163

 -

 20.0

 40.0

 60.0

 80.0

 100.0

 120.0

 140.0

 160.0

 180.0

 200.0

1995 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

198.0 

165.0 160.0 153.0 
140.5 143.5 143.0 141.0 141.5 143.0 

5.6 19.0 
22.5 21.5 19.5 21.0 21.0 21.0 

Fu
ll 

tim
e 

eq
ui

va
le

nt
s 

(F
TE

)

Fiscal Year Ended

162.5

LEC additions/shifts in gray

162.5 162 164.0165

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
No changes

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

25

Proposed staffing changes for full time positions;
net addition 1.5 FTE

Action FTE Project/Program Position

Add 1.0 Power Settlements Accountant/Analyst I (if 
additional customers are 
added)

Delete 0.5 Human Resources Delete Human Resources 
Assistant (1/2 year) used for 
succession planning

Add 1.0 Human Resources Human Resources Assistant –
for additional support in HR

Net change 1.5



4/12/2016

14

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Proposed staffing changes for part-time casual positions

Action FTE Project/Program Position

Delete -0.46 Human Resources Delete Human Resources 
Director used for retirement 
transition

Add 0.39 CT (Gas Plants) Student Intern (engineering)

Net change -0.07

26

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

91

13

7

12

9
4

15
11 2

Generation Services Power Management
Legislative & Regulatory Scheduling & Dispatch
Accounting & Finance Power Accounts
Information Services General Mgr & Administrative

Proposed Staffing by Department
Proposed Budget FY 2016-17
Number of FTE’s Total FTE  - 164.0

27



4/12/2016

15

Salary & Benefit Changes

• Negotiations completed at end of CY 2015 
– Raises for represented employees are:

• 3.75% for calendar 2016
• 3.5% for calendar 2017
• 3.25% for calendar 2018

• No COLA or step increases for unrepresented employees; 
salary adjustments are for merit, promotion, upgrades, 
training and certifications, etc.  Merit only for high 
performing staff in accordance with approved merit plan. 

• Benefit costs (medical, pension, etc.) up by 17.8% 
primarily due to CalPERS pension and Retiree Medical 
Plan cost increases due to changes in actuarial 
assumptions and additional funding for 15 year 
amortization of Retiree Medical liability

28

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Historical FTE by Project – Generation Services

0
20
40
60

80

100

120

6 6 6 5 5 4.5 6 5 5 5

16 15 15 13 6.5 6 6 6 6 6

53 53 52 49
45 45 43 42 41 41

18 18 18
18

18 18 18 18 18 18

3.6 19
22.5 21.5 19.5 21 21 21 LEC

Hydro
Geo
CT1 and 2
Gen Svcs

2017 includes no change in full time positions.  Added one part-time casual 
student intern position at the CT plants

29



4/12/2016

16

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

Historical FTE by Program – Management Services

Addition of 1 FTE in  Power Settlements to support additional 
customer workload and 0.5 FTE in Human Resources to support 

additional training/internship and other new programs 30

• Administrative & General
– No changes from last year

• Power Management
– Changes to Nexant Cost Allocation 

• Reinstate PIRP treatment for Hour ahead and CAISO 
Schedule counts and maintain IT Unit complexity for PIRP 
resources at “1” (March 4 Commission meeting)

• Adjust Prescheduling labor allocations based on updated time 
study conducted by NCPA (March 4 Commission meeting)

• Legislative & Regulatory
– No changes from last year

31

Cost Allocation Updates

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

April revision:
No changes



4/12/2016

17

PARTICIPANT FUNDING REQUIREMENTS (NET)
BUDGET FY17

Participants (1 of 2)

32

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

$0
$10,000,000
$20,000,000
$30,000,000
$40,000,000
$50,000,000
$60,000,000
$70,000,000
$80,000,000
$90,000,000

$100,000,000

BART

Alam
ed

a
Lo

di

Lo
mpo

c

Palo
 A

lto

Plum
as

 S
ier

ra

Rose
vil

le

San
ta 

Clar
a

Ukia
h

LE
C (n

on
 m

em
be

rs)

FY 2012/13 Approved Budget FY 2013/14 Approved Budget FY 2014/15 Approved Budget
FY 2015/16 Proposed FY 2016/17

PARTICIPANT FUNDING REQUIREMENTS (NET)
BUDGET FY17

Participants (2 of 2)

33

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

-$1,000,000

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

Biggs Gridley Healdsburg Port of Oakland Redding Truckee Donner TID

FY 2012/13 Approved Budget FY 2013/14 Revised Budget FY 2014/15 Approved Budget FY 2015/16 Approved Budget FY 2016/17 Proposed Budget



4/12/2016

18

34

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y

35

FY 2017

• Expenses:
– Hydro project funding decreased $   (625,000)
– Transmission Access charges reduced for SVP (4,357,141)
– Adjustment to labor between programs -
– Reduce Generation Services Shared budget (127,150)
– Increase LEC Capital Projects 100,000
– Pass through for BAMX reduced (49,830)
– Shift of Anhydrous Ammonia Project between LEC and CT2 -

• Revenues

– Plant revenues were increased (3,914,578)
Net Change in Expenses and Revenue $    (8,973,695)

What changed from the March draft?

N  O  R  T  H  E  R  N     C  A  L  I  F  O  R  N  I  A    P  O  W  E  R    A  G  E  N  C   Y


	042116_Comm_Agenda
	033116_Meeting_Minutes
	Item_5_Facilities_draft_min_033016
	Item_10_March16_Financial_Report
	Item_11_March16_Treasurer_Report
	Item_12_Groome_Industrial_Service
	Item_13_Baskin_Engineering
	Item_14_Nor-Cal_Controls
	Item_15_Syblon_Reid
	Item_16_Schweitzer_Engineering
	Item_17_Lodi_SMSA
	Item_18_Personnel_Policy_Procedures
	Item_18_Handbook_2016_attachment
	Item_19_LEC_May_Outage_Work
	Item_20_FY2017_Annual_Budget



